Curtis Meloy Goldsby

Demystifying Digital Governance

Exploring the Mechanisms and Trade-offs of Blockchains for Organizations

Demystifying Digital Governance: Exploring the Mechanisms and Trade-offs of Blockchains for Organizations

Demystifying Digital Governance:

Exploring the Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchains for Organizations

Digital governance gedemystificeerd:

een verkenning van de mechanismen en afwegingen van blockchains voor organisaties

Thesis

to obtain the degree of Doctor from the Erasmus University Rotterdam by command of the rector magnificus

Prof. dr. A.L. Bredenoord

and in accordance with the decision of the Doctorate Board.

The public defence shall be held on Thursday, 29 February 2024 at 13.00 hrs

by

Curtis Meloy Goldsby born in New York City, USA.

Frafino

Erasmus University Rotterdam

Doctoral Committee

Promoter:	Prof. dr. ir. J.C.M. van den Ende
Copromoter:	Dr. H.J.D. Klapper
Other members:	Prof. dr. T. Li Prof. dr. F. Lumineau Prof. dr. R.A. Zuidwijk

Erasmus Research Institute of Management – ERIM The joint research institute of the Rotterdam School of Management (RSM) and the Erasmus School of Economics (ESE) at the Erasmus University Rotterdam Internet: www.erim.eur.nl

ERIM PT PhD Series in Research in Management, 12 ISBN 978-90-5892-679-1 © 2024, Curtis Meloy Goldsby

Design: PanArt, www.panart.nl Print: OBT bv, www.obt.eu

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the author.

This publication (cover and interior) is printed on FSC® paper Magno Satin MC.



PREFACE

I sit here, writing these acknowledgements at Columbia University in the heart of New York City, a surge of emotion washes over me. In a full circle moment that both delights and overwhelms me, I have returned to the city where I was born. I now live in Europe, but my first home was in Astoria, Queens, I am currently employed by a tech company based on Madison Avenue, and earlier this week I proposed to the love of my life next to the majesty of the Brooklyn Bridge (she said yes). Now, as I approach the completion of my PhD at Erasmus University Rotterdam in the Netherlands, I am honored to acknowledge the people who have accompanied me on my international academic adventure.

I come from a hard-working family of successful musicians and artists, where academic degrees are not as coveted as they might be in other professions. I stumbled into academia in 2012—during my undergraduate studies in Cologne, Germany—when I discovered a hidden passion for academic research and writing. In 2015, during an internship at BMW in Munich, I crossed paths with a mentor named Marc, who had received his PhD in the early 2000s. Marc came from a similar upbringing to mine, minus the musician part. He looked me straight in the eye one day during my internship and said, "You know what? You have it in you to do a PhD, too!" His words, comforting and wise, ignited something in me. From that moment on, I knew the path I had to follow. More importantly, I had the confidence to begin. Every step of the way, I have appreciated the magnitude of this opportunity. And I have never been alone. I stand on the sturdy shoulders of

multiple human beings who have taken the time to weave a strong web of support for my ambitions and efforts.

First, I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to my family. They believed in me at every twist in the road, instilling in me the values of hard work, perseverance, and the certainty that I could achieve anything. To my parents, Robin and John, my sister, Julia, and my grandparents, Ann and Robert (aka Nana and Pap): You are my true heroes, and this achievement is as much yours as it is mine. And I express my special thanks to Jul for designing the cover of this dissertation (to infinity and beyond!).

To my dear fiancée, the treasure of my life, Regina: You have been my rock throughout this arduous PhD process, I owe you a debt of gratitude that words cannot fully express. You have been closest to my journey in every way. Your steadfast encouragement, understanding, and unconditional love have carried me through the darkest moments. Your devotion has provided the fuel that continues to propel me forward. I am forever blessed to have you by my side. Thank you, Sweet Pea.

To my supervisors, Jan and Helge, who took a chance on me, I am forever grateful. You challenged me, pushed me beyond my limits, and guided me with wisdom and patience. Your mentorship has been instrumental in shaping my scholarship. Thank you for lighting the way and trusting in my abilities.

To Marvin, my academic mentor, your unwavering confidence in my capacity to produce quality academic research has been a constant source of inspiration. You have challenged me to think critically, to push boundaries, and to strive for excellence with your incredible work ethic. As we learned early on, we complement each other incredibly well. Your mentorship has left an indelible mark on my academic journey, and for that, I am forever thankful. Because of you, I have relished working in academia. I look forward to many years of extended research with you. In the same breath, I would also like to thank you, Vasileios, for your support in my research on the IBM side. It has been a blast working closely together with you and Marvin on these bleeding edge topics!

To my mentor at IBM, Christian, I extend my deepest appreciation for your counseling on the "practitioner" side of my development. You have ensured that my PhD efforts have not hindered my career at IBM. Your dedication to my growth has been invaluable. I am truly fortunate to have had your mentorship and to have learned from a first-class consultant. You have always made sure that I "drive to arrive."

I would also like to express my profound gratitude to Rebecca and Melanie, whose early and steadfast support during our joint tenure at IBM propelled my academic endeavors and played a pivotal role in making this entire journey possible. Your belief in my ability to navigate both the academic and professional realms simultaneously has been a powerful motivator.

And to my best friends, who hail from all corners of the world thank you, gentlemen. Eemil, Hans-Peter, Mario, Niklas, and Denver—I thank you for giving me the fortitude to endure this journey. Eemil, we set the groundwork for this PhD during our time at LSE—thank you for showing me the value of mental *and* physical strength. Hans-Peter, you were a springboard for my ideas as I was sharpening my proposal and I thank you for your enthusiasm. Mario, you are a wiz at econometrics, and I still owe you a few lattes for numerous explanations of complicated concepts. Niklas, my fellow traveler on this winding PhD trail, we have so much in common our undergraduate school, our consulting careers, and our part-time PhD pursuits. Denver, we shared so many pains and gains on our PhD excursion. By keeping each other in the loop, a wonderful new friendship has emerged.

Finally, to other friends, family, colleagues, and supporters who I have not mentioned here in name—those who have helped my development as an academic and encouraged my belief in myself—thank you for shining your bright light of optimism in my direction. You know who you are.

In the words of E.E. Cummings:

"Once we believe in ourselves, we can risk curiosity, wonder, spontaneous delight, or any experience that reveals the human spirit."

I express my heartfelt gratitude to each of you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface	i
Chapter 1. General Introduction	1
1.1 Theoretical Background	1
1.2 Research Topic	4
 1.3 Dissertation Overview 1.3.1 Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda 1.3.2 Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing 1.3.3 Hierarchies in Hierarchy-Free Systems: Understanding the Antecedents of Consortia Formation in Enterprise Blockchains	5 6 8 8 9 9
1.4 Declaration of Contributions	10
 1.5 Conclusion 1.5.1 Theoretical Implications	14 17 18 19

Chapter 2. Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda

2.1 Taking Stock of the Governance Literature	23
2.2 Facing Governance Challenges in the Digital Age	24
2.2.1 Establishing and Building Digital Relationships	25
2.2.2 Maintaining and Adapting Digital Relationships	25
2.2.3 Restoring and Terminating Digital Relationships	27
2.3 Recognizing the Potential of Digital Governance	28
2.4 Understanding the Shift from Analog to Automated Governance	30
2.4.1 Control: From Centralized to Decentralized	32
2.4.2 Coordination: From Bilateral to Omnilateral	33
2.4.3 Incentives: From Bureaucratic to Cybernetic	34
2.4.4 Trust: From Actor-Based to Algorithmic	35
2.4.5 Combining Analog, Augmented, and Automated Governance Forms	36

21

2.5 Making the Right Governance Choice2.5.1 A Governance Choice Framework for the Digital Age2.5.2 A Contingency Perspective on the Benefits and Costs of Digital Governance	. 36 . 37 . 39
 2.6 Developing a Research Agenda on Digital Governance	. 42 . 42 . 45
2.7 Conclusions	. 48
Chapter 3. Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing	49
3.1 Introduction	. 49
3.2 Blockchains and Information Asymmetry in Organizations	. 52
3.3 Blockchains as Algorithmic Process Controls	. 53
 3.4 How Blockchains Rechannel Information	. 56 . 57 . 58 . 59
 3.5 Blockchain-induced Mechanisms of Disintermediation and Reintermediation	. 61 . 62 . 65 . 69
3.6 Implications for Agency Theory	. 70
3.7 Discussion and Implications	. 74
3.8 Blockchains Inside Organizations: Avenues for Future Research	. 75
Chapter 4. Hierarchies in Hierarchy-Free Systems: Understanding the Antecedents of Consortia Formation in Enterprise Blockchains	79
4.1 Introduction	. 79
4.2 Theoretical Background	. 82
 4.3 Hypotheses 4.3.1 Costs of Coordination: Number of Founders 4.3.2 Costs of Coordination: Variety of Founders 4.3.3 Costs of Opportunism: Rivalry of Founders 4.3.4 Costs of Opportunism: Interdependence of Founders 	. 86 . 87 . 89 . 91
4. J.4 V.ONIN OL VIDIOLIHIINIL. HITELUEDENUENCV OL POUNCEIS	. 71

4.3.4 Costs of Opportunism: Interdependency of Founders	93
4.4 Methods	95
4.4.1 Prestudy and Data Collection	95
4.4.2 Sample and Data	96
4.4.3 Measures and Analysis	97

4.5 Results	
4.5.1 Descriptive Statistics	
4.5.2 Multivariate Statistics	
4.5.3 Robustness Check	
4.6 Post hoc Analysis	
4.7 Discussion and Conclusion	

Chapter 5. The Lead Organization Paradox: How Blockchain Founders Navigate Trust and Control Tensions in Interorganizational Networks

5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Theoretical Background	
5.3 Research Design and Methods	
5.3.1 Data Collection	
5.3.2 Data Analysis	
5.4 Evidence of the Lead Organization Paradox	
5.4.1 Phase 1: Incitement	
5.4.2 Phase 2: Impasse	
5.4.3 Phase 3: Inflection	
5.4.4 Phase 4: Intensification	
5.4.5 Phase 5: Implosion	
5.5 Discussion	

115

163

Chapter 6. Beneath the Surface: How Imprints Shape the Governance of Enterprise Blockchain Networks

6.1 Introduction	163
6.2 Blockchain-based Network Governance and Imprinting	166
6.2.1 Blockchain-Based Network Governance	167
6.2.2 Network Governance Adaptation through Organizational Imprinting	169
6.3 Research Approach and Setting	172
6.3.1 Research Methods	173
6.3.2 Case Descriptions: SHIPS, FOOD, and CARS	177
6.4 Evidence of Imprinting in Three Enterprise Blockchains	179
6.4.1 Induction (1): Governance Choices and Imprint Induction	182
6.4.2 Adaptation (2): Adaptive Pressure and Imprint Mechanisms	185
6.4.3 Consolidation (3): Imprint Strength and Governance Consequences	205
6.4.4 Synthesis: Implications and Emergent Theoretical Model	208
6.5 Discussion and Conclusion	211

Chapter 7. The Boon and Bane of Blockchain:	
Getting the Governance Right	215
7.1 Introduction	
7.2 How Firms Respond to the Blockchain Governance Challenge	
7.3 A Strategic Guide to Enterprise Blockchain Governance	220
7.4 Coordination and Control in Blockchain Networks7.4.1 Coordination	
 7.5 The Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains Explained 7.5.1 Chief 7.5.2 Clan 7.5.3 Custodian	227 228 229 231 233
 7.6 Negotiating and Re-Negotiating Blockchain Governance 7.6.1 Blockchain Governance Dynamics 7.6.2 Bottom Line: The Blockchain Governance Journey 	
7.7 Conclusion	
References	247
Summary (English)	293
Summary (Dutch)	295
About the Author	298
Portfolio	299

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Declaration of Contributions
Table 1.2: Summary of Research (by Chapter)
Table 2.1: Benefits and Costs of Digital Governance for Orchestrators and Participants 41
Table 2.2: Future Research in Digital Governance: Governance by Algorithms 43
Table 2.3: Future Research in Digital Governance: Governance of Algorithms 47
Table 3.1: How Blockchains Address Three Central Information Challenges 61
Table 3.2: Avenues for Future Research
Table 4.1: Descriptive Statistics
Table 4.2: Regression Results Predicting the Presence of Consortia 104
Table 4.3: Qualitative Comparative Analysis (fsQCA) of Blockchain Continuation 109
Table 5.1: Description of Primary Data 122
Table 5.2: Description of Secondary Data 125
Table 5.3: Evidence from ClearChain: The Trust Paradox 128
Table 5.4: Evidence from ClearChain: The Control Paradox 134
Table 6.1: Distinction between Governance and Imprinting Theories
Table 6.2: Description of Primary Data 174
Table 6.3: Description of Secondary Data 177
Table 6.4: SHIPS Platform: Imprint Surfacing and Governance Faults
Table 6.5: FOOD Platform: Imprint Reinforcing and Governance Tolerance
Table 6.6: CARS Platform: Imprint Rejecting and Governance Indifference 202
Table 7.1: Coordination and Control Mechanisms of Blockchain Governance 223
Table 7.2: Overview: Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains 236

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Research Questions and Dissertation Overview
Figure 1.2: Research Outcomes and Logical Relationships
Figure 2.1: Governance as a Mediator between Value Creation and Value Capture 24
Figure 2.2: Exemplary Governance Challenges in Digital Exchange Relationships
Figure 2.3: Configurational Building Blocks of Governance Mechanisms and Modes 31
Figure 2.4: Governance Choice Framework
Figure 3.1: Blockchain vs. Traditional Governance
Figure 3.2: Information Channeling and the Resultant Organizational Reconfiguration 68
Figure 3.3: Implications of Blockchain-Based Organizing for Agency Theory
Figure 4.1: Forms of Administrative Control in Blockchain Networks
Figure 4.2: Presence of Consortia 101
Figure 4.3: Marginal Effects of Independent Variables on Consortium Formation 105
Figure 5.1: Key Events at ClearChain 124
Figure 5.2: Data Structure
Figure 5.3: Manifestation of the Lead Organization Paradox at ClearChain 156
Figure 5.4: Emergent Theoretical Model of the Lead Organization Paradox 157
Figure 6.1: Emergent Imprinting Mechanisms
Figure 6.2: Initial Founder Imprints across Cognitive and Structural Layers 185
Figure 6.3: Governance Consequences, Imprint Strength, and Adaptive Pressures 208
Figure 6.4: Emergent Process Model of Governance Imprinting
Figure 7.1: Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains
Figure 7.2: The Blockchain Governance Journey

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Theoretical Background

The nature of the firm has long been studied by economists and management scholars to explain why organizations exist (Coase, 1937; March & Simon, 1958). Scholars propose that organizations exist due to their innate capacity "to decide" and "to order," which effectively describe the combination of hierarchical control and coordination within a contractual entity to align interests in competitive settings (Aggarwal, Siggelkow, & Singh, 2011; Gulati & Singh, 1998). This trait of organizations can be observed not only inside the firm itself, i.e., "intraorganizational" contexts, but also extends to its interactions with the market surrounding it, i.e., "interorganizational" contexts (Arslan, Vasudeva, & Hirsch, 2023; Couture, Jarzabkowski, & Lê, 2023). Across these settings, theorists suggest that organizations are characterized by *governance forms*, which can be purely "hierarchical" (i.e., traditional command-and control structures), or can assume "hybrid" forms (e.g., joint ventures, non-equity alliances), to realize efficiencies through the way they organize and control exchanges (e.g., transactions). Scholars have complemented this line of inquiry extensively by studying how organizations apply governance mechanisms to align deviating interests in competitive settings that exist in these exchange environments. For example, researchers have studied the central role of control (Goold & Quinn, 1990; Sundaramurthy & Lewis, 2003), coordination (Bechky & Chung, 2018; Gulati, Wohlgezogen, & Zhelyazkov, 2012b), incentives (Makadok & Coff, 2009; Rutherford, Buchholtz, & Brown, 2007), and *trust* mechanisms (Cao & Lumineau, 2015; Schilke & Lumineau, 2023; Westphal, 1999) to achieve governance alignment in interand intraorganizational settings. Ultimately, the study of governance is important to understand why organizations exist, how they streamline exchanges within and among each other, and how they navigate tensions in an ever-changing competitive environment.

Prior research on organizations has spawned two dominant theoretical streams associated with governance, namely, transaction cost economics (TCE) and agency theory, which examine governance structures and central mechanisms associated with them. First, TCE elucidates how certain transaction costs that would be high when performed in markets (e.g., if individuals attempted certain transactions bilaterally) can be substantially lower when executed in hybrid or hierarchical forms of governance.¹ TCE assumes specific "properties" to be rooted in the nature of the transactions (i.e., uncertainty, frequency, specificity), which can be monitored by "hierarchy" through a unified command and control structure, or by "hybrid" forms that combine market and hierarchy-based mechanisms, such as industry consortia (e.g., Hacker, Miscione, Felder, & Schwabe, 2023a; Zavolokina, Ziolkowski, Bauer, & Schwabe, 2020) or strategic alliances (e.g., Asgari, Singh, & Mitchell, 2017; Bakker, 2016). As such, TCE emphasizes that governance forms emerge based on the transaction characteristics. As a result, the study of TCE often comprises governance mechanisms related to pricing and competition (markets), fiat and incentives (hierarchies), and equity stakes and collaborative agreements, as found in strategic alliances (hybrids).

As the second important stream, *agency theory* studies ways in which organizations deal with critical information and misalignment problems that occur along the hierarchical strata. Agency theory describes the organization as a "nexus of contracts" that is complemented by coordination efforts from principals (e.g., owners, shareholders) and execution by agents (e.g., top management teams, employees) (Alchian & Demsetz, 1972; Fama, 1980). Given its foci on contracts and principal-agent exchanges, agency theory deals with the central problem of finding optimal contracts that align and

¹ "Transactions" relate to the transfer of goods or services across a technologically separable interface (Williamson, 1985, p. 1).

incentivize agents with different interests, in light of information asymmetries that are difficult to monitor (Eisenhardt, 1989a; Jensen & Meckling, 1976). Fundamentally, both theories have been central to explain how to align deviating interests in settings of high opportunism, using governance forms and mechanisms within and outside the organizational perimeters.

However, amidst the pressures on organizations to meet the demands of digital transformation in recent decades (Hanelt, Bohnsack, Marz, & Antunes Marante, 2020), the question arises how digital technologies affect the governance of intra- and interorganizational relationships and the strategic trade-offs involved in their design. Digital technologies are defined as different combinations of information, communication, and other connectivity technologies (Bharadwaj, El Sawy, Pavlou, & Venkatraman, 2013), with a specific focus on technologies to resemble human decision making such as artificial intelligence and / or algorithmic management (Möhlmann, Zalmanson, Henfridsson, & Gregory, 2021). Such algorithmic digital technologies facilitate a shift toward machine and algorithmic modes of governance, which differ radically from more traditional, human-centric governance (Strich, Mayer, & Fiedler, 2021; Tarafdar, Page, & Marabelli, 2023).

The potential shifts engendered by digital governance mechanisms can already be observed in many areas. For example, while markets have traditionally been governed by the law of price, which balances supply and demand, digital ownership certificates, such as non-fungible tokens, offer a new way to limit the supply of digital items and assign value to them (Wilson, Karg, & Ghaderi, 2022). Relatedly, digitally enabled information transparency plays an important role in aggregating information and predicting markets with higher accuracy (Yang, Li, & van Heck, 2015). Moreover, rather than using rule-of-law contracts, self-enforcing smart contracts present in blockchain technology can automatically link rules to their execution, reducing the need for third-party intervention in enforcing contractual claims (Murray, Kuban, Josefy, & Anderson, 2021). More recently, the extreme uptake in generative artificial intelligence (AI) technologies has already shown implications for the way humans in organizations communicate and create (Hacker, Engel, & Mauer, 2023b), which has severe governance implications for regulation, policies, and content moderation (e.g., Davenport & Bean, 2023). In a radical form, the notion of fiat, whereby authority resides at the top of a hierarchical

organization (Williamson, 1991), can be replaced by consensus in distributed and hierarchy-free systems such as Decentralized Autonomous Organizations (DAOs) (Augustin, Eckhardt, & de Jong, 2023; Lumineau, Wang, & Schilke, 2021). As such, it is paramount to critically examine the applicability of extant governance theories in light of these novel contexts of digital governance.

1.2 Research Topic

In response, building on ideas from TCE and agency theory, the following chapters that constitute this dissertation demark the critical role of *digital governance* in facilitating digitally enabled exchange relationships (Hanisch, Theodosiadis, & Teixeira, 2022b; Vaia, Arkhipova, & DeLone, 2022). To this end, Chapter 2, titled "Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda," proposes a general typology of digital governance, which examines analog, augmented, and automated governance modes, each associated with specific control, coordination, incentive, and trust mechanisms. This essay suggests that digital technologies affect the governance of intra- and interorganizational relationships on a mechanism level, which lays fundamental conceptual groundwork for the following essays of the dissertation.

Building on this conceptual framework, the dissertation then explores blockchain as a specific example of digital governance in Chapters 3-7. Blockchains have emerged as opportunities to implement digital governance by allowing chronological, encrypted, and chained blocks to store verifiable and synchronized transactions directly across a peer-to-peer network via a decentralized shared ledger (Catalini & Gans, 2020; Hanisch et al., 2022b; Yuan & Wang, 2016). As distributed software architectures, blockchains enable direct interactions without the need for a centralized platform or governing authority (Chod, Trichakis, Tsoukalas, Aspegren, & Weber, 2020; Vergne, 2020). In practice, blockchains often surface as "permissioned" or "permissionless" systems, which describes whether the blockchain has a central authority or not (Beck, Müller-Bloch, & King, 2018). Most blockchains-regardless of permissions-share two similar features, which are distributed ledgers and smart contracts (Schmeiss, Hoelzle, & Tech, 2019). Blockchains use distributed ledgers to provide a reliable record of ownership and transaction flows so that local changes to a ledger update all other ledgers in accordance with the consensus protocols. Blockchains also use "smart contracts"—i.e., algorithms and protocols—to define the rules for transactions and automatically enforce them, which can result in reduced agency costs (Murray et al., 2021). Blockchains thereby create algorithmic trust and enable a system that allows multiple organizations that do not trust one another to interact without opportunistic repercussions under preset conditions (Goldsby & Hanisch, 2022; Lemieux, Rowell, Seidel, & Woo, 2020; Werbach, 2016). Therefore, blockchains allow the digital governance of inter- and intraorganizational networks through peer-to-peer, algorithmically-trusted transactions that reduce agency costs (Trabucchi, Moretto, Buganza, & MacCormack, 2020), which make for an important phenomenon to study to advance our theoretical and empirical understanding of digital governance (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2023).

Applying the example of blockchain as a specific digital governance technology for organizations, the following chapters examine the mechanisms and trade-offs of blockchain from different theoretical and empirical angles. From an *intraorganizational* perspective, Chapter 3 ("Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing") explores the critical trade-offs entailed in *disintermediation and reintermediation* mechanisms that occur inside organizational hierarchies subject to blockchain-based organizing.

From an *interorganizational* angle, Chapters 4-6 examine critical trade-offs that founders of blockchains face in implementing a digital governance solution, including the trade-off between *automated and analog* mechanisms (Chapter 4: "Hierarchies in Hierarchy-Free Systems: Understanding the Antecedents of Consortia Formation in Enterprise Blockchains"), *leadership and adoption* (Chapter 5: "The Lead Organization Paradox: How Blockchain Founders Navigate Trust and Control Tensions in Interorganizational Networks"), and *imprints and governance dynamics* (Chapter 6: "The Hidden Hand of Imprinting: Unraveling Governance Challenges in Interorganizational Blockchain Networks").

The final chapter ("The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right") discusses both intra- and interorganizational insights that are of particular practical relevance for managers considering the implementation of blockchains as a digital governance mode.

1.3 Dissertation Overview

Overarchingly, this dissertation sets out to understand how digital technologies affect the governance of intra- and interorganizational relationships and the strategic trade-offs involved in their design. Figure 1.1 illustrates the research questions under investigation and the trade-offs of

interest for each chapter. Figure 1.1 also serves as a valuable guide delineating the structure of the dissertation. Lastly, Table 1.2 offers a comprehensive overview summarizing the theory, objectives, contributions, methods, and publication status of each chapter.

1.3.1 Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda

Chapter 2 highlights the critical role of *digital governance* in facilitating digitally enabled exchange relationships. To this end, I propose a typology of analog, augmented, and automated governance modes, each associated with specific control, coordination, incentive, and trust mechanisms. Additionally, I provide a heuristic for determining the optimal governance choice via the interplay of transactivity (i.e., the contributors, connections, and consistency in an exchange network) and corresponding governance costs. The paper advances the governance literature by defining digital governance as a distinct form and outlining key governance mechanisms and choices in the digital era and identifies avenues for future research in this field.

1.3.2 Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing

Chapter 3 responds to the question "How can blockchains address central governance problems within organizations?" This conceptual essay covers intraorganizational blockchains from an agency perspective to understand how the distributed, sequenced, and consensus-based nature of blockchains mitigates information asymmetries and affects organizational structures. First, I explain why blockchains are better suited than conventional relational, contractual, and system- based mechanisms to address three pertinent information challenges (concentration, continuity, and conflict). Subsequently, I address the consequences of introducing such blockchains, arguing that they create both direct and sequenced information channels among principals and agents, which elicit an organizational reconfiguration via vertical disintermediation and lateral reintermediation. Finally, I theorize on the implications of blockchain-based organizing for agency theory regarding the chain of command, the unity of direction, and the span of control. Overall, I show how blockchains for intraorganizational governance mitigate principal-agent problems and impact organizational design in profound ways.



Figure 1.1: Research Questions and Dissertation Overview

 \neg

1.3.3 Hierarchies in Hierarchy-Free Systems: Understanding the Antecedents of Consortia Formation in Enterprise Blockchains

Chapter 4 studies "When and why do blockchain founders complement automated, digital governance with analog governance Blockchain technology mechanisms?" enables interorganizational collaboration by automating governance rules, facilitating large-scale cooperation. However, founder organizations of blockchain networks face challenges when solely relying on blockchain for fully decentralized governance due to their reluctance to cede complete control to algorithms. As a result, some founders choose to retain strategic control within their hierarchies, while others establish consortia as a hybrid solution, offering a balance between centralized and decentralized control. Although consortia provide coordination benefits and reduce opportunistic risks from individual founders, they also come with significant costs and potential hindrances to swift decision-making due to the need for consensus. I propose that the tradeoff in adopting consortia becomes more favorable as the number and diversity of founders increase, along with heightened rivalry and interdependency among them. To test these hypotheses, I analyze 128 enterprise blockchains and discover that the presence of consortia is positively associated with a greater number and diversity of founders, as well as increased rivalry and interdependency. By examining these factors, the study contributes to advancing theories on network governance and enhances the growing literature on blockchain governance.

1.3.4 The Lead Organization Paradox: How Blockchain Founders Navigate Trust and Control Tensions in Interorganizational Networks

Chapter 5 examines "How do lead organizations juggle the trade-off between blockchain control and network adoption?" Blockchain technology promising solution for facilitating the governance offers of а interorganizational supply chain networks. While in theory blockchain is a decentralized technology, in practice, its deployment often requires significant investment from central industry players to generate the necessary financial momentum and attract participation. However, such lead organizations face a paradoxical situation where their ability to attract participants due to their prominent position is offset by the fear of domination, especially from competitors, thereby inhibiting further adoption. As this paradoxical situation has received scarce attention in the literature on blockchains and interorganizational network governance, I address this gap by examining the exemplary case of ClearChain, a blockchain-based network for the global shipping industry, using rich qualitative data including 66 interviews and detailed internal records. Specifically, I focus on the role of the lead organizations as governance orchestrators and examine their efforts to design effective governance solutions that strike a balance between centralized and decentralized trust and control mechanisms. In revealing how ClearChain struggled to find an optimal balance between retaining and devolving control and creating and preventing trust, ultimately leading to its discontinuation, I contribute to network governance and paradox theories by demonstrating that the governance mechanisms set out in the literature do not hold for competitive interorganizational networks.

1.3.5 Beneath the Surface: How Imprints Shape the Governance of Enterprise Blockchain Networks

Chapter 6 explores "How do blockchain founders balance imprinted decisions and governance dynamics?" Interorganizational networks pose a particular challenge to the implementation of effective governance mechanisms due to the interconnectedness and diversity of interests involved. I examine such complex governance issues in three interorganizational blockchain networks that differed drastically in terms of success despite similar goals and founding conditions, with one network shutting down, one stagnating, and another continuing to operate. Drawing on extensive qualitative evidence from 57 interviews and comprehensive internal and external records, I found that the initial imprints from the shared technology provider played a significant role in the initial governance choices, maladaptation problems, and ultimately the success of these blockchain networks. By introducing imprinting theory into governance research, we can explain latent and persistent mechanisms that influence governance decisions at a profound level, often without the actors involved being aware of it.

1.3.6 The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right

Finally, Chapter 7 uncovers insights for practitioners implementing blockchains for digital governance. Countless enterprise blockchains fail to live up to high expectations, often because the supporting governance structures are insufficiently established or have become stagnant. Based on interviews with 153 blockchain executives and an analysis of publicly documented use cases, this article offers a guide for blockchain scholars and practitioners. Its framework highlights the coordination and control challenges that exist in blockchain governance contexts and presents four generic governance modes to address them: chief, clan, custodian, and consortium. Managers can use these governance modes as a basis for four strategic moves (connecting, isolating, loosening, and tightening) to navigate blockchain governance challenges.

1.4 Declaration of Contributions

I ("the author") disclose the contributions made to each essay within this dissertation, and I am grateful for the collaborative efforts of my supervisory team (promoter: Jan van den Ende; daily supervisors: Helge Klapper and Marvin Hanisch) and co-authors, where applicable. Chapter 1, the introductory chapter of this dissertation, was completed entirely by the author, with feedback from his supervisory team. Across papers, the author acknowledges contributions from other co-authors in terms of conceptualization and theorizing (1), literature review (2). data collection (3), data analysis (4), writing of the manuscript (5), the first draft (6), and feedback and review (7). Table 1.1 details the co-authors' contributions to the individual chapters.

Contributions by chapter	Concept / theorizing (1)	Literature review (2)	Data collection (3)	Data analysis (4)	Writing manuscript (5)	First draft (6)	Feedback / review (7)
Chapter 2							
- Author		\checkmark	n/a	n/a			
- Co-author(s)		\checkmark	n/a	n/a		\checkmark	\checkmark
Chapter 3							
- Author						\checkmark	
- Co-author(s)		-		-		-	
Chapter 4							
- Author		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark
- Co-author(s)		-	-	\checkmark		-	
Chapter 5							
- Author		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark
- Co-author(s)		\checkmark	\checkmark	-		-	\checkmark
Chapter 6							
- Author		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			-
- Co-author(s)		-	-	-		-	\checkmark
Chapter 7							
- Author							-
- Co-author(s)		-	-	-	\checkmark	-	

Table 1.1: D	Declaration of	Contributions
---------------------	-----------------------	---------------

Notes: $\sqrt{-1}$ contribution by author; n/a=not applicable due to the conceptual focus of the study

In order of authorship, **Chapter 2** was co-authored by Marvin Hanisch (*University of Groningen*), the author, Nicolai Fabian (*University of Groningen*), and Jana Oehmichen (*Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz*). **Chapter 3** was co-authored by the author and Marvin Hanisch, and

Chapter 4 was co-authored by Marvin Hanisch, the author, and Vasileios Theodosiadis (*IBM Corporation*). **Chapter 5** was co-authored by Marvin Hanisch, the author, Mélissa Fortin (*Université du Québec à Montréal*), and Mike Rogerson (*University of Surrey*). The author conducted 33 of the 66 interviews as part of this multidisciplinary research team. **Chapter 6** was co-authored by the author, Marvin Hanisch and Helge Klapper (*Purdue University*). **Chapter 7** was co-authored by the author and Marvin Hanisch.

At the time of writing, as highlighted in Table 1.2, Chapters 4-6 are undergoing peer review at top management journals, with the author holding either the first or second author position in these submissions. Chapters 2, 3 and 7 have been accepted for publication in the *Journal of Business Research* and the *California Management Review*, in which the author serves as the second author in the former, and as first author in the latter two publications. Chapters 3-6 have been presented at conferences such as the *Academy of Management* (in 2021, 2022, and 2023), the *European Academy of Management* (in 2022), and the *Strategic Management Society* (in 2021, 2022, and 2023).

Ch	Title	Theory	Objective	Contribution	Method	Status
2	Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2 023.113777	Transaction cost economics	 Understand how digital technologies are expanding the data and knowledge exchange possibilities Uncover new challenges for designing effective governance mechanisms 	 Typology of digital governance, incl. analog, augmented, and automated forms of trust, coordination, control, and incentives Research agenda for governance by and governance of algorithms 	Conceptual	Published Journal of Business Research EJL Ranking: S
3	Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2 023.114195	Agency theory	 Study how blockchains solve central governance problems within organizations Understand how blockchains transform organizational structures and operations 	 Conceptual framework that predicts how blockchains enable a shorter and more direct <i>chain of</i> <i>command</i> between principal and agent, an algorithmically enforced <i>unity of direction</i>, and a hierarchy- free <i>span of control</i> among all actors Research agenda connecting fundamental concepts of agency theory and the recent phenomenon of the use of blockchains for internal purposes 	Conceptual	Published Journal of Business Research [3] EJL Ranking: S
4	Hierarchies in Hierarchy-Free Systems: Understanding the Antecedents of Consortia Formation in Enterprise Blockchains	Transaction cost economics	 Examine the trade-offs whether the blockchain governance layer should be supplemented by costly administrative controls Explore the role of administrative controls in the blockchain context 	 Conceptual framework that predicts blockchain <i>consortia</i> as hybrid forms of administrative control in response to costs of coordination and opportunism Qualitative comparative analysis of the <i>governance determinants</i> and <i>choice configurations</i> that are present when blockchains are discontinued 	Quantitative Probit regression; Qualitative comparative analysis n=128 blockchain projects 335 organizations	Submitted STAR Journal [1] [2]

Table 1.2: Summary of Research (by Chapter)

Chapter 1

5	The Lead Organization Paradox: How Blockchain Founders Navigate Trust and Control Tensions in Interorganizational Networks	Paradox theory	 Study the paradoxical situation faced by lead organizations in competitive interorganizational networks Explore how the ability of lead organizations to attract followers due to their prominent position is offset by the fear of domination, thereby inhibiting further adoption 	 Process model explaining the <i>tensions</i> and <i>temporality</i> of the lead organization paradox Conceptual framework highlighting how lead organizations balance the competing demands of focalizing <i>trust</i> and <i>control</i> or devolving them to the network 	Qualitative Case study n=66 executives 792 pages of interview transcripts	Submitted STAR Journal [1] [2] * SMS
6	Beneath the Surface: How Imprints Shape the Governance of Enterprise Blockchain Networks	Organizational imprinting	 Study the intersection of governance and imprinting Uncover how subconscious, latent, and persistent mechanisms influence governance decisions 	 Conceptual clarity and integration of key governance and imprinting concepts Process model explaining how initial imprints play a significant role in initial governance choices, maladaptation problems, and the success of interorganizational blockchain networks 	Qualitative Comparative case study n=57 blockchain executives across three cases 414 pages of interview transcripts	Submitted STAR Journal [1] [2] [4] * AOM * SMS
7	The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right doi:10.1177/0008125622 1080747	-	 Study why enterprise blockchains fail to live up to high expectations through the lens of governance Offer a comprehensive guide for blockchain scholars and practitioners 	 Typology of four blockchain governance modes (<i>chief, clan, custodian, consortium</i>) based on coordination and control challenges Process model incl. four strategic moves (<i>connecting, isolating, loosening, tightening</i>) to navigate blockchain governance challenges 	Qualitative Case study n=153 blockchain executives	Published California Management Review (CMR) EJL Ranking: M-STAR

Notes:

13

Presented at the Academy of Management Annual Meeting (AOM) 2021/2022/2023
 Presented at the Strategic Management Society (SMS) 2021/2022/2023

[3] Presented at the European Academy of Management (EURAM) 2022

[4] Presented at Strategy Science Conference 2023

* Best paper award

1.5 Conclusion

This dissertation set out to understand how digital technologies affect the governance of intra- and interorganizational relationships and the strategic trade-offs involved in their design. First, I uncover that digital technologies (including blockchains) indeed affect governance, most notably, in the way that governance mechanisms-such as control, coordination, incentives, and trust-become increasingly augmented or automated. For example, *control* becomes decentralized, as it is exercised through autonomous checks-and-balances algorithms (e.g., blockchainbased smart contracts); coordination turns omnilateral, enabled by algorithmic definition and task allocation (e.g., decentralized autonomous organizations); incentives are set and reevaluated by a self-adapting algorithm in a feedback loop where outputs serve as inputs (e.g., cryptocurrency proof-of-stake); and *trust* is based on algorithmic systems and consensus mechanisms (e.g., blockchain-based cryptocurrency such as Bitcoin). Therefore, digital governance constitutes a pivotal domain for studying the mechanisms that can streamline exchanges within and between organizations.

In the same vein, this dissertation explores several strategic trade-offs that governance orchestrators face in the design of digital governance solutions, including the choice determinants to introduce digital governance in the first place. In general, the choice of digital governance largely depends on the degree of *transactivity* (contributors, connections, consistency) in the exchange network. Should transactivity be high, digital governance will be more favorable (Chapter 2).

I then turn to blockchain technology to understand additional strategic trade-offs from intra- and interorganizational governance perspectives. From an *intraorganizational* standpoint, I argue that blockchains establish direct and sequenced information channels among principals and agents, leading to organizational reconfiguration through vertical disintermediation and lateral reintermediation. While vertical disintermediation brings a flatter organizational structure with increased efficiency, it also leads to higher cognitive load due to higher information volume. On the other hand, lateral reintermediation introduces new ways of monitoring and incentives for information sharing, but at the expense of rigidity and strict lateral sequencing of information (Chapter 3).

Exploring *interorganizational* trade-offs, I reveal a key challenge in complementing automated, blockchain-based governance solutions with analog ones to balance central and decentralized control. Specifically, founders tend to opt for consortia as "hybrids forms" that complement the blockchain in response to high costs of coordination and opportunism (Chapter 4). In another study, the trade-off of the "lead organization paradox" emerges. Specifically, this paradox is observed when founders dominate a blockchain network for rapid adoption, leading to alienated competition unwilling to participate (Chapter 5). Lastly, studying three blockchain cases (one discontinued, one continued, one stagnated), I highlight the trade-off between initial founder imprints and governance dynamics. Here, I show how deeply engrained founder imprints affect consequential governance choices and spark conflicts during adaptation processes (Chapter 6).

This dissertation also answers questions regarding the applicability of extant governance theories, such as TCE and agency theory, in novel digital governance contexts. Regarding TCE, a classic argument is that transactional attributes, particularly the "bilateral dependency [that] builds up as asset specificity deepens" (Williamson, 1991: 282), determine governance choices. However, this argument requires serious reconsideration in the digital age, where exchanges often occur between *multiple* parties simultaneously, the primacy of assets gives way to *digital* data, and reliance on institutional enforcement is supplanted by algorithmic rules. In relation to agency theory, this dissertation focuses on how blockchain, as a digital governance technology, impacts the way organizations are structured. I demonstrate that the relationship between those in charge (principals) and those carrying out tasks (agents) becomes more direct and sequenced. Moreover, agents can oversee other agents or principals, expanding the span of control. This differs from what agency theory typically assumes, as the theory emphasizes a top-down, bureaucratic structure in organizations (Monteiro & Adler, 2022).

Besides TCE and agency theory, this dissertation also incorporates ideas from paradox theory and organizational imprinting. These combinations highlight the value of studying digital governance alongside various management theories to derive rich and diversified insights. Figure 1.2 showcases the outcomes of each chapter and presents a stylized flow that interconnects the arguments presented in these essays.



Figure 1.2: Research Outcomes and Logical Relationships

Chapter 1

1.5.1 Theoretical Implications

Collectively, this dissertation contributes a novel understanding of *digital governance*, a rich and novel field that merits greater attention in the cross-disciplinary study of organizations. I make three main contributions to the literature on (digital) governance, and the theories associated with them. First, I provide definitional clarity regarding the concept of digital governance, a distinct form of governance that has spawned a new field of research requiring a conceptual foundation (Hanisch et al., 2022; Vaia et al., 2022; Vasarhelyi, 2013). Hence, I answer recent calls for enhanced conceptual distinction of emerging digital phenomena and clarifying the extant understanding of corresponding analog phenomena (Adner, Puranam, & Zhu, 2019; Alvesson & Sandberg, 2023; Wessel, Baiyere, Ologeanu-Taddei, Cha, & Blegind-Jensen, 2021).

Second, the dissertation extends the conceptual foundation for enterprise blockchains, an emerging and impactful digital governance technology (Lacity, 2018; Lumineau et al., 2021), by examining the mechanisms underlying the use of blockchains for the purposes of intraorganizational governance. Most blockchain research has thus far focused on cryptocurrencies and interorganizational applications (Cheng, De Franco, Jiang, & Lin, 2019; Chod et al., 2020), while insufficient consideration has been given to understanding the governance mechanisms involved in the use of blockchains for intraorganizational purposes (Murray et al., 2021). I draw attention to the theoretical mechanisms associated with internal blockchains as a specific and less understood application of that technology by focusing on the firm's internal processes, governance, and design (Lee, Ilseven, & Puranam, 2023).

Third, I advance the study of blockchain for interorganizational governance by highlighting three critical strategic trade-offs that founders are likely to face when introducing these digital governance solutions. Specifically, I uncover the trade-off involved in (1) selecting the ideal combination of analog and automated governance mechanisms, (2) the delicate balance between exerting tight control versus driving network adoption, and (3) the inherent trade-off between rigidity and dynamism that can arise from deeply engrained founder imprints. More broadly, this dissertation contributes to the wider discussion on digital transformation that has gained prominence in management and organizational research (Hanelt et al., 2020; Verhoef et al., 2021; Vial, 2019) by shifting the focus from organizational processes and business models to digital governance.

1.5.2 Practical Implications

For organizations to be successful in introducing digital governance solutions, it is paramount they have a digital governance strategy in place that assesses the current landscape of governance solutions and evaluates whether exchanges should be governed digitally for greater cost effectiveness. For example, organizations can start by assessing their exchange environment, which includes an understanding of *who* is participating (e.g., partners, competitors), *what* is being exchanged (e.g., private, public information), and *how* standardized the exchange is today (e.g., relational, system-based). Based on these parameters, decision makers can then assess whether a digital governance solution is viable and whether it might alleviate pain points for the organization. Managers are best advised to start by assessing specific use cases for digital governance (e.g., automating recurring transactions among competitors), and then selecting the technology most appropriate to realize the intended outcome.

In the specific example of blockchain technology, which are particularly beneficial in circumstances of low trust (e.g., competitive settings), it is crucial for decision makers to select the right governance form (Chapter 7). I propose four modes of blockchain governance-Chief, Clan, Custodian, Consortium-which depend on the coordination and control needs of the network. To make the right choice, managers should first analyze the network where the blockchain will be used. This involves considering the needs and concerns of those involved to grasp the existing connections and competition within the network. Second, managers should understand who will use the blockchain and why, so they can adjust the coordination and control mechanisms based on the network's structure and the participants' needs. Lastly, managers need to be aware of how the composition of the network changes over time, which might require them to keep adjusting the governance approach. For example, organizations might start out in a closed mode that pertains to coordination inside their organization (e.g., "Chief" or "Clan"), before expanding to a more decentralized mode once occurring higher costs of coordination and opportunism (e.g., "Consortium").

The future of blockchains hinges on managers' abilities to overcome salient governance challenges. While multiple technological approaches exist (e.g., permissioned or permissionless blockchains), governance is a factor that is embedded in *and* complementary to the blockchain. Findings from this dissertation show that it is often the intricate sociotechnical interplay between automated and analog governance that requires holistic management. To date, we are yet to see a breakthrough in the realm of blockchains for organizations that has managed to overcome all strategic design trade-offs related to governance, underscoring the ongoing need to study this important domain.

1.5.3 Societal Implications

Digital governance—and blockchains in particular—will have societal impact in the way they revolutionize transparency and accountability practices in organizations, with major implications for our supply chains, financial systems, and governments. For example, blockchain's societal benefits may range from improved financial reporting (e.g., Yu, Lin, & Tang, 2018) and more efficient internal supply chain management (e.g., Treiblmaier, 2018) to effective tools for marketing and sales (e.g., Tan & Salo, 2023). For example, blockchains can improve corporate governance in environmental social governance (ESG) reporting (Liu, Wu, Wu, Fu, & Huang, 2021), an area that has been historically plagued by greenwashing and a lack of transparency; and as an important tool in the marketing and sales process for gaining consumer confidence, e.g., through accurate carbon footprint labels. Moreover, for developing countries, the use of distributed ledger technologies can streamline settlements, serve as standardized communication channels, and consolidate data, all of which eliminate inefficiencies and foster financial inclusion (Giraldo, 2018). Finally, blockchains will have the potential to enhance government operations (e.g., Verma & Sheel, 2022) by fostering greater citizen engagement through simplified voting processes and reducing inefficiencies in public services, exemplified by improved allocation of tax resources.

While blockchains offer numerous advantages, they also present challenges to society. Energy consumption in some blockchain networks, such as Bitcoin, has raised environmental concerns (Sedlmeir, Buhl, Fridgen, & Keller, 2020), demanding the development of energy-efficient consensus mechanisms. Regulatory frameworks are evolving to address legal and ethical issues related to blockchain applications, such as GDPR (Rieger, Lockl, Urbach, Guggenmos, & Fridgen, 2019). Balancing the potential benefits with these challenges requires collaboration among governments, industries, and technologists to ensure that blockchain's transformative potential is harnessed responsibly and inclusively for the betterment of society.

CHAPTER 2. DIGITAL GOVERNANCE: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND RESEARCH AGENDA

Hanisch, M., Goldsby, C.M., Fabian, N.E., Oehmichen, J. (2023). Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda. Journal of Business Research, 162, doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.113777.

The proliferation of digital technologies has expanded the opportunities for data and knowledge exchange (Hanelt et al., 2020; Verhoef et al., 2021; Vial, 2019), yet it also presents new challenges for governance. Digital exchanges, such as platform-based transactions and online communities, frequently occur in large networks with numerous simultaneous interactions, pushing analog governance mechanisms such as contracts and relational norms to their limits. For instance, it would seem almost impossible to negotiate a contract for every job performed via Amazon Mechanical Turk or to establish a trust relationship for every Airbnb home stay. Thus, it is crucial to better understand the governance mechanisms and choices that meet the demands of the digital age.

To enable large-scale digital exchanges, there is increasing reliance on *digital governance*, which leverages algorithmic protocols to automate control, coordination, incentives, and trust (Hanisch et al., 2022b; Vaia et al., 2022). Digital governance touches on fundamental issues of organizing, e.g., enhancing task programmability to improve process control, automating task division and allocation to facilitate coordination, conditioning incentives through dynamic inputs, and creating the transactional transparency required for trust. For example, digital governance can create verification mechanisms for transactions, e.g., oracles and consensus
protocols, which are used in blockchain networks (Al-Breiki, Rehman, Salah, & Svetinovic, 2020; Zheng, Xie, Dai, Chen, & Wang, 2017). Similarly, artificial intelligence (AI)-supported analyses can enable automatic checks on accounting data and raise red flags early, thus enhancing firm monitoring (Commerford, Dennis, Joe, & Ulla, 2022; Möhlmann et al., 2021). These technological solutions are important precursors of new, data-driven business models that require the regulation of data ownership, storage, transfer, access, and use across individual, functional, and organizational boundaries.

We advance the debate on digital governance by developing a conceptual framework that distinguishes between analog, augmented, and automated forms of control, coordination, incentives, and trust. In particular, we show how 1) automated control no longer relies on hierarchical control decentralized checks-and-balances on protocols; 2) automated but coordination transforms bilateral agreements into omnilateral arrangements; 3) incentives transition from bureaucratic rules to cybernetic protocols that update autonomously via dynamic inputs; and 4) trust can be algorithmically enhanced by shifting from individual actors to a complete system. In addition to the poles of analog and automated governance, our model highlights augmented governance modes, which blend elements from both domains. Importantly, our framework does not suggest that analog governance is completely displaced by digital governance; rather, they complement and constrain each other.

Our distinction between analog, augmented, and automated governance also informs a governance choice model that predicts the optimal governance mode as a function of transactivity and the resulting governance costs. Specifically, we predict that automated governance becomes more cost-efficient than augmented governance and, ultimately, analog governance as transactivity—defined by the number of contributors, connections, and level of exchange consistency—increases. More broadly, we facilitate a deeper understanding of the mechanisms and strategic tradeoffs governance designers and exchange participants face when establishing effective governance solutions for the digital age. We conclude with an extensive research agenda and identify opportunities to study the governance by and of algorithms.

This paper makes three important theoretical contributions. First, we provide definitional clarity regarding the concept of digital governance, a distinct form of governance that has spawned a new field of research requiring a conceptual foundation (e.g., Hanisch et al., 2022b; Lumineau et al., 2021; Möhlmann et al., 2021; Vaia et al., 2022). Hence, we answer calls for an enhanced conceptual distinction of emerging digital phenomena and clarification of the extant knowledge of corresponding analog phenomena (Adner et al., 2019). Second, we extend previous governance research by unraveling the strategic decision-making parameters and trade-offs associated with digital governance, and we define relevant governance mechanisms associated with digital exchange that are critical in discussions of advanced system designs such as AI and blockchains (e.g., Chhillar & Aguilera, 2022; Goldsby & Hanisch, 2022). Third, our work contributes to the wider discussion on digital transformation that has gained prominence in management and organizational research (Hanelt et al., 2020; Verhoef et al., 2021; Vial, 2019) by shifting the focus from organizational processes and business models to how digital technology impacts governance.

2.1 Taking Stock of the Governance Literature

The need for governance arises from the division of labor and the associated dissipation of information and control of inputs and outputs (Gulati & Singh, 1998; Puranam, Alexy, & Reitzig, 2014; Sundaramurthy & Lewis, 2003). Ultimately, it entails creating and capturing value through exchange amid competition and asymmetric information (Gnyawali & Ryan Charleton, 2018). The governance challenge involves creating mechanisms that help integrate, direct, and monitor the distributed efforts in productive exchange relationships (Dekker, 2004). To meet this challenge, exchange partners must find ways to control relevant exchange processes (e.g., allocation of resources and tasks), outcomes (e.g., generation and distribution of financial, environmental, and social value), and relationships (e.g., opportunistic behaviors) (Goold & Quinn, 1990; Sundaramurthy & Lewis, 2003). The design of control mechanisms can be complemented and substituted by appropriate coordination (Bechky & Chung, 2018; Gulati et al., 2012b), incentives (Makadok & Coff, 2009; Rutherford et al., 2007), and trust mechanisms (Cao & Lumineau, 2015; Westphal, 1999) to achieve desired governance benefits. Hence, governance broadly concerns the establishment of rules that help verify inputs and outputs (i.e., control mechanisms), divide and allocate tasks (i.e., coordination mechanisms), align competing interests (i.e., incentive mechanisms), and attenuate relational vulnerabilities (i.e., trust mechanisms). Figure 2.1 summarizes these complementary and substitutive mechanisms that are central to the governance literature.





Governance research has identified various responses to the control, coordination, incentive, and trust challenges in transactions (Brown, Beekes, & Verhoeven, 2011; Furlotti, 2007; Hambrick, Werder, & Zajac, 2008). A first response lies in the creation of bureaucratic organizations that define and delimit transactions and provide mechanisms of hierarchical fiat and authority to improve control and coordination, set incentives, and ensure cooperation (Powell, Staw, & Cummings, 1990; Williamson, 1991). A second generic response involves using contracts as a means of codifying agreed-upon control, coordination, and incentive mechanisms, backed by institutional support, to enforce legal rights (Grossman & Hart, 1986; Hart & Moore, 1990; Tirole, 1999). Finally, a third response entails fostering relational bonds that emerge organically through social interdependencies and positive exchange experiences to provide a bedrock for the emergence of trust (Gulati, 1995; Uzzi, 1997). While these analog governance mechanisms are vital to organizational life and are likely to persist, emerging digital technologies present new challenges and opportunities for the design of governance mechanisms.

2.2 Facing Governance Challenges in the Digital Age

The need to revisit and advance governance theories in the digital age is closely linked to the novel challenges arising in this context. We examine these new challenges in terms of establishing / building, maintaining / adapting, and restoring / terminating exchange relationships. For each stage, we highlight exemplary new forms of competition and cooperation in the digital age (Figure 2.2) because a critical function of governance is to enable cooperation amid competing interests.

2.2.1 Establishing and Building Digital Relationships

The strategic relevance of governance results from its ability to ensure and enhance performance in exchange relationships (Jones, 1983; Leiblein, 2003). This logic is subject to a new dynamic in the digital age, where governance serves as not only a performance enabler but also a strategic differentiator. Since the value of digital networks is heavily reliant on the realization of network effects (Shapiro & Varian, 2008), companies are increasingly recognizing that their governance decisions strongly influence the overall attractiveness of their network (Chen, Tong, Tang, & Han, 2022). In light of this, Apple markets its privacy policy across the ecosystem as a strategic differentiator from its competitor Google.

As organizations have begun to compete for governance, there is also growing evidence of novel collaborative dynamics, e.g., the transparency movement concerning governance decisions via the publication and development of algorithmic protocols using open-source software code. Organizations such as OpenAI develop open-source AI to promote transparency, while decentralized autonomous organizations (DAOs) discuss algorithmic governance choices publicly in Discord forums (Taulli, 2022). These collective efforts represent new forms of collaboration largely absent from the analog world, where governance choices (e.g., contract design) have typically been negotiated behind closed doors.

2.2.2 Maintaining and Adapting Digital Relationships

The transition from analog to digital governance shifts the locus of decision-making from the actors involved in the exchange to those who develop digital governance tools (Benlian et al., 2022).



Figure 2.2: Exemplary Governance Challenges in Digital Exchange Relationships

What digital governance enables

Т

Chapter 2

In the analog world, the governance mode is primarily negotiated and agreed upon by the exchange participants. However, in the digital world, decisions are often made by those who develop digital tools, disconnecting them from the parties that execute the transaction (Renwick & Gleasure, 2021). This warrants the need for stronger consideration of the governance setters and principal actors and the processes necessary for alignment. Failing to align exchange participants and governance setters can lead to serious tensions (Huber, Kude, & Dibbern, 2017), as evidenced by Epic's lawsuit against Apple over its pricing policies on the iOS platform. These tensions can also bring new forms of collaboration, such as solidarity among content creators expressing their dissatisfaction with governance decisions (Ricart, Snihur, Carrasco-Farré, & Berrone, 2020).

2.2.3 Restoring and Terminating Digital Relationships

The termination of interorganizational and interpersonal relationships has been extensively studied in the context of strategic alliances (e.g., Asgari et al., 2017; Bakker, 2016) and CEO dismissals (e.g., Marcel, Cowen, & Ballinger, 2017; Oehmichen, Schult, & Wolff, 2017). However, comparatively little is known about participants' departure in predominantly digital exchange relationships (Shah, 2006; Tiwana, 2015). This termination can be attributed to various factors, one of which is the design of governance mechanisms. Well-designed governance and increased trust between parties in platform markets can paradoxically lead to a platform's disintermediation as users seek to bypass platform fees and continue their transactions (Gu & Zhu, 2021). Governance choices regarding the interoperability of digital platforms can also raise coordination costs for developers and increase the likelihood of platform abandonment (Tiwana, 2015). Finally, the addition of non-human agents through governance choices can alienate human participants (Newlands, 2021). For instance, the use of algorithms to control information presentation on social media platforms presents challenges in designing governance mechanisms that avoid negative consequences and potential legislative interventions (Riemer & Peter, 2021). Hence, preventing activities that drive human participants away is a crucial challenge in digital governance.

In the most extreme cases when governance decisions are met with widespread resistance, a coordinated campaign can lead to mass platform exit, as Facebook experienced after the Cambridge Analytica scandal (Zhang, Wang, Karahanna, & Xu, 2022), or the concerted effort by major consumer products companies to stop advertising on Twitter when new CEO

Elon Musk decided to reinstate the accounts of individuals previously banned for violating Twitter's policies. Thus, exchange participants can pressure governance designers by employing exits as effective strategies to undermine the size and value of a network. Recognizing these novel exigencies, scholars have begun to identify and explore the mechanisms and tradeoffs of governance in digital contexts across disciplines.

2.3 Recognizing the Potential of Digital Governance

Digital governance is facilitated by digital technologies, i.e., different combinations of information, communication, and other connectivity technologies (Bharadwaj et al., 2013). In digital governance, there is a strong focus on digital technologies that can process data relevant to value-added exchanges (e.g., advanced databases such as blockchains; Lumineau et al. (2021)) and the heuristics that can make autonomous decisions to support exchange continuity (e.g., complex algorithms such as matching algorithms and AI; Malgonde, Zhang, Padmanabhan, and Limayem (2020)). Such digital technologies permit a shift toward automated modes of governance, which differ radically from their analog counterparts (Strich et al., 2021; Tarafdar et al., 2023). Hence, we view digital governance as a distinct governance category that sustains novel forms of organizing, value creation, and value capture, and thus goes beyond the digitization of existing analog governance mechanisms.

The extent to which digital technologies are used to govern exchanges can range from augmenting to fully automating governance (Raisch & Krakowski, 2021). On the one hand, digital governance can augment aspects of governance, reducing reliance on human intervention. For example, classic exchange relationships between buyers and sellers can be augmented by digital governance in the form of digital platforms that act sellers intermediaries connecting buyers and (Constantinides, as Henfridsson, & Parker, 2018; de Reuver, Sørensen, & Basole, 2018). On the other hand, technological solutions can help organizations automate governance. For example, algorithmic surveillance in the gig economy allows platform firms to automate control of their workforce and complementors (Bellesia, Mattarelli, & Bertolotti, 2023; Möhlmann et al., 2021; Newlands, 2021). The advantage of augmenting and / or automating governance through digital technologies is that these digital governance structures can drive efficiency (e.g., through repeat, rule-based transactions) and transparency between exchange participants (e.g., recommender systems and digital identities). Additionally, digital governance structures can have

formally superimposed controls (e.g., role management and access rights) that increase certainty and reduce tolerance for erroneous transactions (e.g., through approval systems, voting rights, and rigorously programmed workflows).

Nevertheless, augmented and automated governance are often complemented and constrained by analog governance, which balances technological affordances with its strong focus on interpersonal and contractual mechanisms. For example, machine learning algorithms, while able to automate workflows such as content review processes, are prone to biases and therefore require human oversight in certain circumstances (Akter et al., 2022; Kordzadeh & Ghasemaghaei, 2022). In other cases, algorithmic governance is simply undesirable, especially in regard to assuming significant responsibilities. For instance, corporate legislation generally prohibits non-human representatives from assuming a supervisory role on the board of directors. Consequently, digital governance relies heavily on the complementary and constraining influence of analog governance to mitigate the pitfalls of fully automated governance.

One limitation of automated governance can arise when its highly programmatic nature promotes rigidity and thereby harms adaptability (Zhu, Kraemer, Gurbaxani, & Xu, 2006). A related downside is that automated governance requires explicit information, while governance may involve tacit information that are difficult to codify. Furthermore, automated governance can quickly succumb to compliance and regulation, as seen with the European Union's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which strictly regulates personal data storage and may conflict with the appendonly nature of blockchains (Rieger et al., 2019). Thus, automated governance to overcome its shortcomings. Automated governance alone cannot be considered a cure-all solution.

To theorize about the role of analog, augmented, and automated governance mechanisms, we consider them to be interrelated and complementary. Our goal is to comprehend how digital governance can augment and automate analog governance, such as administrative procedures, contracts, and relational norms, thereby establishing digital mechanisms of control, coordination, incentives, and trust. It is crucial to emphasize that analog governance plays a significant role in complementing and constraining digital governance mechanisms where they fall short.

2.4 Understanding the Shift from Analog to Automated Governance

Ongoing digital transformation is leading to profound changes in the governance of exchange relationships, with analog forms of governance being supplemented and, in some cases, replaced by automated forms. Here, analog governance refers to instances when governance is predominantly based on *centralized* control structures, *bilateral* task coordination, bureaucratic incentives, and actor-based relational trust. In contrast, automated governance entails that governance is based largely on decentralized control, omnilateral coordination, automatic ("cybernetic") incentives, and *algorithmic* system trust. Given these two extremes, an intermediate mode is *augmented* governance, where actors and algorithms intertwine. Augmented governance involves distributed control, multilateral coordination (assisted by digital channels), programmatic incentive structures, and *actorithmic* trust. Below, we elaborate on these generic governance modes (analog, augmented, and automated) and provide a comprehensive definition of the underlying four governance mechanisms— (1) control, (2) coordination, (3) incentives, and (4) trust.

Figure 2.3 illustrates how each of the three governance modes manifests across the four mechanisms. When using the terms "analog," "augmented," or "automated" governance, we refer to discrete, pure sets that exist within the broad spectrum of the combinations of these endpoints of the multidimensional space we depict. In general, we view the transition between analog and automated governance as a fluid, multilevel continuum that allows decision-makers to automate certain governance mechanisms individually or in conjunction with others. Thus, it is possible to "mix and match" analog, augmented, and automated governance mechanisms in various hybrid forms of governance. For parsimony, we focus our theorizing on discrete points in the option space; however, we fully recognize the configurational logic underlying this framework (Furnari et al., 2021). Thus, in practice, we expect to observe configurations that blend analog governance (e.g., for control) forms with elements of augmented governance (e.g., for control) and automated governance (e.g., for incentives).



Figure 2.3: Configurational Building Blocks of Governance Mechanisms and Modes

Demystifying Digital Governance

2.4.1 Control: From Centralized to Decentralized

In analog governance, control is *centralized* through contracts and fiat (Williamson, 1991). Centralized control relies on mechanisms of vertical authority and primarily focuses on behavior and outcome enforcement (Eisenhardt, 1985; Ouchi & Maguire, 1975). Outcome-based contracts formalize agreed-upon metrics, such as product sales, and behavior-based contracts improve adherence to performance-related metrics, such as task completion time. Both types of contracts are typically supported by vertical authority mechanisms, such as hierarchical fiat and institutional power, to enforce outcomes or behaviors.

Automated governance in the form of *decentralized* controls replaces vertical authority with autonomous algorithms that improve outcome certainty and enforce rigid behavioral control. These algorithms can be used to monitor a workforce (e.g., Amazon's fully automated warehouses; Baraniuk (2015)) or user-generated content in social networks (e.g., Gilbert, 2021). Decentralized control systems have several advantages, such as preprogrammed rules that are automatically executed following (e.g., through smart contracts) and not requiring enforcement by vertical authority (Murray et al., 2021). Additionally, they structure a checks-andbalances system that increases certainty through transaction and information validation by each participant in the control structure. Furthermore, decentralized information systems, such as blockchains, can digitize routinized workflows, providing stricter process control and increasing behavioral certainty.

In addition to centralized and decentralized control, digital tools can enable the emergence of *distributed* control mechanisms. Distributed control is a form of control that operates through lateral authority and is enabled by digital tools. For example, open-source software development relies on distributed controls among developers that regulate access to read, write, or contribute code (Dahlander & O'Mahony, 2011). This type of control is anchored in the developer community and digital tools such as GitHub or Bitbucket. The advantage of distributed control is that it gives partial control over bureaucratic tasks, such as version control, to an automated and decentralized system while accounting for contingencies beyond the program code.

2.4.2 Coordination: From Bilateral to Omnilateral

In the analog context, coordination occurs *bilaterally*, which means that an actor divides labor into tasks that can be assigned to and performed by another party, as would be the case in buyer-supplier relationships (Jones, 1984). One benefit of this type of coordination is that task assignments are usually routinized, leading to increased reliability and efficiency in organizational performance (Cohen & Bacdayan, 1994). However, this type of procedural memory can also be inarticulate and challenging to transfer between actors.

In contrast, *omnilateral* coordination relies on mechanisms where a system divides labor into tasks that can be assigned to any party automatically. Importantly, omnilateral mechanisms do not rely on implicit procedural memory but on rigid task codification, division, and assignment, which are fully autonomous. For instance, platform firms such as Uber, Lyft, Deliveroo, and GrubHub extensively adopt algorithmic coordination to manage task allocation, goal setting, and scheduling for their workforce (Tarafdar et al., 2023). Another example of omnilateral coordination concerns DAOs, whose first use cases (e.g., MakerDAO, a stablecoin issuance platform) illustrate how fully autonomous task division and task allocation occur through on-chain voting (Zhao, Ai, Lai, Luo, & Benitez, 2022). As routines are considered dynamic (Feldman, 2000), a risk of any omnilateral coordination is that its assisting algorithm does not persist over time and cannot account for possible changes in the organization's task environment, which can impede overall task division and assignment.

Between the extremes of bi- and omnilateral coordination mechanisms, coordination can take an augmented form of *multilateral* coordination where tasks are divided and assigned by physical actors through digital channels. The advantage of multilateral coordination is that digital channels partly codify routines that would otherwise be stored in procedural memory. For example, the Catena-X network, which fosters cross-company data exchange in the automotive industry, relies on an open data ecosystem where parties use network services to share data and on an actor-based consortium to coordinate its development. Simultaneously, with multilateral coordination, direct actor involvement helps account for salient routine instability (Pentland, Hærem, & Hillison, 2011). Using multilateral coordination through digital channels, parties can better anticipate when a change in routine is required and whether a bypass of automatic task division and allocation is warranted.

2.4.3 Incentives: From Bureaucratic to Cybernetic

In the analog world, incentives are *bureaucratic* in the sense that they are set in contracts that align the objectives of the partners, such as explicit compensation arrangements between owners and managers (Oehmichen, Jacobey, & Wolff, 2020). Incentives are important complements to controls; they can help reduce conflicts between parties, e.g., agency problems due to the separation of decision- and risk-bearing functions (Fama & Jensen, 1983). In their bureaucratic form, incentives are agreed upon by parties and subject to potential renegotiations. For example, when a bonus is paid to an employee, this is an incentive that rewards the employee with variable compensation that is typically agreed upon contractually (Shaw, Gupta, & Delery, 2000).

Bureaucratic mechanisms differ sharply from *cybernetic* incentives, which are set and re-evaluated by a self-adapting algorithm in a feedback loop where outputs continuously serve as inputs (Green & Welsh, 1988; Vergne, 2020). For example, an increasingly popular cybernetic incentive mechanism is "proof-of-stake" rewards in cryptocurrencies. Here, network participants serve as "validators" by staking their cryptocurrencies or tokens for a set period, which is documented in a smart contract on the blockchain (Edelmann, 2022). In return, when participants validate new block transactions, they are rewarded for their validation efforts with cryptocurrency. Another example of a cybernetic incentive is Google Maps Local Guides; contributors to Google Maps who share reviews, photos, and knowledge are rewarded with points, which can be exchanged for rewards or used in exclusive community events (Tajedin, Madhok, & Keyhani, 2019). Underlying these cybernetic incentive systems are algorithms that automatically distribute and adjust rewards when certain input conditions (e.g., price levels, demand) are achieved.

In addition to the range of bureaucratic and programmed incentives, *programmatic* incentive structures that are recorded in code but subject to manual review and adjustment could become the norm. In contrast to cybernetic incentives, programmatic incentives are predefined, rigid, and automatized rules that do not work in a constant feedback loop. An example of programmatic incentives is preferred supplier programs: Sourceability, a global distributor of electronic components, has developed an automatized supplier rating system that scores each supplier and prefers high-quality, timely suppliers, incentivizing suppliers through the communication of rank order and related order placement.

2.4.4 Trust: From Actor-Based to Algorithmic

In the analog world, trust is *actor-based* and describes the expectation that an exchange partner will not behave opportunistically, even when the affected party has limited abilities to detect such behavior (Mayer, Davis, & Schoorman, 1995; Puranam & Vanneste, 2009). In interorganizational collaboration, trust can be built between partners that engage with each other repeatedly, where each delivers the outcomes expected of the other, and where each entity behaves responsibly toward the other, which can ultimately build trust in competence and goodwill (Das & Teng, 2001; Gulati, 1995).

In automated contexts, trust resides in the *algorithmic* system itself and is not dependent on personal relationships (Lumineau, Schilke, & Wang, 2023). Rather than relying on the (unobservable) actions of partially known exchange partners, trust can be placed in a system that automatically validates each party without having to reveal its identity. For example, cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin and Ether, rely fully on transactions based on automated consensus mechanisms, eliminating the need for trusted intermediaries to help safeguard against opportunistic behavior (Seidel, 2018; Werbach, 2018). In enterprise applications, blockchain technologies such as IBM Food Trust enable information in the food sector to be stored on an immutable blockchain, allowing customers to track their entire value chain while increasing confidence in the product's provenance and quality (IBM, 2022). Trust in the system, rather than in the actors, is particularly crucial in digital exchange (Ba & Pavlou, 2002).

Along the spectrum of actor- and system-based trust, an augmented mode of trust can emerge as a principal form that is *actorithmic* in nature, where actor-based trust is algorithmically enhanced. In other words, actorithmic governance emerges when trust depends partly on the actions of the parties involved in an exchange and partly on digital technologies. Actorithmic governance is evident in digital marketplaces and platforms such as eBay and Airbnb, where trust between unacquainted transaction parties is partially established through the parties fulfilling their agreements and partially through digital technologies. The necessary trust building is facilitated by the recommender systems of these platforms, which assess parties based on their transaction performance, combining human evaluation with automated ranking systems (Malgonde et al., 2020).

2.4.5 Combining Analog, Augmented, and Automated Governance Forms

Governance designers can blend control, coordination, incentives, and trust mechanisms from analog, augmented, and automated governance to create new governance configurations that can be gradually implemented. In many organizational settings, some governance mechanisms are usually analog, while others are augmented or automated. As an illustration, the Linux kernel development community utilizes a combination of analog and augmented governance. Control is augmented through write access granted solely to maintainers (authorized developers) who formally approve patches reviewed by the community. Coordination is facilitated through digital mailing lists. Incentives are augmented by a repository that stores version copies and developer names, allowing for credit attribution. Finally, trust is placed in "trusted lieutenants," who work closely with founder Linus Torvalds (Lee & Cole, 2003). Another example that leans more strongly toward automation are DAOs, where control is automated through voting rights and code-embedded rules; coordination is augmented with digital tools such as Discord; incentives are automatically distributed through consensus mechanisms and smart contracts; and trust is fully automated using blockchain technology (Hsieh & Vergne, 2023; Kaal, 2021). This combinatory power of digital governance enables designers to experiment with various configurations before making a commitment or opting for partial automation of governance.

Notably, governance choices are dynamic and adaptable. In fact, each of the four governance mechanisms may experience a dynamic development; a shift from analog to automated ways of governing exchanges, or vice versa. However, it is unlikely that automated forms of governance will emerge as the only dominant form. Rather, the dominant governance mode may gradually stabilize in augmented forms of governance, where analog and digital forms overlap and fill each other's voids. In the next section, we describe a heuristic for determining when analog, augmented, or automated forms of governance are best suited for exchange.

2.5 Making the Right Governance Choice

An important consideration when evaluating governance choices concerns the associated governance costs of designing, implementing, and adapting the necessary control, coordination, trust, and incentive mechanisms. Each of the three focal governance modes (analog, augmented, and automated) generates specific costs. From an efficiency perspective, the governance choice should provide the desired benefits at the lowest possible cost.

2.5.1 A Governance Choice Framework for the Digital Age

A classic argument of transaction cost economics is that transactional attributes, particularly the "bilateral dependency [that] builds up as asset specificity deepens" (Williamson, 1991: 282), determine governance choices. However, this argument requires serious reconsideration in the digital age, where exchanges often occur between *multiple* parties simultaneously, the primacy of assets gives way to *digital data*, and reliance on institutional enforcement is supplanted by *algorithmic* rules. Moreover, digital exchanges often occur outside the spectrum of markets and hierarchies, generating new forms of organizing as in blockchains, digital platforms, and online communities (Benkler, 2002; Puranam et al., 2014). We are interested in an extension of the classical governance choice model, taking into account augmented and automated forms of governance in addition to the analog form as well as a discriminant logic concerning when and why each form of governance is chosen.

To better explain digital governance choices, we introduce the notion of *transactivity*—a composite construct that encompasses the overall extent of contributors (i.e., participants), connections (i.e., relationships), and consistency (i.e., flows) in an exchange network. In network terminology, the first element concerns network size (i.e., number of nodes) and the second concerns network density (i.e., realized connections between nodes), two important network governance determinants (Provan & Kenis, 2008). The third element, consistency, indicates whether exchanges occur in a standardizable or homogeneous manner rather than a customized or idiosyncratic fashion. Notably, a linear increase in the number of contributors (i.e., network size) can induce exponential growth in the number of connections (i.e., network density), which puts particular strain on any analog governance design. In contrast, consistency acts as a critical boundary condition for the scalability of any automated governance solution; algorithmic solutions require predictability and reliability for seamless execution.

Since the three elements that constitute transactivity strongly interact with each other, very high transactivity values occur when all three elements take on high values. However, low transactivity values can occur if only one element has low values while the others have high values. This would apply to a large network (e.g., hundreds of members) with low connectivity (e.g., a density of ten percent) and high consistency (e.g., all exchanges are similar in nature). In this setting, most interactions occur on a bilateral basis with little external exchange interdependency, fostering a dispersed network structure that reduces the need for a unified and integrated governance solution. In formal terms, the multiplicative nature of the interrelationship between these three elements can be expressed as follows:

transactivity = contributors × connections × consistency.

We expect the costs of each governance alternative (analog, augmented, and automated) to increase exponentially as a function of transactivity but at different rates. Analog governance mechanisms are particularly cost-effective for low transactivity as the necessary arrangements can or must be negotiated bilaterally, taking into account specific transactional attributes. Here, the parties select a combination of transaction-specific relational and contractual agreements, e.g., in strategic alliance agreements or mergers and acquisitions. However, the costs of analog governance become particularly punitive as transactivity increases because the number of agreements to be negotiated increases at a strong exponential rate.

In contrast, for automated governance, the setup costs tend to be much higher than analog solutions because the required algorithms are expensive to design, implement, and adjust (Rimba et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2006). However, they become comparatively low when they can be spread across a large number and volume of similar exchanges because digital solutions can be scaled at low marginal costs. Therefore, automated governance solutions have a relative cost advantage over analog governance options in settings with high transactivity, as is the case with many financial transactions, standardized service contracts, and small purchase agreements involving many parties.

Finally, the augmented governance solution falls between the two extremes; it incurs costs on both the analog and algorithmic sides. Augmented governance involves the combination of analog and augmented governance solutions. The associated costs tend to be comparatively low at medium levels of transactivity, which might be the case in small, highdensity networks where some customization is required but many exchange attributes are standardized, e.g., a supply chain network where certain facets require specific relational and contractual governance (such as discussing product specifications and agreeing on relationship scope), but many aspects can be transferred to fully automated solutions (e.g., delivery, pricing, and orders). In Figure 2.4, we illustrate the general logic underlying the relationship between transactivity (horizontal axis) and governance costs (vertical axis) as well as the resultant governance choice.²

Figure 2.4: Governance Choice Framework



2.5.2 A Contingency Perspective on the Benefits and Costs of Digital Governance

Our analysis has focused primarily on governance costs, but in practice, it is important to weigh a complex set of costs and benefits for different stakeholders, particularly governance designers and exchange participants. For governance designers, the toolbox of automated governance

² Moreover, augmented governance often permits a transition from analog to automated governance and allows certain governance voids within each pure governance mode to be filled. For example, when programmatic errors or cyberattacks undermine algorithmic protocols, analog governance mechanisms can provide valuable contingency plans and help restore the system. Thus, regarding these potential cost inefficiencies entailed by a combination of governance modes, the benefits of redundancy and associated system stability may outweigh them.

offers many benefits, such as better insight into user behavior, improved unwanted action monitoring, and greater efficiency, especially in scaling operations (Benlian et al., 2022). Such benefits are offset by significant upfront costs when designing, implementing, and adapting automated governance solutions, which can hinder their deployment for small-scale transactions. Hence, organizational characteristics may play an important contingency role; smaller organizations may lack requisite funds for designing and implementing automated governance modes. Moreover, lawmakers worldwide are increasing pressure, demanding greater accountability for online activities (e.g., fake news and illegal activity) and putting bounds on the use of governing algorithms (e.g., the AI Act in the European Union).

While it is useful to consider the perspective of governance setters in analyses, notably, exchange participants' perceptions of the costs and benefits of digital governance may be different. For participants, automated governance offers many promises, such as increased predictability through technologies such as smart contracts, improved inclusivity due to the low barriers to participation in the digital economy, and a high level of reliability in conducting transactions based on transparent rules (Santana & Albareda, 2022). Nevertheless, automated governance solutions can also be abused, leading to a loss of autonomy through surveillance, a sense of voicelessness amid quasi-monopolistic digital incumbents, and dependencies on specific services with high switching costs (e.g., Möhlmannn, Alves de Lima Salge, & Marabelli, 2023). Another contingency for participants extends from network effects; they may be coerced into accepting certain governance modes due to peer pressure and the network effects that simultaneously increase switching costs and create a pull effect.

In Table 2.1, we provide an overview of some of the key benefits and limitations of digital governance from the perspectives of governance designers and exchange participants. We also elaborate on these issues below in our future research agenda.

	How digital governance impacts					
			Benefits	Costs		
Whom digital governance impacts	Governance designers	✓ ✓ ✓	Insight: e.g., behavioral data analytics in real time, latent pattern analysis Oversight: e.g., automated fraud detection, transparent operational data Efficiency: e.g., low costs per transaction, easy scalability	× × ×	Design: e.g., programming efforts, testing algorithms Implementation: e.g., infrastructure set-up, conversion of IT systems Adaptation: e.g., bug corrections, feature updates	
	Exchange participants	✓ ✓ ✓	Predictability: e.g., clarity of incentive mechanisms Inclusivity: e.g., opportunities for individuals to contribute economically Reliability: e.g., high standardization, clear if- then conditions	× × ×	Policing: e.g., loss of autonomy, surveillance of behavior Impotence: e.g., lack of influence on governance decisions Dependence: e.g., lock-in effects due to peer pressure and network effects	

Table 2.1: Benefits and Costs of Digital Governance for Orchestrators and Participants

2.6 Developing a Research Agenda on Digital Governance

We propose a research agenda with two avenues through which scholars can deepen and broaden their understanding of digital governance. The first avenue adds to our focal discussion and highlights the governance challenges posed by digital technologies (governance *by* algorithms). The second avenue extends our discussion and addresses the accountability of digital governance (governance *of* algorithms). Table 2.2 and Table 2.3 provide a summary of these future research opportunities and key research questions.

2.6.1 Avenue 1: Governance by Algorithms

Our study underscores the nature of digital governance, a shift toward using digital technologies to provide automated mechanisms of control, coordination, incentives, and trust. Consistent with findings on other digital technology-driven phenomena such as digital transformation (Hanelt et al., 2020; Verhoef et al., 2021; Vial, 2019), important questions arise regarding the broader implications of such technological changes. While algorithms enable the control of numerous participants and foster perceived fairness and impartiality within organizations (Dolata, Feuerriegel, & Schwabe, 2022; Fu, Aseri, Singh, & Srinivasan, 2022), their use also promotes rigid standardization and the risk of losing sight of the social side of organizations, e.g., human cognition and emotion (e.g., Massey, 2002). Thus, insights into the cognitive, emotional, and organizational processes that accompany the introduction of digital governance are needed.

Cognition and emotions. The use of digital governance raises concerns about the role of "soft factors" such as emotions (e.g., enthusiasm or frustration) and perceptions (e.g., valuation or sensemaking), and whether people are comfortable being monitored, controlled, and potentially challenged by algorithms. Previous research highlights the impact of technology on customer emotions and discomfort, suggesting the importance of emotions in digital interactions (Holthöwer & van Doorn, 2023). The use of algorithms can also result in frustration when they challenge human intuition and compromise accountability in the workplace (Allen & Choudhury, 2022; Lebovitz, Lifshitz-Assaf, & Levina, 2022). These examples illustrate the need to consider the impact of digital governance on human emotions and perceptions to ensure its effective and responsible use.

Governance by Algorithms	Emotions and cognition		Does digital governance lead to a "switching off" mentality (similar to a loss of orientation due to using Google Maps), and if so, how can it be prevented? When do digital governance mechanisms harm vigilance? When and why does digital governance affect human emotions, either positively (e.g., empowerment, trust, and confidence) or negatively (e.g., fear, frustration, and helplessness)? How can digital connections and identities strengthen or weaken relational ties between		
	Standardization and biases	•	network participants? How can organizations reap the benefits of digital governance (e.g., efficiency and standardization) while minimizing its costs (e.g., rigidity and technological dependencies)? Are organizations losing their "human touch" as a result of increasing digital governance? What are the limits of digital control and programmability of (inter)organizational processes? How does digital control influence social and creative tasks in organizations, e.g., the formation of friendships and innovation activities?		
	Contingency and boundary factors	•	When is augmented and automated governance superior to analog governance and vice versa? How can digital technologies enable forms of process controls that relieve the oversight role of managers? What is the optimal balance between digital and analog governance? When do the costs of digital governance outweigh its benefits, and when is "no governance" a better solution?		

Table 2.2: Future Research in Digital Governance: Governance by Algorithms

The role of fairness in determining people's compliance with algorithmic solutions highlights the importance of a sociotechnical perspective in evaluating the interplay between technology and society (Dolata et al., 2022; Lee, 2018). Research has shown that individuals engage in complex sensemaking processes to interpret algorithms and their perceived fairness, and optimize their behavior based on incentives set by the algorithms, leading to widespread behavioral adaptation (Bellesia et al., 2023; Cameron & Rahman, 2022; Möhlmannn et al., 2023). In light of the behavioral changes that may accompany the deployment of digital governance, it is crucial for further research to investigate the broader societal consequences of digital governance from both a research and a policy perspective.

Standardization and biases. While some arguments suggest that more technology and governance produce linear benefits, marginal returns could decrease over time due to increasing technological saturation (Karr-Wisniewski & Lu, 2010). Therefore, digital governance implementation evokes fundamental discussions in the management literature when increasing formalization is beneficial or harmful to organizations (Walsh & Dewar, 1987). Further research is needed to determine whether digital governance promotes increasing "hyperbureaucratic" organizations where every step is mapped digitally. Consequently, hyperbureaucracy may hinder creativity and innovation in such ventures, negatively impacting organizational performance (Adler & Borys, 1996; Pesch, Endres, & Bouncken, 2021). Furthermore, digital technologies can create barriers between an organization and its customers. For example, research on chatbots (which are based on algorithms and AI) as mediators in customer interactions shows that technology can effectively serve as a barrier, impacting customer satisfaction (Crolic, Thomaz, Hadi, & Stephen, 2022).

A particularly critical issue is built-in biases in the algorithms (Akter et al., 2022). Research has provided disturbing evidence of how machine learning algorithms, if not carefully trained, can reinforce and proliferate malicious gender and racial stereotypes (Hundt, Agnew, Zeng, Kacianka, & Gombolay, 2022). Future research should therefore deepen our knowledge of how organizations can use digital governance to counter biases and ensure safe and inclusive digital environments (see Bolukbasi, Chang, Zou, Saligrama, and Kalai (2016) for an example of a gender debiasing algorithm). This also applies to the risk of misinformation triggered by algorithmic systems: The OpenAI-developed chatbot, ChatGPT, was banned from Stack Overflow and faced restrictions on being listed as an author by academic publishers due to concerns about its potential for producing incorrect answers (Sample, 2023; Vincent, 2022).

Contingency and boundary factors. Finally, the contingency and boundary factors of digital governance require elaboration. This aspect concerns the normative question of whether companies should embrace the further digitization of their governance. For instance, Griesbach, Reich, Elliott-Negri, and Milkman (2019) uncover irritating forms of "algorithmic despotism" in food delivery platforms where algorithms essentially dictate coworkers' schedules and activities. Finally, the motivation for adopting digital governance is not only a firm-internal consideration but may also be influenced by interorganizational ties (e.g., supply chain interdependencies) and the institutional environment (Aguilera & Jackson, 2003; Oehmichen, Schrapp, & Wolff, 2017). Understanding organizational embeddedness, such as through regulations, cooperative, and competitive dynamics, can help explain variance in digital governance adoption. For instance, digital governance may be adopted due to mimetic pressures and because it has already been adopted by other firms (Mithas, Tafti, & Mitchell, 2013; Wang, 2010).

2.6.2 Avenue 2: Governance of Algorithms

In addition to recognizing the potential of automation, digital governance necessitates discussion of responsibility and accountability, affirming our second research avenue concerning the governance of algorithms (Haenlein, Huang, & Kaplan, 2022; Haenlein & Kaplan, 2021; Kaplan & Haenlein, 2020; Loebbecke & Picot, 2015; Martin, 2019). Insights into who designs algorithms and oversees the parameters of digital governance are important (see Chhillar and Aguilera (2022) for a review in the AI context). While this issue is important from a societal perspective, it also involves legal considerations as long as the algorithms are not considered legal entities that can be held accountable for their actions (Drummer & Neumann, 2020). Moreover, from a legal perspective, it is critical for policymakers to understand the implications of digital governance and its potentially detrimental effects on society. Finally, the shift toward algorithmic and internet-based technologies also has implications for cybersecurity and how organizations can protect themselves against cyberthreats.

Design and responsibility. The definition of responsibilities for the design and consequences of digital governance remains a largely unexplored area. The impact of ambiguous responsibilities is exemplified in the Bitcoin protocol, kickstarted by Satoshi Nakamoto, who remains anonymous and cannot be held accountable for the abundance of illegal activities that this cryptocurrency enables (Foley, Karlsen, & Putninš, 2019). From a corporate point of view, the question arises whether digital governance should be viewed as a technical matter for IT departments or whether it requires the involvement of top management, such as the Chief Digital Officer (Firk, Hanelt, Oehmichen, & Wolff, 2021). In addition to new roles such as the CDO, specific expertise can play a role, such as how the digital expertise of managers and board members influences the development and use of algorithms (Fabian et al., 2022). The shift toward algorithmic modes of management also presents opportunities for exploring the cognitive capabilities of managers (Helfat & Peteraf, 2015) because using automated governance technologies requires a new set of skills to effectively utilize them. From an alliance perspective, further research is needed on how to govern collaboration with algorithm providers such as AI startups (Oehmichen, Schult, & Qi Dong, 2023) and AI-as-a-service providers (Zapadka, Hanelt, Firk, & Oehmichen, 2020).

Accountability and regulation. With the advent of digital governance, the question of control is critical for organizations (Kellogg, Valentine, & Christin, 2020). If algorithms lead to adverse consequences in established organizations (e.g., discrimination), who ultimately bears responsibility for them? If the shift toward decentralized and transparent blockchain-based systems continues, how can actors within such systems be held accountable, especially if online and legal entities remain separate (Sun Yin, Langenheldt, Harley, Mukkamala, & Vatrapu, 2019)? These questions suggest that digital governance presents macrolevel challenges that are relevant for policymakers (Nambisan, Wright, & Feldman, 2019). If governance is increasingly becoming more automated, what policies should be designed to protect network participants and how? How can algorithms be designed to comply with national and supranational regulations such as those enacted by the European Union? Interestingly, many large technology firms are calling for regulation at the national and supranational levels (Bajarin, 2020; Knight, 2019), raising the intriguing question of whether these digital incumbents are truly interested in ethical digital governance or whether they are primarily trying to devolve responsibility.

Design and responsibility	 Where do organizations locate the responsibility for designing (e.g., setting the parameters) digital governance mechanisms (e.g., internal development vs. outsourcing)? What are the decision parameters? Who takes responsibility and checks for biases and technical errors in technical governance solutions? 		
	 How can consensus mechanisms be designed to provide security and effective dispute resolution? How do algorithms automate or complement digital governance design? 		
Accountability and regulation	 Should policy-makers actively regulate digital governance? Should digital board members and auditing firms (e.g., AI-based accounting controls and blockchain-based transparency mechanisms) be allowed, and if so, when? With whom and under what circumstances should the algorithms and data underlying governance decisions be shared or even made public? How can digital governance mechanisms contribute to or prevent antitrust problems? In large digital networks where pseudonymity prevails, who is responsible for illegal activities, biased decision-making, and technical errors? 		
Cybersecurity and risk	 How can companies increase their resilience against malicious attacks and hacking? How can cybersecurity become a strategic issue? How can companies maintain their strategic autonomy as digital technologies require ever more expertise, which often resides outside the organization? How can companies secure their critical infrastructures amid increasing data integration and processes? 		

Table 2.3: Future Research in Digital Governance: Governance of Algorithms

Cybersecurity and risk. As organizational processes and decisionmaking are increasingly reliant on algorithmic protocols, the supporting infrastructure has become an attractive target for malicious attacks that compromise the operations of an organization and sensitive data (Angst, Block, D'Arcy, & Kelley, 2017). For example, the cloud company Akamai reported the largest DDoS attack ever launched against a European customer—an aggressive attempt to cripple the operations of the business (Sparling & Gebhardt, 2022). Given such vulnerabilities, companies are called upon to develop appropriate security measures to protect their IT infrastructure from them, entailing critical tradeoffs between a higher level of automation, which enables greater efficiency, and vulnerability to cyberattacks, which can cause severe reputational damage (Triche & Walden, 2018). With the rise in digital governance and the growing importance of data, cybersecurity is becoming a strategic issue for organizations, requiring careful consideration not only to prevent malicious attacks, but also to avoid reputational damage.

2.7 Conclusions

In this paper, we provide a new perspective on governance in the digital age. As organizations are coalescing into ever-larger value networks, we argue that governance mechanisms for mitigating the tension between cooperation and competition between different exchange participants in digital environments are crucial. Our research emphasizes the critical importance of regulating control, coordination, incentives, and trust in ways that enable new forms of organizing, value creation, and value capture. Hence, we define digital governance as one of the long-term cornerstones of management in the digital age.

CHAPTER 3. AGENCY IN THE ALGORITHMIC AGE: THE MECHANISMS AND STRUCTURES OF BLOCKCHAIN-BASED ORGANIZING

Goldsby, C.M., Hanisch, M. (2023). Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing. Journal of Business Research, 168, doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.114195.

3.1 Introduction

Blockchains are being increasingly recognized as a governance mechanism in various contexts, encompassing both permissioned and permissionless networks (Beck et al., 2018; Cennamo, Marchesi, & Meyer, 2020). On the one hand, permissionless blockchains, including decentralized autonomous organizations (DAOs) and cryptocurrencies, rely on radical decentralization to establish systems without (or very limited) hierarchical structures, providing anonymity and unrestricted access to all transactions (Goldberg & Schär, 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). On the other hand, permissioned blockchains, such as IBM Food Trust and PharmaLedger, have garnered significant attention due to their efficacy in regulating interorganizational relationships and optimizing supply chain management through partial automation while preserving a level of security requisite for safeguarding the confidential and proprietary data of participating entities (Hanisch, Goldsby, Fabian, & Oehmichen, 2023; Treiblmaier, 2018). As of late 2021, 81 of the 100 largest publicly traded companies have been using (mostly permissioned) blockchains (Blockdata, 2021). Both permissioned and permissionless blockchains have thus emerged as potential solutions to governance problems of accountability, transparency, and trust in different domains, offering the potential for novel forms of governance that can

enhance existing structures or create entirely new systems of governance (Rossi, Mueller-Bloch, Thatcher, & Beck, 2019). As such, the study of blockchain technology from a governance perspective represents a burgeoning field of research, with implications for a broad array of fields and industries (Lumineau et al., 2021; Tan & Saraniemi, 2022).

One area of blockchain governance that has received surprisingly little attention is its use within single organizations. Indeed, most of the literature on blockchain governance has focused on permissionless networks (e.g., Hsieh & Vergne, 2023) or permissioned interorganizational networks (e.g., Shew, Snell, Nayga Jr, & Lacity, 2022), but few studies have examined how blockchains can be deployed within organizations (e.g., Murray et al., 2021; Sharif & Ghodoosi, 2022; Yermack, 2017). However, as mentioned by the founder of Advatech Pacific, Deepanshu Khandelwal, "before thinking of achieving interorganizational efficiencies using blockchain, companies should look at leveraging blockchain for intraorganizational efficiencies, which will be a tremendous use of this technology." Studying how blockchains integrate within hierarchical organizations is of considerable conceptual interest due to the clash between the decentralized nature of blockchains and the centralized structure of hierarchies. Additionally, hierarchical organizations scale vertically by adding more layers to the chain of command (Astley, 1985; March & Simon, 1958), while blockchains scale laterally by adding more blocks to a chain of data validated by network nodes, a fundamental difference in the scaling mechanisms of systems. In view of the technology's potential these two for intraorganizational governance and the inherent theoretical tension, there is a clear need for theoretical advancement that integrates blockchain into the debates on intraorganizational governance while studying the implications for organizational design.

Agency theory offers a suitable lens for examining blockchain technology in terms of intraorganizational governance by studying the potential conflicts and misalignments from information asymmetries between principals and agents. Through this theoretical lens, we provide a nuanced study of blockchain governance in intraorganizational settings, shedding light on its potential to reduce information asymmetries, complement and even substitute hierarchy-based process controls and fiat through its transparent and decentralized nature. We thus conceptualize blockchains as an algorithmic form of process control and argue that they can facilitate information distribution and sequencing, enabling

organizational members to avoid information concentration while ensuring a continuous record of information. Additionally, we suggest that the blockchain consensus mechanism can alleviate the pressure on organizational supervisors to exercise hierarchical authority, that is, the formal authority that principals have over agents (Reitzig & Maciejovsky, 2015) to resolve conflicts via fiat, resulting in a potent form of internal digital governance (Hanisch et al., 2023). Our microlevel perspective of intraorganizational blockchain governance therefore suggests that blockchains can enable direct vertical information channels, flatten organizational hierarchy through vertical disintermediation, and create a process-oriented alignment based on a strict sequencing of agent tasks that can cause inefficient lateral reintermediation. Thus, blockchain technology can address crucial governance issues within organizations and facilitate new organizational structures, which come with potential downsides.

Our paper makes three main contributions to the field of blockchain research in business and management (e.g., Hsieh & Vergne, 2023; Lumineau et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2022). First, we provide a microlevel theory of how intraorganizational blockchains impact the principal-agent relationship, focusing on the unique governance mechanisms within organizations. We explore the implications of introducing a peer-to-peer system in hierarchical settings, examining the role redefinition of intermediaries such as middle managers in a digital governance context. Second, we advance discussions of blockchain governance by investigating how blockchains facilitate information channeling and rechanneling within organizations (Murray et al., 2021; Sharif & Ghodoosi, 2022; Yermack, 2017). Specifically, we address information distribution in hierarchical settings and highlight the benefits of reducing reliance on information aggregators through direct chains between principals and agents. Third, we contribute to the literature on organizational design (e.g., Huber, 1990; Puranam et al., 2014; Zammuto, Griffith, Majchrzak, Dougherty, & Faraj, 2007) by demonstrating how blockchains reshape organizational structures, connecting actors in direct ways that align with organizational processes and transcend traditional hierarchies. Overall, our paper deepens the understanding of how firms can leverage decentralized technologies such as blockchains to enhance accountability, transparency, and trust while retaining the benefits of hierarchical organizing.

3.2 Blockchains and Information Asymmetry in Organizations

Governance in organizations refer to the rules, procedures, and processes that are used to control and coordinate the actions of its membersnamely, principals and agents-to achieve their goals and objectives amid asymmetric information (Aguilera, Desender, Bednar, & Lee, 2015; Jensen & Meckling, 1976). Thus, the need for governance aimed at effective control and coordination stems from the prevalence of information asymmetries and agent opportunism present in organizations (Gittell, 2000; Moon et al., 2004; Sharma, 1997; Sundaramurthy & Lewis, 2003). In organizational settings, information asymmetries result from the division of labor between task-giver (principal) and task-performer (agent), creating monitoring difficulties and potential incentive misalignments (Eisenhardt, 1989a; Thiel, Bonner, Bush, Welsh, & Garud, 2021). Information asymmetries can significantly harm organizations. For instance, information concentration, which can occur when "those who have valuable information are incentivized to invest in safeguards" to advance their self-interests (Bergh, Ketchen, Orlandi, Heugens, & Boyd, 2019: p. 134), may lead to biased decision-making or suboptimal strategic decisions (Beck & Plowman, 2009). Similarly, the absence of *information continuity* across organizational silos and functions may result in organizational inefficiencies (Lessard & Zaheer, 1996), such as duplicate work and misunderstandings. *Information conflict*, whereby actors face contradicting information and disagreements on how to interpret it (Cronin & Weingart, 2007), can lead to erroneous communication or biases that influence the effectiveness of strategic decision-making (Nguyen, 2007; Papadakis, Lioukas, & Chambers, 1998).³ Amidst these information

³ These terms related to information asymmetry are similarly used in the extant agency theory literature. For example, "information concentration" has been studied in the agency context using the concept of "information diffusion" (Altay & Pal, 2014) and "information distribution" (Parks & Conlon, 1995) as the opposite effect to concentration. Moreover, "information continuity" has been commonly referred to as "information flow," which can describe *hierarchical* information flow (Sundaramurthy & Lewis, 2003), or *horizontal* information flow (Jacobides & Croson, 2001), the latter of which refers to our choice of term. Finally, "information conflict" is often synonymously referred to as "objective conflicts" that stem from highly subjective information (Cuevas-Rodríguez, Gomez-Mejia,

asymmetries within hierarchies, governance is a countervailing force that aligns interests, fosters cooperation, and enables coordination among organizational actors.

3.3 Blockchains as Algorithmic Process Controls

In light of the governance challenges in organizations, blockchains offer an enticing opportunity to partially or fully automate governance and address the critical problems of information concentration, continuity, and conflict via algorithmic process controls (Hanisch et al., 2023). Blockchains are characterized by peer-to-peer validation and the immutable storage of transactions in a shared, distributed ledger (Schmeiss et al., 2019; Yuan & Wang, 2016). The distributed nature of blockchains reduces the likelihood of information concentration and tampering by storing information in a network-managed database accessible on every node in an organization's network (Chod et al., 2020; Vergne, 2020). Additionally, blockchains sequence information and thus track missing data, ensuring an immutable and append-only database that facilitates sequenced workflows (Clohessy, Treiblmaier, Acton, & Rogers, 2020). Finally, the consensus-based approach of blockchains enhances process monitoring via agreement across the nodes in a system, verifying information and executing smart contracts programmatically (Murray et al., 2021). Notably, to achieve such automated governance, blockchains require explicit information, such as financial data, contracts, and formal workflows, but have lesser utility for tacit information that involves context-specific knowledge or interpretation (Lumineau et al., 2021).

BMW's collaboration with DHL on an internal blockchain project provides a practical example of how blockchains can automate internal governance through process controls (BMW, 2020). Specifically, BMW sought to address the concentration of information on parts supply in certain departments and the lack of communication regarding supply disruptions across all its production units. By using blockchain technology to track such internal processes, BMW enhanced the visibility of its Asia Pacific supply

[&]amp; Wiseman, 2012), "inaccurate" and "malevolent" information (Altay & Pal, 2014), and "information congruence" as the opposite effect of information conflict (Jacobides & Croson, 2001). As these papers related to agency theory have not used these terms consistently, we introduce a simplified convention.

chain operations, reducing the need for manual reporting, especially concerning delayed part shipments. This meant that stakeholders could access the data they needed, resulting in improved process transparency and faster problem resolution. This successful implementation highlights the potential of blockchains to improve information sharing and organizational efficiency (Ledger Insights, 2019c).

Figure 3.1 illustrates the contrast between traditional governance at the top and blockchain governance at the bottom conceptually. Specifically, it presents the theoretical logic of how blockchains can help address the information challenges encountered by organizations, such as concentration, continuity, and conflict, stemming from their distinctive characteristics of distribution, sequencing, and consensus. The shift toward blockchain governance chiefly affects those who act as "agent-principals" (e.g., middle managers) who report up and delegate work down the hierarchy (Dutton & Ashford, 1993; Van Doorn, Georgakakis, Oehmichen, & Reimer, 2022). These roles serve as human process controls that aggregate, filter, and transmit information between the principal and the agent; all of these functions are increasingly transferred to blockchain technology. Although enhance blockchains can accountability and transparency within organizations, it cannot alter the intrinsic motivations of principals and agents, such as self-interest and opportunism. Nonetheless, it can introduce an algorithmic process control that reduces the wiggle room for action on tangential motives. By offering an immutable record of transactions and interactions, blockchains can expose and thereby prevent fraudulent or unethical conduct.

As a result, agents may be encouraged to share even more information to demonstrate compliance and diligence in their duties. Furthermore, the blockchain's smart contract capabilities can provide a level of automation and transparency that can reduce the potential for errors or intentional misrepresentations. Thus, while blockchain technology cannot alter individual motives, it provides a digital governance layer that can help curb the consequences of self-interested and opportunistic behavior.



Figure 3.1: Blockchain vs. Traditional Governance

The case of Ericsson—a communications company based in Stockholm—is especially apt to explain how blockchains can be used to solve efficiency issues internally (Day, 2023). Ericsson deployed an internal blockchain to facilitate the invoice process across the company's units. Specifically, the company encountered inconsistencies in the flow of purchase orders against the flow of invoices, which had been cumbersome given the many legal entities under the same corporate umbrella: "Basically, there are two flows of information that at the end have to reconcile somehow," in the words of the head of blockchain at Ericsson, Giovanni Franzese. An internal blockchain allowed various entities within Ericsson to increase trust among each other and improve the traceability and visibility of the inter-company invoice process. "For the first application we developed, it was 95% of savings by lead time," explained Giovanni Franzese. What stands out in the Ericsson case is their decision to use blockchain internally: "There is a level of centralization. But this is perfectly right because otherwise you could not prevent a loss of control if you had full decentralization within companies where you're using a blockchain solution." Similar to the Advatech Pacific case above, Ericsson is currently leveraging blockchain governance internally with plans to expand the technology to an interorganizational network in the future: "You need to start humble; you need to start with some control and then as long as you take heart, then you release control in a more decentralized way."

3.4 How Blockchains Rechannel Information

The blockchain's unique characteristics offer new ways of addressing the information challenges that arise between principals and agents that are not possible when employing traditional approaches to governance based on relational mechanisms, contracts, or enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems. In this section, we emphasize the ways in which the distributed, sequenced, and consensus-based nature of blockchains differs substantially from the diffused, disconnected, and fiat-based mechanisms of relational and contractual governance in the context of principal-agent exchanges. Similarly, we contrast the features of blockchains to those of ERP systems and demonstrate how the former's consolidated, interfaced. and synchronization-based nature nonetheless allows for information asymmetries in organizations. For instance, our discussions with managers indicated that blockchains can "make the exchange of information between participants more efficient," (manager of a blockchain in an electrical company), which sparked our interest in how blockchains differ from other forms of governance. In the following section, we therefore incorporate relevant quotations from our interviews with managers of internal enterprise blockchain networks to illustrate the mechanisms underlying the use of blockchains in organizations and support our theorizing, highlighting the key differences between blockchains and traditional governance approaches.⁴

⁴ From July 2019 to March 2023, we conducted managerial interviews regarding 18 projects on internal enterprise blockchain solutions to identify the specific governance mechanisms that are relevant in our theoretical context. Moreover, we have conducted an extensive search of leading blockchain outlets (e.g., Ledger Insights, CoinDesk) and scanned press releases of Global 500 companies (e.g., Allianz, Coca-Cola, Ericsson, IBM) to include cases of internal blockchain governance that are valuable for our theoretical context. Although our paper is primarily conceptual in nature, we found it useful to include the voices of practitioners to establish common ground and showcase the growing cross-industry interest in this novel topic.

3.4.1 Information Concentration: Distributed Information Dispersed Across Nodes

In practice, managers often struggle with the problem that information is scattered throughout the organization and is thus difficult to access reliably; it is also challenging to determine whether the stored information is accurate and up to date. This problem can be solved through the blockchain's distribution of information (Akoramurthy & Kumar, 2020). For example, one manager of a blockchain in the oil and gas industry mentioned how "the idea was a reduction in the existing processes and hydrocarbon reconciliation time and then, more importantly, to secure an immutable ledger of all quantities that are recorded in the distributed ledger." Another manager of a blockchain for military purposes explained how "[the blockchain] was tracking aircraft parts across internal organizations and systems as they moved throughout their lifecycle to provide a single source of truth regarding the status and life span of an aircraft part at any given time to relevant parties and to secure the audit trail for an aircraft part."

From a conceptual perspective, when organizations rely primarily on relational (e.g., Claggett & Karahanna, 2018; Fahn & Zanarone, 2021) and contractual governance mechanisms (e.g., Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Magelssen, Rich, & Mayer, 2022), information is diffused in the form of organizational routines and experiences and stored in procedural memory (Cohen & Bacdayan, 1994; Howard-Grenville, 2005; Omidvar, Safavi, & Glaser, 2022), which can be supplemented by *consolidated* and centralized records in ERP systems that store, integrate, and control certain kinds of information (Berente, Lyytinen, Yoo, & King, 2016; Morton & Hu, 2008). A negative consequence of these two mechanisms is that information can be transmitted inaccurately (e.g., parties can have their own interpretation of information), or it can be manipulated in centralized systems by authorized actors (e.g., data can be overwritten). In contrast, blockchains offer a solution to concerns regarding such information concentration because the information is distributed across multiple nodes in the system, thus eliminating the need to rely on widely diffused and inaccurate experiences or information contained in centralized systems that are prone to tampering.

Such a blockchain has been deployed by Coca-Cola, which depends on the reliable exchange of information among bottling companies to fulfill orders (Business Insider, 2021). Together with the technology provider SAP, Coca-Cola has created a platform that enables the sharing of stock supply, order information, and delivery times in a transparent and immutable
manner. By testing this platform with Coke One North America (CONA), Coca-Cola aimed to reduce its reconciliation times from an average of 50 days to less than a week (Bitvalex, 2019). The success of this implementation has led CONA to extend its use of blockchain technology to a larger audience. The company now utilizes the Baseline Protocol to establish a frictionless network joining process among Coca-Cola Bottling's suppliers, providing benefits not only to internal bottlers-suppliers but also to external suppliers of raw material. The Baseline Protocol heavily relies on Zero-Knowledge Proofs (ZKP), a type of encryption that verifies information without exposing it, ensuring that competitors cannot access smart contract contents or volume discount details (Cacioli, 2020). Hence, by using blockchain technology, Coca-Cola has created tamper-evident records of all transactions, providing efficient and cost-effective algorithmic process controls.

3.4.2 Information Continuity: Sequenced State-Based Information Across Units

In addition to addressing the challenge of information concentration, blockchain technology can facilitate coordination within organizations that have internal boundaries separating different departments and functions (Wang, Lumineau, & Schilke, 2022). By using blockchain technology, organizations can create a shared, tamper-proof ledger that all parties can trust and use to track their interactions. This can help to break down organizational silos and promote transparency, accountability, and collaboration across different units. With the use of blockchain technology, managers can ensure that information flows accurately from one unit to another and leaves a comprehensive audit trail that is accessible by all parties involved. Accordingly, this can help prevent information leakage or quality deficiency and provide a secure channel for organizations to collaborate and improve their processes.

From a theoretical perspective, information continuity in analog organizations is complicated by the facts that information is often *fragmented* across compartmentalized organizational units and that such organizations require dedicated *interfaces* in the case of ERP-based information sharing (Barki & Pinsonneault, 2005; Garvin, 1998; Morton & Hu, 2008). Blockchains solve the problem of information gaps because different pieces of information build sequentially on top of each other (i.e., the input order is controlled). Thus, the order, adherence, and interdependence of processes can more easily be controlled. For example,

Chem-Corp (a pseudonym), a medium-sized chemical company in the northern Netherlands, implemented a blockchain solution to organize its internal processes based on the internal blockchain technology developed by NorthChain (2021).⁵ Part of this solution involved modeling Chem-Corp's internal processes through a flowchart and using a proprietary blockchain code compiler to translate this process diagram automatically into blockchain code. An immediate consequence of using a blockchain and the strict control, transparency, and immutability that this approach facilitates was the realization that production frequently deviated from the laboratory's chemical formulations, resulting in more than ten percent of production going to waste. With the introduction of the immutable logs recorded by the blockchain, these issues were quickly detected and traced to their origin, and production waste was reduced to zero after production fully adhered to the laboratory's prescriptions.

3.4.3 Information Conflict: Automatically Enforced Consensus-Based Resolutions

Third, managers tend to face conflicts when multiple records of information exist and they are unsure which information to believe in. Blockchains can create machine-based consensus (Lumineau et al., 2021), which helps resolve conflicts and misalignments. In one interview, it became apparent that NorthChain had improved the way one of its construction clients addresses information conflicts. Previously, the client had relied on inefficient weekly management meetings to review project status, during which "the CEO would ask middle managers questions like 'are there any problems?', and these middle managers would go to their project managers and ask [the same question]." This led to delayed, conflicting, and vague information sharing regarding all the client's projects. Instead, the construction client "wanted to have real-time information on the status of

⁵ In the following, we continue to intersperse quotations and anecdotal evidence drawn from NorthChain, a pioneer in the design and implementation of internal blockchains, to make our ideas more tangible and to shed light on a relatively recent phenomenon. These quotations serve as examples and illustrations rather than a case study, as we wish to emphasize the conceptual rather than the empirical contributions of our study. The interviews were conducted in person over three rounds to gather comprehensive information. To ensure accuracy, the interviews were recorded, transcribed verbatim, and reviewed by our interviewees to verify the quotes.

each project at all times, and [it] wanted to prevent issues exceeding time and budget," according to Herman Balsters from NorthChain. Thus, by using blockchain-based smart contracts that automatically execute payment transfers once specific milestones in the construction process are reached, the construction firm could rely less on conflicting information from middle managers and, rather, ensure that payments were made directly, promptly, and accurately, reducing the risk of payment dispute and promoting timely project completion.

In conceptual terms, information conflicts in the organizational hierarchy are resolved through *fiat* (Williamson, 1991), such that the principal enforces the information record based on authority or via centralized ERP systems that synchronize information, which can reveal conflicts but nevertheless require decisions concerning how to resolve those conflicts. Blockchains resolve information conflicts such as double-spending problems (e.g., a budget is inadvertently expended twice by different individuals) because each transaction on the blockchain is validated by a peer-to-peer network that by design prevents a transaction from being executed twice. This blockchain-native feature is already being used in many interorganizational contexts. For example, the blockchain-based solution for automotive supply parts, Vinturas, solves the problem of information conflicts between automotive suppliers and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) by producing an immutable log of parts logistics, which is updated in real-time and communicated between logistic service providers and OEMs (Vels, 2021). The fact that all information is recorded in the Vinturas blockchain improves the reliability of the data as well as the transparency of the business process for all involved parties.

In Table 3.1, we offer a comprehensive overview of this situation, illustrating the fundamental differences of blockchains from relational, contractual, and ERP-based governance mechanisms.

		Relational / Contractual	Traditional ERP*	Blockchain
nformation challenges	(1) Concentration	Diffused information stored in memory and documents	Consolidated <i>information</i> <i>stored in central</i> <i>system</i>	Distributed <i>information</i> <i>dispersed across</i> <i>nodes</i>
	(2) Continuity	Disconnected <i>information</i> <i>dispersed</i> <i>across units</i>	Interfaced information shared through dedicated interfaces	Sequenced state-based information across units
Ι	(3) Conflict	Fiat-based resolution enforced via principal	Synchronization- based reconciliation via system	Consensus-based resolutions enforced automatically

Table 3.1: How Blockchains	Address	Three	Central 2	Informatio	on
Challenges					

* Enterprise Resource Planning

As an additional, practical example, HerenBouw, an Amsterdamhas leveraged blockchain-based based building company, project management to improve its building development efficiency in commercial real estate (Blockchain Magazine, 2022; Tapscott & Vargas, 2019). Particularly, blockchain was used in a large harbor development project to register transactions and ensure accuracy and auditability. One of the challenges in the sector is the management of large teams of contractors and subcontractors, building codes, safety regulations, and standards. To address this, HerenBouw used a blockchain to track subcontractors and their tasks through a "reputation ledger," which served as a benchmark for the recruitment process. Moreover, a lifecycle ledger was used to store warranties and certifications, protect the construction process from tampering and fraud, and maintain a record of events in the lifecycle of the building. As Bassem Hamdy, CEO of Brickschain Construction Blockchain Inc., noted, "the power of [the] blockchain is that it creates very powerful standards, in a simple-to-adopt way that doesn't interfere with current processes" (Lopes, 2019).

3.5 Blockchain-induced Mechanisms of Disintermediation and Reintermediation

We continue our theorizing by examining the ways in which the implementation of intraorganizational blockchains affects the information

channels between principal and agents and, consequently, the organizational configuration in which these actors operate. Specifically, internal blockchains introduce vertical information channels that link principals and agents directly, as well as sequenced horizontal information channels that arrange agent tasks in a chained lateral process. These omnidirectional information channels (Romme, 1999, 2004) are expected to reconfigure the focal organization in terms of *vertical disintermediation* and *lateral reintermediation*, respectively. We demonstrate how, taken together, these two reconfigurations create a structure that facilitates *organization-wide consensus*. By connecting the organizational information channels enabled by blockchains with organizational structure, we lay the foundation for a more profound understanding of the implications of blockchains for organizations. In the following, we describe the reasoning underlying our claims and display the identified mechanisms visually in Figure 3.2.

3.5.1 Direct Information Channels and Vertical Disintermediation

To study the implications of blockchains for organizations, we must first understand the prevalent information channels in archetypical hierarchical organizations. Conventionally speaking, a hierarchy is constructed in a way that enables "top down" information channeling across multiple actors. Information channeling refers to the active, bidirectional provision of information and its subsequent receipt, processing, and storing in the relationship between principal and agent. For instance, a typical hierarchy includes a principal, such as a superior, who transmits information (e.g., work, tasks, states) to an agent. As the amount and scope of such information grows, a typical organizational response is to institute additional levels of the hierarchy, thereby simultaneously introducing more intermediary principals and agents to manage the newly emerging complexity (Astley, 1985; Lawrence & Poliquin, 2023). As a result, hierarchical growth inevitably leads to an "agent-principal duality" among some roles, e.g., for middle managers (Dutton & Ashford, 1993; Van Doorn et al., 2022), who report to their superior (the principal) and simultaneously delegate work to subordinate agents, e.g., regional sales managers or plant managers. The hierarchical organization embeds such dual roles as critical nodes to process information provided by principals and to translate it into coordinated work for agents as well as to communicate aggregate status and process information from the agent back to the principal to facilitate further review and decision-making (Rouleau, 2005). Hence, hierarchies tend to create top-down information channels flowing from principals who assign the task to agent-principals who assume responsibility for bidirectional information processing and then to the agents who ultimately carry out the work.

Blockchain enables principals and agents to exchange information directly, reducing the need for human-mediated information processing and providing the capacity to eliminate information asymmetries. Typically, "agent-principal" roles are responsible for information processing as well as gathering and interpreting agent information, in addition to translating principal information into manageable tasks for agents to accomplish. These roles thus become increasingly obsolete when the blockchain stores all relevant information in a tamper-evident, distributed ledger, which entails that principals can retrieve status-related information and validate it directly in the blockchain (e.g., quality gate approvals, legal signatures), while the agents input information directly to the blockchain as their work progresses. In doing so, the blockchain guarantees that information is channeled directly between principals and agents, even in large organizations (Tourish, 2005; Tourish & Robson, 2006). The use of an internal blockchain without intermediaries grants the principal access to an unbiased and undistorted view of the organization's state, facilitating processes or the reconstruction of events during crises (e.g., product recalls, customer complaints). One partner at NorthChain, Herman Balsters, expressed this situation as follows:

> "In a certain way, the blockchain is the middle manager. Because the blockchain is consistently controlling and steering what happened and will happen. [...] Middle managers tasked with coordination and control responsibilities for these types of activities and processes can be replaced to a certain extent."

Blockchains therefore enable improved vertical information channels, which in turn leads to a reconfiguration process of vertical disintermediation (Chircu & Kauffman, 1999; Clohessy et al., 2020). Two areas of such disintermediation can be expected. First, blockchains render dual agent-principal roles, such as middle managers as information processors, obsolete, leading to the downsizing of organizational hierarchy (Balogun & Johnson, 2004; Kohli & Liang, 2021). Second, by translating all information for storage into blockchain records, organizations can identify and address structural gaps that produce redundancies, leading to the elimination of inefficient or useless roles or groups of roles (Pinsonneault & Kraemer, 1997). This transparency achieved through direct information channels allows organizations to uncover redundant roles and departments, such as those that exist solely for the purpose of auditing the practices of other departments. As Stefan de Ruiter, partner at NorthChain, explained, these direct, peer-to-peer connections among agents could eliminate certain business functions:

[Using the blockchain], it is easier for higher managers (e.g., the CEO or line managers) to get their KPIs and other management information directly. It is easier for them to acquire that information. And, depending on the firm's needs and wants, it is no longer required for subordinates to report to managers, as managers automatically have access to this information. [...] We did see the elimination of almost an entire department.

However, while blockchain-induced vertical disintermediation provides transparency and efficiency benefits, its append-only and immutable nature may cause information overload, leading to decision paralysis and negatively affecting decision-making processes (Junge, Luger, & Mammen, 2023; Reutskaja, Iyengar, Fasolo, & Misuraca, 2020). That is, as Simon (1971: pp. 40-41) famously indicated, "what information consumes is [...] the attention of its recipients." By eliminating the role of information processors, who filter and transmit relevant information (Beck & Plowman, 2009; Guth & Macmillan, 1986; Schilt, 1987), a blockchain thus transmits all information in an unfiltered fashion. According to NorthChain, this impairment can only be resolved at the application level: "managers only see the actual workflow being done; not the technical details of the underlying blockchain implementation." Failure to address this issue could obstruct decision-making by increasing the difficulty for managers to acquire and process the most relevant information, which could impact strategic, private, or political decision-making (Aldrich & Herker, 1977; Stevenson & Gilly, 1991). Additionally, the lack of middle management for information filtering and transmission may impede agent execution at the operational levels of the focal organization because agents often rely on intermediary roles for clear and prioritized instruction to achieve strategic goals (Shi, Markoczy, & Dess, 2009). Finally, downsizing the organization can result in less "issue selling" from middle management toward top management (Dutton & Ashford, 1993: 407), which, in a blockchain scenario, rests solely on agents or principals that might lack the time, resources, knowledge, skill, or motivation to drive strategic initiatives themselves. Ultimately, while blockchain-induced vertical disintermediation holds promise for a flatter and more efficient organizational structure, it may come at the cost of increased cognitive load for organizational actors due to its higher information volume.

3.5.2 Sequenced Information and Lateral Reintermediation

The top-down, vertical information channeling that occurs in the hierarchy discussed previously demonstrates a second important characteristic of hierarchies, namely, the fact that the hierarchy is structured in a way that constrains horizontal information channeling (Knight, 1976; Lu & Wedig, 2013). Because the hierarchy relies on information channels between principals and agents and because agent information needs to be reported back to principals, the archetypical hierarchy does not facilitate or reward sideways information channeling among agents. This lack of communication can result in missed opportunities for synergistic agent-toagent exchange, which could improve the overall process. Even though the principal may assume that they know all the information that is required to make the best decision for both agents, the principal cannot know what is not shared or what is withheld by noncollaborating agents or what those agents may have gained by working with each other. Since they tend to facilitate top-down and bottom-up information channels, hierarchies tend to understimulate the diversified information sharing among agents that is necessary for cross-functional alignment (Aalbers, Dolfsma, & Leenders, 2016).

A blockchain has the potential to connect agents directly via a peerto-peer network, which can promote horizontal information channeling across functional silos (Akoramurthy & Kumar, 2020). Specifically, blockchains connect each actor involved in a given process using *permissions*, which are programmatic ways of assigning roles, responsibilities, procedures, and objectives to physical human agents via the

blockchain. In our interviews with NorthChain, such permissions in the internal blockchain context were viewed as "a certain authorization to perform some step in the process." By connecting agents directly and enabling the required level of agent authority, the blockchain improves the channeling of horizontal information, as agents are not disconnected via the mediation of a principal but are rather tied together systemically for equivalent or related business processes. Herman Balsters further explained that "the process model will be the organizational blueprint of how you are going to work [...]. So, the process model is going to be all-important if you are going to do this horizontal integration." This horizontal agent tie in the context of common business processes is particularly valuable when the agents could benefit from project-specific but relevant knowledge (Hansen, 2002), when agents are associated with competing units (Tsai, 2002), to reduce the distortions in communication between various units (Albaum, 1964), or simply when increased information diversity is a relevant aim (Aalbers et al., 2016). A blockchain can even automate step-by-step progression from agent to agent, e.g., when a task is verified as complete and not missing additional input, which renders agent communication nearautonomous (e.g., via smart contracts that are automatically executed given predefined conditions). Thereby, the blockchain improves agent information channeling and interdependence in a horizontal fashion and reduces the need to assign this capability of facilitating information flows among agents to a middleman.

Paradoxically, while vertical disintermediation results from direct information channels, a blockchain can introduce a novel form of *lateral reintermediation* among agents who are separated by mediating agents in the context of a formalized workflow. Lateral reintermediation occurs when agents in the blockchain are obligated to collaborate due to the rigid programming of the blockchain, even if the agents in question are organizationally separated by their inclusion in different segments of the hierarchical strata (Dahlander & O'Mahony, 2011; Galbraith, 1994; Hinds & Kiesler, 1995). This situation occurs because a blockchain operates in sequential phases, such that each task performed and recorded by one agent is reviewed and continued by other agents. Herman Balsters from NorthChain explained this rigidity as follows: "everybody involved agrees on how the process is to be executed [...] and no deviation from the agreed upon process is possible." In some instances, such horizontal ties may facilitate peer-to-peer interactions that would not have occurred naturally, which may prove to be useful. For example, if agents work in different geographical locations and if the output of one production plant serves as input for another, a blockchain could provide a reliable line of rich information exchange among agents, whereby prior to the implementation of the blockchain, direct interactions would have been rare. Although a blockchain can be used to transmit richer information from agent to agent, which offers clear benefits, an inflexible development process may emerge, such that it is difficult for agents to skip steps in the process and thereby bypass predesignated agents (Downs, 1967; MacCormack, Verganti, & Iansiti, 2001). In neglecting these often invisible and informal "behind the scenes" processes, blockchains fail to account for informal organizational structures (Soda & Zaheer, 2012). Consequently, blockchain-induced lateral reintermediation can ultimately prolong organizational processes and increase inefficiencies.

While lateral reintermediation has certain downsides in terms of the rigidity and strict lateral channeling of information, the blockchain that enables it provides new ways of monitoring and enables novel incentives for information sharing among agents. On the one hand, blockchain-induced lateral reintermediation facilitates a form of "agent-to-agent" monitoring (Homburg, Vomberg, & Muehlhaeuser, 2020; Varian, 1990) that shifts monitoring activities away from principals and toward agents who have a clear stake in the information chain. This can lead to an increase in agent accountability and reduce monitoring costs for principals. On the other hand, blockchain technology allows for clear identification of which agent contributed what information, promoting transparency, reducing subjective performance measures on which agent incentives are based (e.g., Baker, Gibbons, & Murphy, 1994), and reducing wiggle room for free riding (e.g., Jones, 1984). For example, the use of smart contracts in a blockchain can incentivize agents to share information by automatically rewarding them for their contributions to the collective effort (i.e., "who did what and at which time," in the words of Herman Balsters). Hence, by facilitating diversified information sharing among agents, the lateral reintermediation of blockchains can help achieve cross-functional alignment, which is essential for the efficient and effective functioning of an organization (Aalbers et al., 2016).





3.5.3 Organization-Wide Consensus

As a result of vertical disintermediation and lateral reintermediation, the blockchain's algorithmic transaction protocol increases organizationwide consensus (i.e., an algorithmically supported agreement regarding records and states), ultimately contributing to the alignment of organizational processes and facilitating goal pursuit. On the one hand, vertical disintermediation produces a bidirectional line of reporting that principals can use to align and update information. Vertical disintermediation creates consensus because the relevant information becomes more transparent, reliable, and constantly monitorable by all parties (we illustrate this point in the networked structure displayed on the right side of Figure 3.2). On the other hand, lateral reintermediation establishes a sequenced flow of information among agents, which the principal can use to initiate a workflow and agents can use to advance the workflow in a sustained matter without having to rely on further guidance or approval from principals. Similarly, lateral reintermediation contributes to the organization's level of consensus because the desired workflow is programmed into the blockchain, which limits deviations from the intended processes. In simple terms, a blockchain increases organization-wide consensus because it distributes information and reorders the ways in which organizational actors work to achieve a common outcome. In the words of Herman Balsters from NorthChain, "[the blockchain] amounts to a transparent, traceable, safe, and logged process. The involved parties work in networked setting, with no need for hierarchy."

We conclude our argument with the example of Allianz, a global insurance company that has successfully implemented enterprise blockchain technology to improve its claims management processes (Ledger Insights, 2021). This insurer chose blockchain technology because it provides controls that naturally align with its needs in internal claims processes, e.g., to codify, audit, and mandate the reconciliation of claims. For example, without the blockchain, a customer insured by Allianz Hungary involved in a car accident in France would trigger a cumbersome back-and-forth email process among Allianz' legal entities taking weeks to resolve. With its blockchain technology, when a customer submits an automobile accident insurance claim, Allianz can log data such as policy number, claim number, countries involved, and other details on the international claims portal connected to the country's node on the blockchain network, spurring cross-border collaboration and breaking down otherwise siloed entities. The blockchain also streamlines governance among legal entities through smart contracts, which automatically determine how claim costs are to be shared across organizations (i.e., "burden-sharing") in accordance with local tax law. By deploying Hyperledger Fabric across 23 internal companies, Allianz has thus ensured a single source record of any decision on each claim, significantly reducing administration times from weeks to minutes and providing faster claim settlement for customers. While introducing this technology has presented several challenges to Allianz, such as ensuring internal stakeholder alignment and raising awareness for the technology, the company intends to open its blockchain network to external organizations in the future.

3.6 Implications for Agency Theory

In the previous section, we explored the ways in which blockchains facilitate unobstructed channels of information within the organization, thereby enabling an organizational reconfiguration that features elements of vertical disintermediation and lateral reintermediation. We now examine how blockchain-based organizing may advance, challenge, or extend agency theory, which has focused on the hierarchical and bureaucratic organization as the predominant organizational form (Monteiro & Adler, 2022). Because organizations are essentially multiagent systems that have system-level goals, it is important to understand the context in which principals and agents work together to achieve their systemic goals (Puranam et al., 2014). Extending our prior arguments, we explore three possible changes with respect to the organization's (1) *chain of command*, (2) *unity of direction*, and (3) *span of control*. Figure 3.3 presents these implications visually.

First, a blockchain-based perspective on organizing deviates from the traditional view of organizing proposed by agency theory in that the *chain of command* becomes significantly flatter in the former case, thus reducing the number of contracts that govern the individuals within the organization (Dutton & Ashford, 1993; Jensen & Meckling, 1976). By definition, the chain of command in an organization ensures that principals can divide and assign tasks to agents and provide the information necessary to complete these tasks. In conventional hierarchies, the chain of command is constructed to contain intermediary roles, such as those of middle managers, who are responsible for aggregating and disseminating information (in both top-down and bottom-up ways), which is an important aspect of such hierarchies that allows them to manage complexity. In contrast, the blockchain's chain of command contains the principal and agent roles only due to vertical disintermediation. Accordingly, principals and agents can interact directly without any intermediaries. The upside of this difference is that information

can be transmitted in an unfiltered way to allow the principal to select the information on which they should act. The downside is that the principal's cognitive load increases with each additional agent reporting to them via the blockchain, hence slowing both strategic and tactical decision making. Overall, the chain of command becomes flatter following the implementation of a blockchain since fewer intermediary roles are required to reach the same organizational outcome.

Second, a blockchain-based perspective on organizing presents a challenge to agency theory because the unity of direction in blockchainbased organizations is far more autonomous and less dependent on principal intervention. The unity of direction ensures that agents work together crossfunctionally to reach a desired organizational outcome. In a prototypical hierarchy, the unity of direction is established by the principal, who institutes process controls that are continuously monitored (Wiseman & Gomez-Mejia, 1998). Ultimately, it is the principal who monitors the progression and alignment of agents within the hierarchy and who shares with agents a variety of information that is necessary for cross-functional alignment (Aalbers et al., 2016). By introducing a blockchain-enabled process, the unity of direction is embedded in the system directly and enforced algorithmically based on predefined protocols. Accordingly, agents are incentivized by blockchain-based controls to act responsibly, as the embedded contract becomes more process-oriented. The upside of the blockchain in this context is that agents are connected to one another directly (i.e., due to lateral reintermediation) and hence do not require constant input from the principal to complete tasks and pass on state-based information. A critical downside is that agents rely less on human interaction and thus may become repetitive with regard to their routines, leading to a more monotonous, less creative organizational environment. In summary, the unity of direction becomes more self-sustaining due to the implementation of a blockchain because less direction from principal roles is required for agents to sustain their workflow and reach outcomes in a self-sufficient manner.

Finally, a blockchain-based perspective on organizing extends agency theory by demonstrating how the *span of control* in organizations governed by blockchains can reduce principals' control and increase agents' control in the form of a peer-to-peer network. The span of control refers to the way in which control is exerted to ensure that principal and agent outcomes and behaviors are consistently optimal. Hierarchies typically allow principals to exert control from the top, which extends to the lower orders of

the hierarchy and ensures that agents comply with the principals' expectations. Blockchain-based organizing enables both principals and agents to exert control in the form of a "checks-and-balances" system in which all relevant actors participate, demonstrating the fact that this logic does not apply exclusively to principals. A checks-and-balances system emerges because the blockchain includes embedded consensus mechanisms that must operate over multiple nodes, and principal nodes alone would likely not suffice to meet the verification needs of an entire organization. The upside of such blockchain-based organizing is that the organization, as the sum of its actors (principal and agent nodes), is constantly monitored by all participants regardless of their rank in the organization, which can reveal suboptimal behaviors at all levels. The downside is that accountability in a blockchain-based organization can continue to be unequally distributed (e.g., via a proof-of-authority consensus mechanism), which gives higher weight to principals' votes and lower weight to agents' votes and effectively preserves an unbalanced hierarchy in the design of the organization's consensus mechanism. In fact, a senior manager implementing an internal blockchain for an automotive client highlighted the "challenges of identifying neutral nodes required for consensus mechanisms within the hierarchy" due to status and role identities and questioned whether "[...] neutrality is even wanted by managers." Overall, however, the span of control becomes more multilateral following the implementation of a blockchain, giving less voice to principals alone and offering more room for agents to hold principals and peers accountable.



Figure 3.3: Implications of Blockchain-Based Organizing for Agency Theory

73

3.7 Discussion and Implications

Our theorizing has highlighted the implications of using blockchain in organizations for their governance and design. Broadly speaking, we build on the notion that the distributed, sequenced, and consensus-based nature of blockchains has the potential to reduce information asymmetries within the organization, which in turn mitigates principal-agent problems and enables new organizational structures. Building upon agency theory (Eisenhardt, 1989a; Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Mitnick, 2021), we propose a fresh interpretation of blockchains that shifts the focus from the conventional interorganizational perspective to a microlevel, intraorganizational outlook, which distinguishes our work from previous blockchain-related research. We demonstrate how blockchains can resolve specific challenges related to information concentration, continuity, and conflict and explain the ways in which these challenges are provoked through principal-agent information asymmetries (Figure 3.1). We also elaborate on how blockchains can address governance-related information challenges differently compared to relational / contractual and ERP-based governance mechanisms (Table 3.1). On this basis, we show how principal-agent information channels change due to the blockchain's distributed and sequenced nature and demonstrate how these changes ultimately lead to organization-wide information consensus among principals and agents and impact organizational design (Figure 3.2). As our final contribution, we highlight the key implications of blockchainbased organizing for agency theory (Figure 3.3).

Theoretical Implications

Most importantly, our study extends the conceptual foundation for enterprise blockchains, an emerging and impactful technology (Lacity, 2018; Lumineau et al., 2021), by examining the mechanisms underlying the use of blockchains for organizational governance. We justify this extension on the grounds that most blockchain research has thus far focused on cryptocurrencies and interorganizational applications (Cheng et al., 2019; Chod et al., 2020); insufficient consideration has been given to understanding the governance mechanisms involved in the use of blockchains for intraorganizational purposes (Goldsby & Hanisch, 2022; Murray et al., 2021). We wish to draw attention to the theoretical mechanisms associated with internal blockchains as a specific and less understood application of that technology by focusing on internal processes and governance of the hierarchical firm. As blockchain technology matures, we also expect to see an increasing number of applications of internal blockchains in the business world with potentially significant implications for organizational structures. By linking blockchains to firm-internal governance problems, we also transform our understanding of governance as a "nexus of contracts" (Jensen & Meckling, 1976: p. 311) by developing the conceptual basis for an interpretation according to which blockchains can form the basis for a "nexus of smart contracts" that mitigates alignment and contract enforceability problems (Magelssen et al., 2022).

On a broader note, blockchains are part of a larger trend of digital transformation driven by a variety of different and complementary technologies (Hanelt et al., 2020: 13). Next to blockchain, AI is another example of how digital transformation is shaping organizations. For example, Dixon, Hong, and Wu (2021) have studied how adoption of automated processes inside organizations can lead to a decrease in the total number of managers, and that those managers who are retained in the organization increase their span of control, which speaks to our propositions of vertical disintermediation, and opposes our propositions with regard to the span of control, which shifts toward agents and does not solely rest on managers. Moreover, new forms of opportunism are set to emerge in the AI context as well. For example, Kellogg et al. (2020) study the concept of noncooperation in the AI context, by which employees develop new ways of engaging in psychological, social, temporal, or physical niches in their workplace to avoid algorithmic control. The authors discuss the opportunistic notions of foot-dragging, gaming the system, open critique, and leveraging or bypassing algorithms to resist control, which speak to the blockchain's new forms of opportunism regarding algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, and off-chain foregoing (we expand on these terms in our detailed research agenda as part of our Online Appendix). Despite their potential to yield similar outcomes, AI and blockchain are characterized by different technological attributes, with AI being a probabilistic technology and blockchain a deterministic one. Especially in governance contexts, where control and certainty are paramount, blockchains have the potential to cultivate stability and predictability—an aspect that probabilistic AI models inherently lack.

3.8 Blockchains Inside Organizations: Avenues for Future Research

We recommend several important avenues for future research that connect fundamental concepts in the organization literature and the recent phenomenon of the use of blockchains for internal purposes. In our Online Appendix and summarized in Table 3.2, we offer a research agenda for blockchains in organizations that is organized into three levels of inquiry: (1) Individuals, (2) Teams, and (3) Organizations. Even though our theory focuses most prominently on the organizational level of inquiry, we see clear implications for related issues at the individual and group levels. Specifically, the network perspective that we propose on the organizational level can similarly be used at all other levels (individual, group), meaning that multiple units of analysis are theoretically compatible when studying blockchains. In the Online Appendix, we elaborate on each avenue and provide examples.

Table 3.2: Avenues for Future Research

 (1) Individuals Blockchains as a superseding role: What are the factors that determine the suitability of human tasks for blockchain governance? What are the implications of blockchain governance for task performance and outcomes? Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				
 What are the factors that determine the suitability of human tasks for blockchain governance? What are the implications of blockchain governance for task performance and outcomes? Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 		(1) Individuals	٠	Blockchains as a superseding role:
 human tasks for blockchain governance? What are the implications of blockchain governance for task performance and outcomes? Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off- chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				What are the factors that determine the suitability of
 What are the implications of blockchain governance for task performance and outcomes? Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				human tasks for blockchain governance?
 for task performance and outcomes? Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				What are the implications of blockchain governance
 Blockchains as an incentive scheme: How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				for task performance and outcomes?
 How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing:			•	Blockchains as an incentive scheme:
 to monitor whether principals honor their incentive agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing:				How do intraorganizational blockchains enable agents
 agreements? Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				to monitor whether principals honor their incentive
 Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of opportunism: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing:	ns			agreements?
 <i>opportunism</i>: How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? <i>Blockchains for team organizing</i>: 	atio		٠	Blockchains as a breeding ground for new forms of
 How do intraorganizational blockchains entice employees to engage in new forms of opportunism (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	niz			opportunism:
 (2) <i>Teams</i> <i>Blockchains for team organizing</i>: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? <i>Blockchains for interteam coordination</i>: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? <i>Blockchains for team performance</i>: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	iga			How do intraorganizational blockchains entice
 (e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal monitoring? (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	õ			employees to engage in new forms of opportunism
 (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	ide			(e.g., algorithm tricking, validator persuasion, off-
 (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	Ins			chain foregoing) that pose threats for principal
 (2) Teams Blockchains for team organizing: How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	ins			monitoring?
 How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	cha	(2) Teams	٠	Blockchains for team organizing:
 dynamics of lateral team relationships? Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	Š			How do intraorganizational blockchains influence the
 Blockchains for interteam coordination: When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 	B			dynamics of lateral team relationships?
 When and why do blockchains improve interteam coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 			٠	Blockchains for interteam coordination:
 coordination? How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				When and why do blockchains improve interteam
 How do blockchains complement or substitute for the roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				coordination?
 roles of lateral and hierarchical authority? Blockchains for team performance: Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance? 				How do blockchains complement or substitute for the
• Blockchains for team performance : Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance?				roles of lateral and hierarchical authority?
Under which conditions do intraorganizational blockchains improve team performance?			٠	Blockchains for team performance:
blockchains improve team performance?				Under which conditions do intraorganizational
				blockchains improve team performance?

(3) Organizations	٠	Blockchains and organization design:
		How do intraorganizational blockchains change the
		design of organizations?
	٠	Blockchains and stakeholder transparency:
		To what extent do intraorganizational blockchains
		prevent potential negative societal effects (e.g., insider
		trading, top management scandals, structural
		exclusions) that result from a lack of stakeholder
		transparency?
	٠	Blockchains and information processing:
		Under what circumstances do blockchains complement
		and substitute for managerial experience and intuition?
		How do blockchains as information structuring tools
		and artificial intelligence as information processing
		tools influence strategic decision-making in firms?

Future research could leverage our conceptual framework through various empirical methods. To study the impact of intraorganizational blockchains on the relationship between principals and agents, researchers can use experimental research methods to understand the behavioral patterns, responses, and changes of employees who use blockchains in their workflows compared to a control group that does not use blockchains. Such experiments may shed light on the technostress that blockchains create (e.g., cognitive load) in contrast to the value that they add (e.g., efficient routines). Additionally, researchers can use blockchain transaction data within organizations to track the flow of information. This analysis can provide insights into the patterns of information distribution, sequencing, and access on the blockchain, as well as identify potential issues or conflicts that arise. By combining qualitative and quantitative data, researchers can gain a comprehensive understanding of the effects of intraorganizational blockchains on governance and organizational design.

Overall, our paper offers a new perspective on governance in the algorithmic age. We show how blockchains are a valuable tool that allows managers to make organizational processes more transparent and secure, which has implications for both organizational structures and for an organization's relationship with its stakeholders. Hence, we view our paper as a starting point for a fruitful debate concerning blockchains as forms of organizational knowledge engineering, with ample opportunity to connect with various academic conversations in the field of management.

CHAPTER 4. HIERARCHIES IN HIERARCHY-FREE SYSTEMS: UNDERSTANDING THE ANTECEDENTS OF CONSORTIA FORMATION IN ENTERPRISE BLOCKCHAINS

Embargoed due to chapter being under review at an academic journal

CHAPTER 5. THE LEAD ORGANIZATION PARADOX: HOW BLOCKCHAIN FOUNDERS NAVIGATE TRUST AND CONTROL TENSIONS IN INTERORGANIZATIONAL NETWORKS

Embargoed due to chapter being under review at an academic journal

CHAPTER 6. BENEATH THE SURFACE: HOW IMPRINTS SHAPE THE GOVERNANCE OF ENTERPRISE BLOCKCHAIN NETWORKS

Embargoed due to chapter being under review at an academic journal

CHAPTER 7. THE BOON AND BANE OF BLOCKCHAIN: GETTING THE GOVERNANCE RIGHT

Goldsby, C.M., Hanisch, M. (2022). The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right. California Management Review, 64(3):141-168.

7.1 Introduction

Blockchain is all about getting into an agreement with different partners, [...] having the power of influencing, and the power of establishing governance. – Manager of an oil and gas blockchain

Enterprise blockchains are hailed as the key to secure and transparent processing of complex transactions within and between organizations (Lacity, 2018). Enterprise blockchains are a peer-to-peer technology for validating and immutably storing transactions on a shared ledger that is distributed to participating enterprise nodes. While enterprise blockchains are increasingly recognized by managers as effective governance tools that reach far beyond the cryptocurrency domain, frustration is growing over the question of *how* to govern such blockchain networks. In the business context, the governance question around blockchains is often more critical and complex than the decisions to use and implement the technology. In fact, choosing the appropriate governance mode early on is crucial for the success of enterprise blockchain initiatives, especially when managing complex transactions with many parties (Zavolokina et al., 2020).

While recent research has highlighted the potential of blockchain technologies to govern complex business transactions in secure and transparent ways (Clohessy et al., 2020; Hanisch et al., 2022b; Trabucchi et

al., 2020), the practical challenges that come with implementing a digital governance system have been largely ignored. An implicit assumption in existing research is that blockchains are self-sufficient forms of governance that run more or less "autonomously" (Lumineau et al., 2021). However, in practice, this idealized view of blockchain is rarely tenable, as managers often face significant challenges in coordinating and controlling joint actions of a blockchain network (Chen et al., 2021b). Therefore, managers need to be aware that blockchains typically require governance mechanisms that are layered on top the technical foundation provided by blockchains to achieve desired business objectives and avoid serious conflicts that could hinder adoption and success. Managers would strongly benefit from systematic approaches to blockchain governance that allow them to achieve a good fit between the blockchain as a generic technological solution and the specific needs that arise in the organizational context. At the same time, very little guidance exists for managers on how to deal with the issue of blockchain governance, as most existing blockchain research is rather technical and does not directly focus on managerial implications beyond the adoption decision (Ziolkowski et al., 2020). Creating a strong alignment between technological solution and organizational needs is thus very challenging and could explain the limited success of enterprise blockchains thus far (Gartner, 2019).

To provide clearer governance guidelines for managers seeking to implement enterprise blockchain solutions, we combine insights from governance research (Lumineau et al., 2021; Ziolkowski et al., 2020) and our analysis of publicly documented blockchain use cases with rich findings from 153 expert interviews with blockchain executives and our case studies on IBM Food Trust[™] and TradeLens. A central finding from the analysis of our extensive interview material is that blockchain initiatives are most successful when the underlying coordination and control issues are clearly understood and accounted for at the onset. To facilitate this important governance decision, we derive a corresponding framework that yields four generic blockchain governance modes: (1) chief, (2) clan, (3) custodian, and (4) consortium. We show which of these modes is best suited for what type of projects and give examples from blockchain use cases to illustrate each mode. Since networks are often dynamic and necessitate adjustments in governance, we further devise four strategic moves (connecting, isolating, loosening, tightening) to channel directive actions around blockchain governance adaptations. Our overview can assist managers navigating the

complex governance choices and dynamics inherent to enterprise blockchain networks to fully leverage the technology's potential.

We integrate our governance typology with a three-stage process model that summarizes the critical decisions involving blockchain governance: (1) analysis, (2) adoption, and (3) adjustment. First, to identify the most appropriate blockchain governance form, managers need to carefully analyze the network in which blockchain will be deployed, taking into account the needs and concerns of participants, to understand existing network interdependencies and competitive tensions. Second, managers should seek to understand for whom and for what purpose the blockchain is being used to tailor the coordination and control mechanisms to the network structure and the needs of the participants. Finally, managers must be aware of governance dynamics in the network that may require continuous governance adjustments. Therefore, managers may need to adapt blockchain governance over time to allow for dynamic growth of the network. This process-oriented view of blockchain governance provides the flexibility needed to steer digital organizations. Taken together, our strategic framework can help managers navigate the governance challenges around enterprise blockchains and provides a useful theoretical foundation for the emerging scholarship on blockchains.

7.2 How Firms Respond to the Blockchain Governance Challenge

The origins of digital blockchain networks can be traced to the cryptocurrency Bitcoin, which introduced modern distributed ledger technologies (Nakamoto, 2008). In essence, blockchain technologies provide decentralized and immutable transaction records that enable so-called "smart contracts" (Cong & He, 2019) that execute, track, and validate transactions among peers without relying on intermediaries (Androulaki et al., 2018). In other words, blockchains are decentralized databases (transparency) where new data can only be appended if there is consensus on the new record among participants (validation), and where no data can be deleted once it is registered in the database (immutability). Given these technical features, blockchains are particularly effective for securing information flows where network participants may not fully trust each other and the risk of fraud or opportunistic behavior is high (Babich & Hilary, 2020; Beck et al., 2018).

Since their inception, blockchain technologies have evolved far beyond the cryptocurrency domain and have expanded to the enterprise

domain.¹⁵ Enterprise blockchains are featured in many applications across industries including the automobile, energy, food, global trade, government services, healthcare, and real estate industries. Blockchains promise significant economic benefits due to their ability to cut out the "middleman" without sacrificing security (Chod et al., 2020; Lemieux et al., 2020), which permits direct transactions among business partners, faster and cheaper settlements, tracking and tracing of assets, data provenance, and tamper-proof security models (Hastig & Sodhi, 2020). However, as blockchain efforts among enterprises grow, so do the challenges in orchestrating the technology effectively within and across organizational boundaries (Cennamo et al., 2020).

Blockchain technologies offer an exciting opportunity to digitally manage large intra- and inter-organizational networks (Halaburda & Mueller-Bloch, 2019; Vergne, 2020; Yermack, 2017). As companies operate in increasingly large and interconnected networks of customers, partners, subsidiaries, suppliers, and regulators, the need to manage these transactions efficiently and securely has also increased (Jones et al., 1997; Provan & Kenis, 2008; Uzzi, 1997). It has long been recognized in the management literature that network governance is central to business success, as companies operate in value networks that can only create value through the interplay of cooperation and competition (Jarillo, 1988; Nalebuff & Brandenburger, 1997). At the same time, managing large networks presents managers with significant challenges, as they must bring together and align different actors with sometimes shared, sometimes competing goals.

¹⁵ The main differences between enterprise blockchains and traditional blockchain applications used for cryptocurrencies relate to the access restrictions and verification mechanisms. While traditional blockchains are permissionless and have algorithmic validation mechanisms (e.g., proof-of-stake or proof-of-work), enterprise blockchains are usually permissioned, i.e., access is regulated by one or a group of authorized entities and validation is often ensured by the same entity. However, both blockchain types have in common that they provide high levels transparency through a decentralized database coupled with immutable append-only data records.

Blockchain technologies thus provide only the bedrock of digital network governance and require careful design.

To illustrate how successful blockchain networks approach governance, let us consider the example of IBM Food Trust[™], which used two different governance modes during its evolution to accelerate growth.¹⁶ IBM Food TrustTM aims to offer its network participants (e.g., farmers, truckers, and retailers) greater traceability, transparency, and efficiency for food provenance. IBM Food TrustTM was created by the technology firm IBM, in collaboration with the global retail giant Walmart, after a successful proof-of-concept with Tsinghua University in 2016 (Allison, 2021b). In this blockchain project, IBM retained control over most strategic decisions and tightly coordinated activities with Walmart, who provided industry-specific knowledge and resources to develop the solution for its own interorganizational supply chain network (Banda, Hamilton, Lowry, & Widdifield, 2020). However, it soon became clear that the blockchain's ultimate success would depend on attracting many more network participants who were critically important in the food industry: "We saw that a lot of the stuff that we had developed was really tailored towards one kind of retailer [...]. We quickly realized that if everybody was supposed to participate and even though in the supply chains the retailer is king—you still really have to give everyone value," a program director at IBM recalled.

IBM and Walmart had to pivot, proving that competitors could collaborate in the same network. With Walmart as its primary trust anchor, the blockchain solution was successfully piloted among the retailer, some suppliers, and trucking companies, which represented only a small fraction of the industry. After fruitful pilots with Walmart, additional key players from the industry, including Carrefour, Dole, Kroger, Nestlé, and Unilever were eager to join in. "Together, powerful retailers and food manufacturers can do a whole lot more," said Kroger VP Howard Popoola when interviewed on Food Trust (Teicher, 2021). To accommodate competitors' skepticism about the blockchain's organization that was geared toward Walmart, the governance mode assumed in the beginning had to give way to a new structure. The addition of large players called for a more decentralized

¹⁶ The authors have conducted extensive qualitative study of IBM Food TrustTM, TradeLens and related enterprise blockchain platforms as part of their academic research.

governance approach to reflect the increasing interdependencies across organizational boundaries. In response, IBM decided to introduce coordination mechanisms designed for multiple retailers—such as Carrefour and Kroger-that were competitors to Walmart. This new coordination structure manifested in the introduction of guidelines for decentralized data ownership, clear rules of engagement, and advisory councils (IBM, 2020c). In the words of the IBM General Manager of Blockchain Ecosystems, Raj Rao, "the advisory council is basically a convening initiative where IBM plays the role of a convener to bring together the industry while they have competing businesses and often different viewpoints on challenges in the industry. They also share a lot of the same challenges: data security, trust in data, the ability to have systems that can interoperate with one another, the ability to agree to common standards for sharing data. These are things that everyone in the food industry, or even in the logistics industry tends to agree are universal challenges. [...] Being able to use a platform that solved the majority of the challenges, I think, was the most interesting aspect of driving it forward."

Today, IBM Food Trust[™] is one of the largest and most active enterprise blockchain networks (IBM, 2018). This telling example of a successful blockchain governance implementation holds many important lessons for managers. Most importantly, IBM Food Trust[™] has managed to design effective governance structures and adapt them over time. In the following, we systematize the underlying strategic rationales and provide a guide for managers charged with blockchain governance.

7.3 A Strategic Guide to Enterprise Blockchain Governance

When it comes to deploying blockchains in a business context, managers should think far beyond the mere technical aspects. Most importantly, managers need to establish clear governance structures for blockchains that closely align with the overall vision for the network and reflect the parties' roles in the transaction network. Previous research has begun to recognize the importance of blockchain governance to the overall success of blockchain initiatives (Hsieh, Vergne, & Wang, 2017; Pelt, Jansen, Baars, & Overbeek, 2020). An important insight from this emerging scholarship is that blockchains do not represent a self-sufficient governance mode but need to be complemented by a well-balanced governance structure that is layered on top of the technical solution to ensure that the blockchain solution addresses the desired business needs (Chen et al., 2021b). In particular, this includes the careful consideration of the coordination and control challenges that arise when blockchains connect multiple actors. To provide managers with a guide to these challenges, we complement existing insights and the experiences of blockchain experts who we interviewed to focus attention on the most pressing and common issues in establishing enterprise blockchain networks.

> "It is important to realize that blockchains are typically used for business processes where trust is critical. Because of this sensitivity, it is a highly strategic, highly political technology decision to adopt blockchains." – CEO of blockchain service provider

Research Methods

Our findings originate from extensive qualitative, in-depth interviews about blockchain governance and adjacent themes with 153 blockchain executives worldwide. The sample covers most major sectors, including financial, information industrial. consumer goods. technology, telecommunication, and utilities. The interviews took place between 2019 and 2021. Each interview lasted between 25 and 90 minutes and was recorded and transcribed verbatim for subsequent qualitative analysis using Atlas.ti. In the analysis of our interview material, we followed established research methods (Miles, Huberman, & Saldaña, 2014). The findings for this article are based on direct quotes from practitioners that we aggregated to overarching themes and dimensions (Gioia, Corley, & Hamilton, 2013). The insights presented here reflect a synthesis of the most salient topics described by managers, which appear to be of particular practical relevance. All company and individual information in this article is drawn from publicly available sources or we have obtained explicit permission to use them. At the request of some interviewees, we anonymized some of the quotes to protect blockchain projects that were considered highly confidential. We supplement our interview material with our extensive analysis of blockchain use cases that are publicly documented as a means to balance and triangulate our interview material. Details on the methods and supporting interview quotes can be found in our Online Appendix.

7.4 Coordination and Control in Blockchain Networks

A recurrent theme in the governance literature and our interviews relates to the management of the coordination and control challenges presented in blockchain networks (Iansiti & Lakhani, 2017; Lumineau et al., 2021). These challenges arise because blockchains often forge new connections and change the way transactions are carried out. From a technical perspective, this reorganization occurs because blockchains enforce radical peer-to-peer interactions in a decentralized way, which departs from the traditional hierarchical forms of organizing and the reliance on intermediaries (Chircu & Kauffman, 1999; Williamson, 1991). The shift gives rise to coordination and control concerns that are unique to the blockchain context, and which pose a critical managerial challenge. Table 7.1 highlights these coordination and control challenges of blockchain governance, along with illustrative evidence from our interviews.

7.4.1 Coordination

We told our blockchain client from the beginning: 'you need to set up structured governance processes. We need to *coordinate* more,' and they always refrained from including additional parties in their process. – Architect of a construction blockchain

Coordination refers to the management of interdependencies that exist within and across organizations (Gittell, 2000; Schepker et al., 2014). Since blockchains are often used in environments with high organizational interdependencies, there are numerous coordination tasks that occur over the lifecycle of a blockchain. Our research identified three distinct coordination challenges that are elemental to the design of blockchain governance: (1) alignment and interfaces, (2) resource deployment and operations, and (3) mutual adjustments. Regarding the first challenge, our interviewees highlighted how coordination was often needed during initial project phases to align the high number of interdependent organizations around a common purpose while simultaneously getting organizations to use the same (technical) language. Next comes the problem of coordination during the execution phase, when there is typically a strong need to coordinate the effective use of resources and the ongoing operation of the blockchain. A third major coordinative task surfaces during the adjustment phase that demands a form of coordinated adaptation among network members, especially when new members join or existing members exit.

Blockchain		Blockchain Lifecycle					
Governance Theme	Initiation	Execution	Adaptation				
1. Coordination	Alignment & interfaces	Resource deployment & operations	Mutual adjustment				
Why it is important	Describes the number of interdependencies among organizations in the blockchain that require alignment around its purpose and success factors, onboarding and integration (including standards).	Details how day-to- day operations in the blockchain take place among onboarded / integrated network participants.	Defines collective response strategies to changing circum- stances related to the blockchain (e.g., when new members join or existing members exit).				
Illustrative quotes	"So, the real objective here is to have more information shared around the table than information not shared, to make sure that everyone has a set of alignment in term of strategy of the initiative and a way to operationalize that." – Manager of mobility blockchain	"[The client] decided to take charge of the resources needed to 'blockchainize'" – Project manager of blockchain for food retail	"I would add being really agile. Pivoting along the evolution, with many, many things that none of us could ever anticipate because we are entering new grounds." – Architect of governmental blockchain				
	"The technology was very new and was unfamiliar to the parties involved. Subsequently, some of the challenges are [] the difficulty in implementing requirements with asynchronous	"And then what we did was we ended up forming the subcommittees, and we had one for the technical stream, the business and operations stream, and the legal streams, and those	"By making the shift, they had to make some adjustments in their existing supply chain and [the client] thought of a combination of blockchain with IoT sensors monitoring				

Table 7.1: Coordination	and Control Mechanisms	of Blockchain		
Governance				
Blockchain	Blockchain Lifecvcle			
-------------------------------	--	---	--	--
Governance Theme	Initiation	Execution	Adaptation	
	programming interfaces." – Project manager of banking blockchain	sessions would run at a bare minimum once a week." – Project manager of banking blockchain	the conditions, as well as predictive analytics or AI, to maximize freshness, minimize waste and support their customers switch from frozen to fresh." – Project manager of blockchain for food franchise	
2. Control	Participation &	Funding &	Dispute	
Why it is important	information sharing Assures the permissioning / access of the overall blockchain and its data to participating organizations, including data management, privacy, and ownership.	decision authority Delineates the decision-making authority for and funding of blockchain-related activities (e.g., feature updates, architectural overhauls, data model updates), along with ownership of intellectual property	resolution Regulates how disputes between two or more network organizations outside the blockchain are handled, including liability attribution, funding, and conflicts of interest.	
<i>Illustrative</i> quotes	"We were connecting a bunch of disparate sources of data in a way where we needed to have trust and privacy of the permissioning, as well as being able to agree on the consensus mechanisms." – Project manager of pharmaceutical	"The greatest challenge is funding. From a business perspective, just getting the organization off the line is getting someone to commit to funding." – Project manager of governmental blockchain	"The practice I have is base yourself upon industry standards []. That really helps the discussion between the product owners because you have a reference in case there are disputes or things that you should resolve. So, you avoid yes / no discussione between	

Blockchain	Blockchain Lifecycle		
Governance Theme	Initiation	Execution	Adaptation
			different parties." – Project manager of banking blockchain
	"So, they wanted to make sure that they are not sharing sensitive information to one of their competitors or many of their competitors. And I'm not talking about information in the solution, but during discussion talks on the project." – Manager of mobility blockchain	"At the current time, it's a business process where decisions are made by the deciding bodies that have authority within organizations, but at the end of the day, all organizations need to go back to their respective legal counsel and get approval from them." – Project manager of higher education blockchain	"What we ended up doing was just taking the more conservative path to ensure that every participant in the network would be comfortable with what we ended up designing. What we did was to model our privacy structure very closely off of what the industry is like today." – Manager of pharmaceutical blockchain

Our findings further reveal that these coordination challenges can either exist *within* a given organizational hierarchy or can be transferred to a dedicated interface where coordination is orchestrated *across* organizations. This locus of coordination is a critical determinant of the governance mode. For instance, if coordination primarily pertains to activities within an organizational hierarchy, this warrants a more concentrated governance mode compared to transactions involving interdependencies with other organizations. Coordination that takes place across organizational boundaries increases governance complexity, as aligning interests in "politically" charged settings incurs significant administrative costs. Coordinating activities across organizational boundaries may also involve aligning with competitors whose goals and incentives may differ. Therefore, it is crucial that managers consider coordination early in the process to account for the evolution of the blockchain network and whether it might expand to external organizations. 7.4.2 Control

"Companies simply do not want to give up control. If anything, they want to usurp more of it. The simple answer is to recognize this fact – central authority is here to stay in the enterprise. But that doesn't mean centralized organizations cannot embrace decentralized applications wrapped by their centralized services." – Avivah Litan, Analyst at Gartner Research (Kuhn, 2021)

Control relates to the allocation of decision-making authority in relation to the blockchain network (Gittell, 2000; Provan, 1983). Maintaining control serves to enforce collective action over the lifecycle of a blockchain network. Overall, three salient control challenges emerged from our interviews: (1) participation and information sharing, (2) funding and decision-making authority, and (3) dispute resolution. For example, our interviewees mentioned that approval rules for the blockchain and its data are an important control consideration to initiate a blockchain network. Another control issue is the delineation of decision-making for blockchain-related activities (e.g., feature updates, architecture overhauls, data model updates) that are critical to moving a blockchain project beyond the initial phase. Finally, arrangements need to be made for how disputes between network participants are resolved (e.g., regarding funding or conflicts of interest) and who holds the final decision-making authority in case of a deadlock.

Control comes in different facets. In most governance structures of enterprise blockchain networks, control is either centered on specific organizational actors or is shared between organizations. The locus of control has direct consequences for blockchain governance. If control is centered, one organization in charge calls the shots for the network. If control is shared, organizations need to agree on matters such as the future direction and funding of the blockchain, permissioning rules, data visibility of transactions, and dispute resolutions. Such control matters are distinct from coordination activities in that control enforces and regulates elements of the blockchain governance structure through formal decision-making authority (Leifer & Mills, 1996). Control is an important lever to understand for blockchain governance because it determines how much sovereignty organizations retain in defining their network strategy. For instance, a large industry player with a vast supply network may find it easier to impose a tightly controlled governance mode with strict decision authority due to its market share compared to a small, new entrant that might have to share control among various industry organizations. Together, coordination and control make up the two overarching axes that shape blockchain governance.

7.5 The Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains Explained

The decision on the loci of coordination and control described above translates into four generic governance modes: chief, clan, custodian, and consortium. Each of these four modes has certain characteristics, advantages, and disadvantages and it is important that managers be aware of them in reflecting on their preferred governance mode. The governance modes illustrated in Figure 7.1 are explained and illustrated in more detail below.

Figure 7.1: Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains



7.5.1 Chief

Blockchain really makes things easier in this case, because it gives you the tracking of actions, auditing of the assets, and data integrity. That is for sure something good that blockchain delivers. But the network is related to the same organization. [...] The solution was dedicated to an internal process among several different legal entities. – Manager of an oil and gas blockchain

The chief mode emerges when a blockchain is orchestrated and directed by the same instance, i.e., coordination and control reside "inhouse." As such, it represents the most tightly organized and closed form of blockchain governance. The chief mode typically occurs when large corporations fund and control blockchain initiatives designed to administer relationships with customers (e.g., loyalty programs) or subsidiaries (e.g., internal transfer pricing) while restricting the scope to the narrow confines of their own organization. The chief mode has coordination activities that lie within the focal organization, which applies to stakeholder alignment and creation of inter-departmental IT interfaces, allocation of budgets and operational responsibilities, and communication and updating of project milestones. Similarly, control is centered on specific organizational actors as the chief mode has strict internal participation rules and information sovereignty, hierarchical funding decisions and centralized decision making, and escalation of disputes within the organizational hierarchy. This governance mode is especially beneficial for holding companies with many loosely coupled business units that engage in frequent interactions where transparency is critical. Because the blockchain initiator retains critical decision-making authority, the speed of execution can be quite high in this mode. The mode's downside is that the top-down governance approach often creates conflicts in intra-organizational settings because the needs of individual subsidiaries are not sufficiently accounted for in the network and thus clash with the strategic intent of the parent organization. For instance, power dynamics between strong and weaker subsidiaries—e.g., high- vs. low-performing geographies-can provoke boycotts if interest groups are not adequately represented.

The chief governance mode was adopted in a blockchain pilot project by Wells Fargo. The bank decided to introduce "Wells Fargo Digital Cash" to improve internal cross-border payments within the Wells Fargo Group (Wells Fargo, 2019). Wells Fargo Digital Cash is a tokenized currency that is run in the bank's private blockchain network. It is a classic example of a chief governance mode because blockchain transactions are bound to Wells Fargo as a focal actor in the network who coordinates activities and because the transactions are proprietary to the group and its subsidiaries for internal optimization. Lisa Frazier, head of the Wells Fargo Innovation Group, commented that the solution is "faster than SWIFT, cheaper and definitely more efficient," indicating that this governance mode can be encouraging for intra-organizational, tightly knit blockchains (Allison, 2021a).

Despite such positive pursuits of the chief governance mode, the mode can also meet resistance given certain conditions. In our interviews with a military organization that pursued a chief governance mode, the greatest challenge became expanding beyond their "proof-of-concept" phase and inviting external suppliers to join. The root cause of this issue was their rigid and hierarchical pursuit of standards and regulations for security purposes—applicable to their own organization—that made it nearinfeasible and less alluring from an integration standpoint for other parties to join. As stated in an interview with a consultant working on the case, "the biggest lesson learned is that the proof-of-concept is usually the easy part. It goes off without a hitch, it can satisfy the customer's needs. But then getting to that next step of bringing in external partners, growing the network, expanding the scope of the use case, and the application on the blockchain, is the most difficult part of working with the technology."

7.5.2 Clan

[We had] no external parties, but internal, in terms of an internal auditor. We did have an internal audit perspective on the project, but it wasn't a project consortium, just in terms of having oversight. For external... it didn't end up going there and I don't think it ever would have with the nature of the products that we were doing. – Manager of pharmaceutical blockchain

Similar to the chief mode, the clan mode coordinates activities within an organization but differs in that it permits shared control over the blockchain network. The clan is a blockchain governance mode that is often used when an organization and its subsidiaries, departments or internal auditors strive to optimize operations and share control over information sharing, funding, decisions, and disputes among functional departments or national subsidiaries. In rare instances, the clan mode can also involve external organizations, for instance, when multiple organizations decide to fund a blockchain and reign over its decisions but leave coordination of day-

to-day activities to the organization that actually uses the solution. This means that while coordination activities in the clan mode (e.g., alignment, operations, and mutual adjustment) are still within an organizational hierarchy, control (e.g., participation, funding, and dispute resolution) is shared among participants. Typically, the clan mode enables shared control among organizations, with open participation guidelines, a consensus-based approach to internal information sharing, collective funding and decisionmaking concurrence, and shared liability attribution among entities. The clan mode shares common benefits with the chief mode, such as the possibility for organizations new to blockchain to first align their own purposes in tight internal collaboration before expanding to a broader inter-organizational network. Since decisions are participatory, this mode fosters a supportive, network-wide culture and drives solutions that are designed for all entities. On the other hand, we often see cumbersome attempts when this mode is expanded to a larger number of organizations (a strategic move we later refer to as "connecting") because coordination activities have been aligned specifically for one organization rather than multiple potential organizations in the network. Hence, process and data standards might be overlooked, and the internal focus might make it difficult for other organizations to join later on.

The clan mode was adopted by Coca-Cola for 70 franchised bottling organizations operating across its \$21 Billion supply chain (Business Insider, 2021). The blockchain was formally announced and set up by Coke One North America (CONA) and SAP in 2019. CONA is the shared IT platform provider for 12 of the largest Coca-Cola bottlers in North America (Microsoft, 2021). CONA's Andrei Semenov explained how the decision to introduce a blockchain originated from a need for better coordination within Coca-Cola's own supply chain: "There are a number of transactions that are cross-companies and multi-party that are inefficient, they go through intermediaries, they are very slow. And we felt that we could improve this and save some money" (Ledger Insights, 2019b). Using blockchain in the Coca-Cola production line, bottling companies can fulfill orders for the brand more reliably and at a faster pace because inventory data is stored immutably and is transparently accessible. As a result, the firm hopes to see their usual 50-day reconciliation time drop to under a week (Coinspeaker, 2019). The beverage giant has started to consider expansion and integration with other players, including Walmart and Target (Ledger Insights, 2020; The Coca-Cola Company, 2021). At present, CONA focuses on the CocaCola bottling franchises,¹⁷ indicating that the clan mode can be used to effectively coordinate internal processes with a shared control structure.

Even though some firms fair well with the clan governance mode, it is not suited for all situations. From our interviews with an oil and gas giant, who built a blockchain shared among its subsidiaries using the clan governance mode, communication became a key struggle, as all subsidiaries (more than ten legal entities) had to align on the overarching goal of the blockchain. "It was not miscommunication but more messy communication, while internally it was really no communication at all in certain moments. So, we had to go with assumptions, and those assumptions caused us to rework," a senior manager of the oil and gas blockchain recalled. Even though the use of blockchain was clearly advantageous in terms of traceability, immutable history, and data segregation, significant communication efforts were required as a result of the coordination within organizations in the clan governance mode to argue why traditional databases would show less of an impact compared to blockchain. This was amplified due to the shared control in the governance mode. According to the senior manager, there was "a typical battle between headquarter and operating companies. The operating companies have a lot of power because they are the ones producing all the oil and gas. Then the headquarter is where a lot of senior people are sitting, making policies and all of that. There was a natural friction [...]." This friction of shared control led to sluggish decisions in how the blockchain would introduce a more modern way of working, "away from their traditional ways of doing things over email or Excel sheets "

7.5.3 Custodian

Currently, we're thinking about a founder-led network for the first part. But we're aiming to scale this once we are comfortable with the network status, and then scale it out to a consortium-based network. – Architect of construction blockchain

The custodian mode applies when coordination occurs across organizational boundaries and control of the network is centered on a single

¹⁷ In some instances, network control can reside on two closely aligned, dominant actors. For instance, an industry heavyweight and a technology partner.

actor (TraceHarvest, 2020). In other words, the locus of coordination activity resides outside the organization's boundaries while the locus of control remains within the focal organization. Typically, a custodian mode is used when a large dominant organization in a network funds, designs, and implements a blockchain and leverages its existing network (e.g., suppliers and customers) to fuel growth. Contrary to the former two modes, coordination takes place *across* organizations, in that inter-organizational relationships must be synchronized around a common blockchain purpose and operation. However, not all aspects of the custodian mode are as open to outsiders. The custodian mode exercises hierarchical control through one organization, which means that there are closed book permissioning rules and central decisions for information sharing, hierarchical funding decisions and centralized decision making, and disputes that are mediated by a central body. The custodian mode has the clear advantage that speed is prioritized for the focal organization that launches the network. Instead of giving all network members a say in strategic decisions, the custodian mode prioritizes fast decisions and their execution based on sufficient blockchain "trial runs" by one or a few key organizations. If the focal organization has a suitable existing network, it can easily fuel initial growth by convincing allied organizations to join. The downside of the custodian mode is that it can alienate critical network organizations, and decisions made up front by the focal organization may need to be revisited or altered to accommodate such requests.

The custodian governance mode was successfully pursued in the IBM Food Trust[™] case outlined above. This is a custodian governance mode because IBM coordinates blockchain-related activities with other network participants, such as farmers, truckers, and retailers, using a dedicated advisory council for industry alignment, operations, and mutual adjustments, but retains control over the blockchain's governance in terms of funding and decision authority. Another promising example of the custodian governance mode is the TraceHarvest Network, which similarly enables traceability of products through the food supply chain (Business Wire, 2020a). In this case, control lies with Bayer Crop Science in close collaboration with BlockApps. Bayer Crop Science served as a founding member and active user of the network for trial runs with live customers before they announced plans to open the network and expand globally (TraceHarvest, 2020). According to TraceHarvest (2020), cross-organizational coordination was intended from

the start, so "any agriculture business or partner that wants to be part of the industry's transformation is also welcome."

Conversely, the custodian governance mode can also lead to difficulties in onboarding competing network participants. Many banks have become familiar with the issue. "Banks and other financial institutions have invested millions of dollars to test new blockchain systems aimed at reducing the costs and complexity of cumbersome processes [...]. Few projects have been deployed at scale so far" (Irerra, 2019). One particular issue mirroring the pitfalls of custodian governance was witnessed recently in the "Quorum®" blockchain by JPMorgan, an enterprise variant of the Ethereum blockchain intended to facilitate collaboration across different blockchain networks. The network was launched and run by JPMorgan as the focal organization, intended for inter-organizational collaboration. Will Martino, former lead engineer for JPMorgan's first blockchain Juno, points out that "if JPMorgan, one of the biggest companies ever, can't drive adoption, even when they have a great internal use case, you have to ask yourself 'why'?" (Thompson, 2020). JPMorgan struggled to onboard large incumbents such as Morgan Stanley, Wells Fargo, and Bank of America, given the tight control JPMorgan retained over the network. JPMorgan sold Ouorum® to ConsenSys in late 2020 (Business Wire, 2020b).

7.5.4 Consortium

I'm a big proponent of the idea that for each member type that's involved in the network there should be at least two client representatives of each. Otherwise, if there's just one, sometimes they think that they can exert certain control. – Manager of pharmaceutical blockchain

The consortium mode occurs when organizations come together to jointly control activities for a blockchain network across organizational boundaries. It thus represents the most open and collaborative governance approach. What makes up a "blockchain consortium" is still an ongoing debate (Zavolokina et al., 2020). Because consortia are founded for crossorganizational blockchain networks and are essentially an association of several companies, we often see this type of governance mode when large corporations come together in a blockchain network to solve pressing business problems for an entire industry. While the consortium mode enables coordination across organizations, it differs from the custodian mode in that control is shared among organizations as well. This means that a consortium favors consensus-based decisions regarding information sharing, reigns over funding and strategic decisions, and allows for collective handling of operational disputes. The consortium mode has the advantage that ideally all critical network organizations are at the table when decisions are being made. This early inclusion of key parties raises conflicts early and allows the network to address them collaboratively. A consortium mode will thereby facilitate consensus between organizations in crucial areas such as network intent, feature requirements, technology roadmaps, voting rights, advisory boards, and entry-exit criteria. The downside we have often witnessed with this mode of governance is a high level of bureaucracy over building a working solution. It can take years for large organizations to agree on key points, requiring iron clad contractual agreements to assure organizations that their confidential data and intellectual property are safe.

In general, consortia hold particular promise for businesses. Take the luxury watch brand Breitling, for example, which decided to contribute to a blockchain consortium to benefit its customers. The blockchain can be used to transfer ownership of Breitling watches by means of a secure blockchain transaction. As elaborated by Antonio Carriero, Breitling Chief Digital and Technology Officer, "transparency, traceability, and tradability are the key benefits for the happy owner of a Breitling watch. The history of the watch is forever connected to the watch certificate, supported by the blockchain's native capabilities." Breitling understood that their brand is one of several in the luxury space and that customers can engage with multiple brands. The consortium Breitling joined-powered by Arianee-holds the advantage that customers can enjoy the immutability and transparency features of blockchain for multiple luxury brands. For instance, next to Breitling, the consortium brings together luxury watch groups such as Richemont and Audemars Piguet (Arianee, 2020). "Arianee is a consortium that aggregates key players of the luxury industry," explained Carriero. Further, "watch owners do not have to share any personal details to entertain a relationship with the brand from which they own a product. And owners do not need to have any privacy and security concerns anymore." This is a classic example of a thriving consortium governance mode because large luxury players have found a way to come together "to share ideas and activate a global standard," as described by Carriero.

However, consortia are also ripe for antitrust, regulatory, and legal issues, as recently witnessed by member dropouts at Facebook Libra. Facebook attempted to pursue a "consortium" governance mode with coordination across organizations and control shared among organizations but failed due to regulatory challenges. Libra was a consortium model given that Facebook's governance role was "equal to that of its peers, and being fully subject to the voting cap of 1%" (Zetzsche, Buckley, & Arner, 2020). The "Libra Association" intended to offer a permissionless global currency whose value would be stabilized by a basket of assets. High-profile members of the Libra Association, including eBay, Visa, MasterCard, and PayPal faced governance tensions that spawned from uncertain regulatory jurisdiction and liability for financial crimes (Hecker, 2020). Many critical members left the consortium, as they were unwilling to define and assume responsibility for the many disputed matters in the context of their governance structure. As a result of the struggles, Libra was rebranded as Diem in December 2020 to attempt a fresh start.

Strategic actions Governance What it is / Used when the mode example blockchain ... Coordination Control The Chief mode centers blockchain · holds sensitive, internal within organization(s) centered on organization(s) Chief coordination and control within an information for which a central Stakeholder alignment and creation Strict internal participation rules organization. As such, it represents the most entity retains control $(\bigcirc$ of inter-departmental IT interfaces and information sovereignty tightly controlled and closed form of mainly enhances internal blockchain governance. processes for a central entity Hierarchical funding decisions and 995 Allocation of budgets and transaction features no or few operational responsibilities centralized decision-making WELLS FARGO interdependencies with other Communication and updating of Escalation of disputes within the organizations Military org. project milestones organizational hierarchy The Clan mode focuses on intra-organizational holds information which can be within organization(s) shared among organization(s) Clan coordination and enables shared control over distributed internally upon Stakeholder alignment and creation Open participation guidelines and the blockchain network. It represents the most agreement 0 of inter-departmental IT interfaces ò consensus-based approach to open approach to intra-organizational · enhances internal processes / internal information sharing blockchain governance. collaboration for multiple internal Allocation of budgets and Collective funding & decisionentities operational responsibilities making concurrence transaction features no or few Communication and updating on Liability attribution among internal interdependencies with other (oca lool • project milestones entities organizations Oil & gas org. The Custodian mode applies when coordination is funded, designed and across organization(s) centered on organization(s) Custodian occurs across organizational boundaries and implemented by a dominant Alignment on blockchain purpose, Closed book permissioning rules control of the network is centered on dominant organization in a network 6 È success factors, and pursuit of and central decisions for · growth can be fueled by the actors. This is the most hierarchical form of **`O**` mutual standards information sharing inter-organizational blockchain governance. inclusion of the dominant organization's networks Administration of operational roles Hierarchical funding decisions and . and responsibilities · transaction features centralized decision-making interdependencies with other Discussion forums to disclose Change / operational disputes J.P.Morgan organizations information and adjust to change mediated by central body · requires mutual decisions for The Consortium mode occurs when across organization(s) shared among organization(s) Consortium organizations come together to jointly information sharing Alignment on blockchain purpose, Open permissioning rules and coordinate and control activities for a · holds information that requires success factors, and pursuit of mutual decisions for information blockchain network. It represents the most involvement of several industry mutual standards sharing open and collaborative governance approach. actors Administration of operational roles Collective funding & decisiontransaction typically features . • and responsibilities making concurrence interdependencies with other ≋libra BREITLING organizations, incl. competitors, Discussion forums to disclose Change / operational disputes addressed in unison for an entire industry information and adjust to change

Table 7.2: Overview: Four Modes of Governance for Blockchains

236

Each of the four governance modes for blockchains—(1) chief, (2) clan, (3) custodian, (4) consortium—comes with distinct coordination and control dynamics. The outline and illustrations above show that each mode has inherent advantages and disadvantages and that choosing a suitable governance mode can make or break blockchain success. Table 7.2 provides a comprehensive view of the four governance modes for blockchains and the strategic coordination and control actions associated with each mode.

7.6 Negotiating and Re-Negotiating Blockchain Governance

Choosing the right blockchain governance mode is just one component of successful enterprise blockchain governance. Governance choices are a series of events that can occur dynamically. To illustrate these complex governance adaptations, let us consider the example of TradeLens, a prominent blockchain network that faced a turbulent governance journey and managed to mitigate the challenges successfully. TradeLens, one of the largest blockchain networks for global trade, connects global supply chain organizations—such as shippers, ocean and inland carriers, freight forwarders, and logistics providers—in a blockchain network to facilitate secure data transactions and trade workflows (IBM, 2020a). TradeLens was formally launched in 2017 by the ocean carrier Maersk and the technology provider IBM.

When establishing TradeLens, Maersk and IBM started small by analyzing their networks and opting for a custodian governance mode, which brought important advantages but also set the course for future challenges. This governance mode is characterized by a focus of control on a small number of actors while coordination extends to many market participants. In adopting this governance mode, Maersk and IBM focused on creating a compelling use case rather than engaging in endless discussions with other stakeholders. For instance, the custodian mode enabled quick decisions concerning technology roadmaps, data sharing specifications, and branding since Maersk and IBM were running the show. IBM Head of TradeLens, Marvin Erdly, recalled that "we had a decision to make a few years ago on how we were going to do this. We could either take years and try to work out some really complex consortium model, or we could jump into the deep end with the largest player in the industry and hope we can work out a model that would bring along the rest of the industry. And we chose the second of those two."

Maersk and IBM initially fared well with the custodian governance mode when it was mostly Maersk's network that joined TradeLens. However, as the two founders sought to expand their network, their governance decision was met with increasing resistance from competitors, who were considered essential to the network and without whom growth would be virtually impossible to secure. To meet this challenge, Maersk and IBM decided to loosen control in their governance mode, in which the competitors of Maersk were involved in the decision-making processes. They achieved this governance shift through multiple activities, e.g., by seeking contractual agreement with ocean carrier competitors on issues such as founder status and legal/data ownership. Today, as a result of this strategic governance shift, TradeLens is attracting an increasing number of organizations, for instance with the addition of the ocean liners CMA CGM and MSC. IBM's Marvin Erdly said that "the initial challenge faced by the TradeLens network was reaching a critical mass. The more entities we have on the network, the more valuable the network becomes. Other entities will now want to join, ultimately creating a network effect. This is why CMA CGM and MSC joining is such an important milestone" (Wolfson, 2020). The TradeLens success story¹⁸ has been one of dynamic blockchain governance, allowing tensions to be resolved through critical reflection and fast execution.

7.6.1 Blockchain Governance Dynamics

What we learn from the TradeLens case is that the initial governance mode is often only the starting point, and it is necessary to adapt the coordination and control mechanisms to dynamically changing circumstances. In the TradeLens case, we observed a shift from a centralized control structure to a more decentralized structure. However, reverse moves are also conceivable, in which managers react to possible decision impasses in a decentralized consortium by diverting control toward a single organization which can then act more quickly and effectively. This was the case, for example, with JPMorgan, which, due to decision conflicts in the

¹⁸ Since the time of publication, TradeLens has been discontinued and announced its termination in late 2022. According to TradeLens (2023), the "vision centered on the ability to enable true information sharing and collaboration across a highly fragmented industry globally. Unfortunately, such a level of cooperation and support has not been possible to achieve at this point in time."

consortium "R3" around the use of the Ethereum network, decided to exit the established consortium and focus on its in-house distributed ledger "Quorum®", which would support Ethereum (Rolfe, 2017).

We conceptualize these possible governance sequences into four strategic moves as they may occur for blockchain networks: (1) connecting, (2) isolating, (3) loosening, and (4) tightening. Each of these strategic moves comes with distinct outcomes that managers of blockchains can expect as they choose and adapt to a given governance mode over time. Figure 7.1 highlights each of the four strategic moves managers can pursue.

(1) Connecting and (2) Isolating

I think if I could have done this differently in the beginning, I would have some amount of focus on: 'how are we going to grow this blockchain into a widely adopted decentralized solution?' It wasn't something that we were being asked to do in the very beginning, but it's something I think you have to acknowledge in the beginning. – Manager of home appliances blockchain

"Connecting" is a common strategy in which the blockchain is extended to include and coordinate external organizations. From a technical point of view, this means setting up new nodes in the network. This strategic move is beneficial as a gateway for network effects, as other organizations can be integrated quickly through open standards. Connecting is valuable for obtaining feedback from participating organizations or simply for growing the size of the network once a desirable level of maturity is reached. Since connecting involves external organizations, it is important to keep in mind that the alignment of activities, processes, and adjustments becomes much more complex. Another disadvantage is that connecting can lead to conflicts around decisions previously made for an isolated organization, e.g., when defining common standards. Connecting is quite common, as shown by the example of the "Trust Your Supplier" blockchain, first built by IBM, before other organizations such as Anheuser-Busch InBev, Cisco, Lenovo and Vodafone were connected (Ledger Insights, 2019a).

In contrast, "isolating" is a strategic move that reduces dependencies of organizations on the outside and instead focuses future design and development on coordinative actions on the inside. Isolation has the advantage of allowing organizations to focus on their own operational needs first and pause expansion to others. This strategy is useful for testing blockchain adoption internally before involving other parties. For example,

after early test runs with a few organizations, it may be beneficial to return to using the blockchain internally before involving more external organizations. Managers who pursue an isolation move should consider that they are effectively foregoing growth potentials through network effects, as they are excluding other organizations from joining. Also, when multiple organizations pursue their own blockchains in isolation, they are contributing to market fragmentation, in which there are many small networks with proprietary standards rather than a single network that is interoperable and closely aligned. The move should also be taken with a grain of salt, as organizations that were previously involved in the network could be alienated if development work continues internally. For this reason, we see isolating as a more radical approach that only applies to certain contexts in early stages of blockchain projects. For instance, a manager of an early-stage healthcare blockchain relayed to us the difficulties in keeping organizations engaged, which warranted an isolation move. After the founder carried out initial tests ("pilots") with other prominent healthcare organizations, the organizations involved in the tests could not be converted to sponsors. The concerns of the involved organizations had to do with the founder's governance structure, i.e., "getting everyone to agree and setting up the governance based on our pilot," as the manager recalled. The founder then concentrated on activities in-house and continued working on the blockchain governance approach internally before approaching external organizations again.

(3) Loosening and (4) Tightening

Some clients participated in the network to gain trust and transparency, but it is really difficult to get these clients to agree to share their data in any supply chain. I think from the start, it really should have been the expectation, if they want to be part of a blockchain network, where you're going to be increasing transparency and sharing data, that you will have to share it, obviously in a super secure way. That's definitely a key part of collaborating on the blockchain network. – Manager of travel and transportation blockchain

In addition to the connecting-isolating spectrum, strategic moves around "loosening" and "tightening" control are also conceivable. Loosening describes a move in which control is relinquished to other organizations in the governance structure, e.g., to facilitate more open, mutual decisions around participation and information sharing, funding and decision authority, and dispute resolution. This move is beneficial for giving networkcritical organizations a seat at the table and ensuring that decisions gain consensus. Loosening also has the advantage of stopping siloed implementation activities that may not be appropriate for the rest of the network. However, loosening carries a general risk because each organization must disclose what is "under the hood" to participate. The decision also comes with the pitfall that once other entities are involved, the speed of implementation to get a working solution off the ground slows down due to communication costs. The loosening move is one we have seen with TradeLens, which relinquished control to a broader network of ocean carriers.

At the opposite end, "tightening" is a move in which control over blockchain activities is concentrated in one or a few network organizations. Tightening is advantageous in situations where organizations want to regain control over design, implementation, operation, or customization decisions, for instance when developments take unfavorable turns. Tightening can also contribute to higher implementation speed, as decisions can be made centrally and thus with higher autonomy. Yet, tightening control typically makes it more difficult for other organizations to integrate with a blockchain. This is because tightening control can lead to a lack of exchange and emerging friction between network participants-especially among competitors—which can prevent adaptation processes and joint value creation. Particularly problematic is that the focal organization with a firm grip on the blockchain network can more easily act opportunistically and prioritize its own interests (e.g., by preferring proprietary solutions) at the expense of other network participants. Fear of opportunistic behavior and lopsided value creation can alienate network participants, slow growth, and prevent the network from reaching its full value potential. This type of bias toward a single dominant entity can be criticized by external organizations that demand a neutral solution. Tightening control was used as a strategic move by a manager of a banking blockchain that decided to "run their own blockchain, internally for themselves under their control," after working with a consulting partner.

Each of these four strategic moves can be considered in certain combinations. For instance, loosening control may often coincide with connecting other organizations, as linking and coordinating more competitors to the blockchain might demand a shared control approach. Alternatively, tightening control can go hand in hand with isolating coordination activities. This may inherently occur when organizations drop out of a network and development activities continue internally. When combined, however, some of the moves can also become grounds for conflict. Take, for example, an organization tightening control of the network, while simultaneously connecting new organizations to it. In this case, the tight control structure would dilute the potential for other organizations to join, as new joiners could rally against the firm control structure and demand an equal seat at the table. It is important for managers to weigh the benefits and downsides of these possible moves and combinations as they approach blockchain governance strategically.

7.6.2 Bottom Line: The Blockchain Governance Journey

Notably, it is unlikely that there is a universal approach to blockchain governance, and managers must match governance decisions to the specific circumstances and dynamics they encounter. To support managers in making these complex decisions, we close by proposing an overarching process model that can help managers navigate their blockchain governance journey. We illustrate this process model in Figure 7.2 as a synthesis of the testimonies from dozens of managers who have gone through blockchain adaptation processes. It is important to note that the adjustments are primarily administrative changes, and the technical layer only needs to be adjusted in some cases, e.g., in the case where a blockchain needs to expand the intra-organizational focus to include inter-organizational collaboration and thus additional nodes need to be accounted for in the system. Or, in instances when selected governance issues happen "on-chain," as is the case with token-weighted voting (Tsoukalas & Falk, 2020). Most of the time, however, the adjustments in the coordination and control mechanisms relate to the supporting administrative processes.

Figure 7.2: The Blockchain Governance Journey



1. Analyze the network you want to govern digitally with a blockchain

I think it's more meaningful to look across the network that you're looking to establish. Who has the leverage, the influence, and the market share to be able to drive a change in the ecosystem? – Project manager of banking blockchain

Managers need to carefully analyze the existing network their blockchain is meant to govern to understand network interdependencies and anticipate possible competitive tensions in advance. While some networks might facilitate high dispersion of transactions, others might have few dominant players that absorb the majority of the transactions. Managers should account for these network dynamics early on to avoid choosing an inadequate governance mode that might alienate critical network participants. This can be achieved through in-depth analysis and mapping of existing network interdependencies within and across the organization that might conflict with the blockchain network. We also recommend assessing whether the blockchain transactions that will be governed are aligned to existing transactions at the network level. A lack of network analysis beforehand will lead to adverse effects, such as deficient or even failed blockchain governance with negative implications for network growth and performance.

2. Adopt a blockchain governance mode

Right from the beginning, we made clear what information needs to be shared and what information should not be shared. So, that means that confidentiality and how to classify information were truly important things and [were discussed] upfront with all the parties. – Consultant of banking blockchain

Managers should introduce one of the four governance modes that ideally matches and corresponds to existing coordination and control dynamics. For instance, trying to introduce a custodian mode, even though there are plenty of powerful incumbents in the network, might jeopardize the network's success because crucial participants feel isolated and do not join. Instead, a consortium approach might be more suitable, as such an approach disperses control among more organizations that should have a voice. Choosing the appropriate governance mode requires two important activities at the top management level: first, understanding the scope of coordination activities (within vs. across organizations) and second, determining the allocation of control imposed on the network (shared among vs. centered on organizations). Trying to use a blockchain governance mode that does not match the underlying characteristics of a network often leads to debilitating bureaucracy, alienated network participants, antitrust and legal issues, and ultimately, lagging network growth.

3. Adjust the blockchain governance mode to mitigate network tensions

The most important lesson I think I learned in this long project is that while it's nice to have a structure, it needs to be adjusted every time. - Manager of transportation blockchain

Blockchain governance is a dynamic game. Rarely will organizations have all the right information on network composition and governance expertise at hand to make the perfect governance call at the onset. Networks are dynamic by nature, which means that their governance should evolve along with them. In this regard, it is crucial that managers stay alert to changes and tailor blockchain governance to the shifting needs of the network. Organizations that start with a particular governance mode might find, after some time, that it is best to tighten or loosen control to better align to network requirements and to limit or expand the scope covered by the blockchain. Managers need to anticipate such dynamics and critically revisit their governance choices to ensure that they meet the requirements of the network environment and secure network growth. We recommend managers be receptive to indicators that demand adjustment and readjustment of the coordination and control mechanisms in the implemented blockchain governance structure, using our four strategic moves—connecting, isolating, loosening, tightening—as a baseline.

7.7 Conclusion

Blockchain is fraught with hype (Cheng et al., 2019; Madnick, 2019). As organizations test blockchain technology and learn how to apply it to their specific organizational contexts, a game of natural selection will reveal which solutions prosper and which solutions fail (Gartner, 2019). The governance of blockchains will be a critical factor in determining which companies benefit from the new technological opportunities. Regardless of whether organizations build or join blockchains (Rauchs, Blandin, Bear, & McKeon, 2019), or find themselves in a mélange of both, the governance of blockchains should always be seen as a strategic imperative; one that influences aspects such as blockchain investments, how they are made, and among which organizations they are best used. Blockchain initiators who pay careful attention to blockchain governance and thus are sensitive to the needs of participants can create higher network value. In doing so, they uncover potential conflicts between network members early, which they then collaboratively address with greater precision and economic efficiency. Organizations that manage to move from siloed and competitive thinking to cross-organizational collaboration have the best chance of successful blockchain deployment with enduring growth.

We believe that the governance of blockchain is one of the most critical ingredients to overall blockchain success. Using our framework, managers can assess how to address various blockchain governance challenges and choose the appropriate governance mode to support successful transactions. Most importantly, we urge managers to consider the governance mode that adequately reflects their coordination and control needs (chief, clan, custodian, or consortium) and be prepared to adjust their choice (by connecting, isolating, loosening, tightening) as the composition of the network changes.

Our framework also holds significant theoretical value for the emerging literature on enterprise blockchains in the management field. We advance the literature on blockchains by showing that blockchains are by no means self-sufficient governance solutions that exist independently

alongside traditional governance forms such as contracts, administrative controls, and relational mechanisms such as trust (Chen, Yi, Li, & Tong, 2021a; Lumineau et al., 2021; Murray et al., 2021). Instead, blockchains require well-designed supporting governance structures, such as dedicated administrative interfaces and clear decision-making processes, to be viable solutions in the business contexts where permissioned blockchain solutions prevail (Hsieh et al., 2017; Zavolokina et al., 2020). Our framework can serve as a valuable typology in this regard, providing more nuance beyond existing technological distinctions such as those between permissioned and permissionless blockchains. Moreover, we highlight that blockchain governance is subject to frequent adjustments as the composition of the network changes over time, leading to mismatches between the evolved network and its original governance. Therefore, our study also invites scholars to revisit the blockchain phenomenon to understand the antecedents and consequences of blockchain governance decisions and adaptations (Clohessy et al., 2020).

We close by issuing a word of caution: Even though blockchain governance is a core component of overall blockchain success, the need to think about other intersecting areas, such as use cases, business value, and technological feature, remains critical (Schmeiss et al., 2019). We therefore propose that managers see our governance approach as a complementary framework to existing blockchain thought leadership. Regardless of where you stand in your blockchain journey, the governance challenge will remain vital.

REFERENCES

- Aalbers, R., Dolfsma, W., & Leenders, R. 2016. Vertical and Horizontal Cross-Ties: Benefits of Cross-Hierarchy and Cross-Unit Ties for Innovative Projects. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 33(2): 141-153.
- Aaltonen, K., & Turkulainen, V. 2022. Institutionalization Of a collaborative Governance Model to Deliver Large, Inter-Organizational Projects. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 42(8): 1294-1328.
- Adler, P. S., & Borys, B. 1996. Two Types of Bureaucracy: Enabling and Coercive. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(1): 61-89.
- Adner, R., Puranam, P., & Zhu, F. 2019. What Is Different About Digital Strategy? From Quantitative to Qualitative Change. *Strategy Science*, 4(4): 253-261.
- Aggarwal, V. A., Siggelkow, N., & Singh, H. 2011. Governing Collaborative Activity: Interdependence and the Impact of Coordination and Exploration. *Strategic Management Journal*, 32(7): 705-730.
- Aguilera, R. V., Desender, K., Bednar, M. K., & Lee, J. H. 2015. Connecting the Dots: Bringing External Corporate Governance into the Corporate Governance Puzzle. *Academy of Management Annals*, 9(1): 483-573.

- Aguilera, R. V., & Jackson, G. 2003. The Cross-National Diversity of Corporate Governance: Dimensions and Determinants. Academy of Management Review, 28(3): 447-465.
- Ahuja, G. 2000. Collaboration Networks, Structural Holes, and Innovation: A Longitudinal Study. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 45(3): 425-455.
- Akoramurthy, B., & Kumar, T. A. 2020. Digital Linked Information System Using Blockchain Technology: Overwhelming Information Silo. In E. G. Julie, J. J. V. Nayahi, & N. Z. Jhanjhi (Eds.), *Blockchain Technology*: 155-175. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Akter, S., Dwivedi, Y. K., Sajib, S., Biswas, K., Bandara, R. J., & Michael, K. 2022. Algorithmic Bias in Machine Learning-Based Marketing Models. *Journal of Business Research*, 144: 201-216.
- Al-Breiki, H., Rehman, M. H. U., Salah, K., & Svetinovic, D. 2020. Trustworthy Blockchain Oracles: Review, Comparison, and Open Research Challenges. *IEEE Access*, 8: 85675-85685.
- Albaum, G. 1964. Horizontal Information Flow: An Exploratory Study. *Academy of Management Journal*, 7(1): 21-33.
- Alchian, A. A., & Demsetz, H. 1972. Production, Information Costs, and Economic Organization. *American Economic Review*, 62(5): 777-795.
- Aldrich, H., & Herker, D. 1977. Boundary Spanning Roles and Organization Structure. Academy of Management Review, 2(2): 217-230.
- Aldrich, H. E. 1979. *Organizations and Environments*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Allen, R. T., & Choudhury, P. 2022. Algorithm-Augmented Work and Domain Experience: The Countervailing Forces of Ability and Aversion. *Organization Science*, 33(1): 149-169.

Allison, I. 2021a. Wells Fargo's Stablecoin 'Faster, Cheaper' Than SWIFT, Says Exec. Retrieved May 28 2021, <u>https://www.coindesk.com/wells-fargos-stablecoin-faster-cheaper-than-swift-says-exec</u>.

- Allison, I. 2021b. World's Second-Largest Grocer Joins IBM Food Trust Blockchain. Retrieved May 24 2021, <u>https://www.coindesk.com/worlds-second-largest-grocer-joins-ibm-food-trust-blockchain</u>.
- Altay, N., & Pal, R. 2014. Information Diffusion among Agents: Implications for Humanitarian Operations. *Production and Operations Management*, 23(6): 1015-1027.
- Altman, E. J., Nagle, F., & Tushman, M. L. 2022. The Translucent Hand of Managed Ecosystems: Engaging Communities for Value Creation and Capture. *Academy of Management Annals*, 16(1): 70-101.
- Alvesson, M., & Sandberg, J. 2023. The Art of Phenomena Construction: A Framework for Coming up with Research Phenomena Beyond 'the Usual Suspects'. *Journal of Management Studies*, doi:10.1111/joms.12969.
- Anand, B. N., & Khanna, T. 2000. Do Firms Learn to Create Value? The Case of Alliances. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(3): 295-315.
- Androulaki, E., Barger, A., Bortnikov, V., Cachin, C., Christidis, K., De Caro, A., Enyeart, D., Ferris, C., Laventman, G., & Manevich, Y. 2018. *Hyperledger Fabric: A Distributed Operating System for Permissioned Blockchains*. Paper presented at the 13th EuroSys Conference, Porto, Portugal.
- Angst, C. M., Block, E. S., D'Arcy, J., & Kelley, K. 2017. When Do IT Security Investments Matter? Accounting for the Influence of Institutional Factors in the Context of Healthcare Data Breaches. *MIS Quarterly*, 41(3): 893-A898.
- Argyres, N., & Mayer, K. J. 2007. Contract Design as a Firm Capability: An Integration of Learning and Transaction Cost Perspectives. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(4): 1060-1077.
- Argyres, N. S., & Liebeskind, J. P. 1999. Contractual Commitments, Bargaining Power, and Governance Inseparability: Incorporating History into Transaction Cost Theory. *Academy of Management Review*, 24(1): 49-63.
- Argyres, N. S., & Liebeskind, J. P. 2002. Governance Inseparability and the Evolution of U.S. Biotechnology Industry. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 47(2): 197-219.

- Arianee. 2020. Arianee Why/How/What. Retrieved October 20 2020, <u>https://www.arianee.org/about-arianee</u>.
- Arslan, B., Vasudeva, G., & Hirsch, E. B. 2023. Public-Private and Private-Private Collaboration as Pathways for Socially Beneficial Innovation: Evidence from Antimicrobial Drug Development Tasks. *Academy of Management Journal*, doi:10.5465/amj.2021.1260.
- Asgari, N., Singh, K., & Mitchell, W. 2017. Alliance Portfolio Reconfiguration Following a Technological Discontinuity. *Strategic Management Journal*, 38(5): 1062-1081.
- Astley, W. G. 1985. Organizational Size and Bureaucratic Structure. *Organization Studies*, 6(3): 201-228.
- Augustin, N., Eckhardt, A., & de Jong, A. W. 2023. Understanding Decentralized Autonomous Organizations from the Inside. *Electronic Markets*, 33(1): 38.
- Ba, S., & Pavlou, P. A. 2002. Evidence of the Effect of Trust Building Technology in Electronic Markets: Price Premiums and Buyer Behavior. *MIS Quarterly*, 26(3): 243-268.
- Babich, V., & Hilary, G. 2020. Om Forum—Distributed Ledgers and Operations: What Operations Management Researchers Should Know About Blockchain Technology. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 22(2): 223-240.
- Baharmand, H., Maghsoudi, A., & Coppi, G. 2021. Exploring the Application of Blockchain to Humanitarian Supply Chains: Insights from Humanitarian Supply Blockchain Pilot Project. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 41(9): 1522-1543.
- Bajarin, T. 2020. Why Companies Need Their Own AI Code of Conduct. Retrieved December 12 2022, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/timbajarin/2020/07/30/why-</u> <u>companies-need-their-own-ai-code-of-conduct</u>.
- Baker, G., Gibbons, R., & Murphy, K. J. 1994. Subjective Performance Measures in Optimal Incentive Contracts. *The Quarterly Journal* of Economics, 109(4): 1125-1156.

- Baker, M., & Collins, M. 2010. English Commercial Banks and Organizational Inertia: The Financing of Smes, 1944–1960. *Enterprise & Society*, 11(1): 65-97.
- Bakker, R. M. 2016. Stepping in and Stepping Out: Strategic Alliance Partner Reconfiguration and the Unplanned Termination of Complex Projects. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(9): 1919-1941.
- Balogun, J., & Johnson, G. 2004. Organizational Restructuring and Middle Manager Sensemaking. Academy of Management Journal, 47(4): 523-549.
- Banda, A., Hamilton, M., Lowry, E., & Widdifield, J. 2020. The Founder's Handbook – an Introduction to Building a Blockchain Solution, https://www.ibm.com/downloads/cas/GZPPMWM5.
- Baraniuk, C. 2015. How Algorithms Run Amazon's Warehouses. Retrieved December 12 2022, <u>https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20150818-how-algorithms-run-amazons-warehouses</u>.
- Barki, H., & Pinsonneault, A. 2005. A Model of Organizational Integration, Implementation Effort, and Performance. *Organization Science*, 16(2): 165-179.
- Bechky, B. A., & Chung, D. E. 2018. Latitude or Latent Control? How Occupational Embeddedness and Control Shape Emergent Coordination. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 63(3): 607-636.
- Beck, R., Müller-Bloch, C., & King, J. L. 2018. Governance in the Blockchain Economy: A Framework and Research Agenda. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 19(10): 1020-1034.
- Beck, T. E., & Plowman, D. A. 2009. Experiencing Rare and Unusual Events Richly: The Role of Middle Managers in Animating and Guiding Organizational Interpretation. *Organization Science*, 20(5): 909-924.
- Bellesia, F., Mattarelli, E., & Bertolotti, F. 2023. Algorithms and their Affordances: How Crowdworkers Manage Algorithmic Scores in Online Labour Markets. *Journal of Management Studies*, 60(1): 1-37.

- Benkler, Y. 2002. Coase's Penguin, or, Linux and "the Nature of the Firm". *Yale Law Journal*, 112(3): 369-446.
- Benlian, A., Wiener, M., Cram, W. A., Krasnova, H., Maedche, A., Möhlmann, M., Recker, J., & Remus, U. 2022. Algorithmic Management. *Business & Information Systems Engineering*, 64(6): 825-839.
- Benson, J. K. 1975. The Interorganizational Network as a Political Economy. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 20(2): 229-249.
- Benstead, A. V., Mwesiumo, D., Moradlou, H., & Boffelli, A. 2022. Entering the World Behind the Clothes That We Wear: Practical Applications of Blockchain Technology. *Production Planning & Control*: 1-18.
- Berente, N., Lyytinen, K., Yoo, Y., & King, J. L. 2016. Routines as Shock Absorbers During Organizational Transformation: Integration, Control, and Nasa's Enterprise Information System. *Organization Science*, 27(3): 551-572.
- Bergh, D. D., Ketchen, D. J., Orlandi, I., Heugens, P. P. M. A. R., & Boyd, B. K. 2019. Information Asymmetry in Management Research: Past Accomplishments and Future Opportunities. *Journal of Management*, 45(1): 122-158.
- Berry, H. 2018. The Influence of Multiple Knowledge Networks on Innovation in Foreign Operations. *Organization Science*, 29(5): 855-872.
- Bharadwaj, A., El Sawy, O. A., Pavlou, P. A., & Venkatraman, N. 2013. Digital Business Strategy: Toward a Next Generation of Insights. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(2): 471-482.
- Bitvalex. 2019. Coca-Cola Using Blockchain to Manage Its Supply Chain. Retrieved April 11 2023, <u>https://medium.com/the-capital/coca-cola-using-blockchain-to-manage-its-supply-chain-11d787e7780e</u>.
- Blockchain Magazine. 2022. How Blockchain Can Revolutionize the Construction Industry? Retrieved March 19 2023, <u>https://blockchainmagazine.net/how-blockchain-can-revolutionize-the-construction-industry/</u>.
- Blockdata. 2021. 81 of the Top 100 Public Companies Are Using Blockchain Technology. Retrieved June 12 2023,

https://www.blockdata.tech/blog/general/81-of-the-top-100-publiccompanies-are-using-blockchain-technology.

- BMW. 2020. BMW Group Uses Blockchain to Drive Supply Chain Transparency. Retrieved March 22 2023, <u>https://www.press.bmwgroup.com/global/article/detail/T0307164E</u> <u>N/bmw-group-uses-blockchain-to-drive-supply-chain-transparency</u>.
- Boeker, W. 1989. Strategic Change: The Effects of Founding and History. *Academy of Management Journal*, 32(3): 489-515.
- Bolukbasi, T., Chang, K.-W., Zou, J. Y., Saligrama, V., & Kalai, A. T.
 2016. Man Is to Computer Programmer as Woman Is to Homemaker? Debiasing Word Embeddings. In D. Lee, M.
 Sugiyama, U. Luxburg, I. Guyon, & R. Garnett (Eds.), Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 30th Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, Vol. 29: 4356-4364.
 Barcelona, Spain: NIPS Foundation.
- Brass, D. J., Galaskiewicz, J., Greve, H. R., & Tsai, W. 2004. Taking Stock of Networks and Organizations: A Multilevel Perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(6): 795-817.
- Brookbanks, M., & Parry, G. 2022. The Impact of a Blockchain Platform on Trust in Established Relationships: A Case Study of Wine Supply Chains. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 27(7): 128-146.
- Brown, P., Beekes, W., & Verhoeven, P. 2011. Corporate Governance, Accounting and Finance: A Review. *Accounting & Finance*, 51(1): 96-172.
- Busenbark, J. R., Yoon, H., Gamache, D. L., & Withers, M. C. 2021. Omitted Variable Bias: Examining Management Research with the Impact Threshold of a Confounding Variable (Itcv). *Journal of Management*, 48(1): 17-48.
- Business Insider. 2021. Coca-Cola Bottlers and SAP Are Scaling a Major Blockchain Project Poised to Remake a \$21 Billion-a-Year Supply-Chain Operation. It's One Example of the Still Nascent Tech's Promise. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/coca-cola-bottlers-sap-scaling-upa-major-blockchain-project-2019-10</u>.

- Business Wire. 2020a. BlockApps Launches Agribusiness Blockchain Network 'TraceHarvest' Following Success with Bayer. Retrieved May 15 2021, <u>https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20201118005662/en/Blo</u> <u>ckApps-Launches-Agribusiness-Blockchain-Network-</u> <u>%E2%80%98TraceHarvest%E2%80%99-Following-Success-with-Bayer.</u>
- Business Wire. 2020b. Consensys Acquires Quorum® Platform from JPMorgan. Retrieved June 2021, <u>https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200825005497/en/ConsenSys-Acquires-Quorum%C2%AE-Platform-J.P.-Morgan.</u>
- Cacioli, L. 2020. Coca-Cola Leverages Enterprise Ethereum Blockchain to Optimize Supply Chain. Retrieved April 11 2023, <u>https://blockchain.news/news/coca-cola-enterprise-ethereumblockchain-optimize-supply-chain</u>.
- Cameron, L. D., & Rahman, H. 2022. Expanding the Locus of Resistance: Understanding the Co-Constitution of Control and Resistance in the Gig Economy. *Organization Science*, 33(1): 38-58.
- Cao, M., & Zhang, Q. 2011. Supply Chain Collaboration: Impact on Collaborative Advantage and Firm Performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(3): 163-180.
- Cao, Z., & Lumineau, F. 2015. Revisiting the Interplay between Contractual and Relational Governance: A Qualitative and Meta-Analytic Investigation. *Journal of Operations Management*, 33: 15-42.
- Carey, S., Lawson, B., & Krause, D. R. 2011. Social Capital Configuration, Legal Bonds and Performance in Buyer–Supplier Relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29(4): 277-288.
- Carroll, G. R., & Hannan, M. T. 2018. *The Demography of Corporations and Industries*. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Carter, C. R., Kaufmann, L., & Ketchen, D. J. 2020. Expect the Unexpected: Toward a Theory of the Unintended Consequences of Sustainable Supply Chain Management. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 40(12): 1857-1871.

 Casino, F., Kanakaris, V., Dasaklis, T. K., Moschuris, S., Stachtiaris, S., Pagoni, M., & Rachaniotis, N. P. 2021. Blockchain-Based Food Supply Chain Traceability: A Case Study in the Dairy Sector. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(19): 5758-5770.

Catalini, C., & Gans, J. S. 2020. Some Simple Economics of the Blockchain. *Communications of the ACM*, 63(7): 80-90.

- Cennamo, C., Marchesi, C., & Meyer, T. 2020. Two Sides of the Same Coin? Decentralized Versus Proprietary Blockchains and the Performance of Digital Currencies. *Academy of Management Discoveries*, 6(3): 382-405.
- Chakkol, M., Selviaridis, K., & Finne, M. 2018. The Governance of Collaboration in Complex Projects. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38(4): 997-1019.
- Chawla, C. 2020. Trust in Blockchains: Algorithmic and Organizational. *Journal of Business Venturing Insights*, 14(e00203): 1-8.
- Chen, L., Tong, T. W., Tang, S., & Han, N. 2022. Governance and Design of Digital Platforms: A Review and Future Research Directions on a Meta-Organization. *Journal of Management*, 48(1): 147-184.
- Chen, L., Yi, J., Li, S., & Tong, T. W. 2021a. Platform Governance Design in Platform Ecosystems: Implications for Complementors' Multihoming Decision. *Journal of Management*, 48(3): 630-656.
- Chen, Y., Pereira, I., & Patel, P. C. 2020. Decentralized Governance of Digital Platforms. *Journal of Management*, 47(5): 1305-1337.
- Chen, Y., Richter, J. I., & Patel, P. C. 2021b. Decentralized Governance of Digital Platforms. *Journal of Management*, 47(5): 1305-1337.
- Chen, Y.-S., & Chang, K.-C. 2010. The Relationship between a Firm's Patent Quality and Its Market Value — the Case of U.S. Pharmaceutical Industry. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(1): 20-33.
- Cheng, S. F., De Franco, G., Jiang, H., & Lin, P. 2019. Riding the Blockchain Mania: Public Firms' Speculative 8-K Disclosures. *Management Science*, 65(12): 5901-5913.

- Chhillar, D., & Aguilera, R. V. 2022. An Eye for Artificial Intelligence: Insights into the Governance of Artificial Intelligence and Vision for Future Research. *Business & Society*, 61(5): 1197-1241.
- Chircu, A. M., & Kauffman, R. J. 1999. Strategies for Internet Middlemen in the Intermediation/Disintermediation/Reintermediation Cycle. *Electronic Markets*, 9(1-2): 109-117.
- Chod, J., Trichakis, N., Tsoukalas, G., Aspegren, H., & Weber, M. 2020. On the Financing Benefits of Supply Chain Transparency and Blockchain Adoption. *Management Science*, 66(10): 4378-4396.
- Cislaghi, T. P., Wegner, D., & Vieira, L. M. 2022. How Do Governance and Relational Rents Evolve During the Maturity Stages of Supply Chains? *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 27(3): 369-382.
- Claggett, J. L., & Karahanna, E. 2018. Unpacking the Structure of Coordination Mechanisms and the Role of Relational Coordination in an Era of Digitally Mediated Work Processes. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(4): 704-722.
- Clauss, T., & Ritala, P. 2023. Network Governance Institutionalization: Creating Mutual Value by Harnessing and Avoiding Conflicts in Interorganizational Networks. *Journal of Business Research*, 163: 113880.
- Clohessy, T., Treiblmaier, H., Acton, T., & Rogers, N. 2020. Antecedents of Blockchain Adoption: An Integrative Framework. *Strategic Change*, 29(5): 501-515.
- Coase, R. H. 1937. The Nature of the Firm. *Economica*, 4(16): 386-405.
- Cohen, M. D., & Bacdayan, P. 1994. Organizational Routines Are Stored as Procedural Memory: Evidence from a Laboratory Study. *Organization Science*, 5(4): 554-568.
- CoinDesk. 2022. Australian Securities Exchange Cancels Blockchain-Based Clearing System at \$168m Cost. Retrieved November 18 2022, <u>https://www.coindesk.com/business/2022/11/17/australiansecurities-exchange-cancels-blockchain-based-clearing-system-at-168m-cost/.</u>

- Coinspeaker. 2019. Coca-Cola to Use Blockchain Technology Developed by SAP. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://www.coinspeaker.com/coca-cola-blockchain-sap/</u>.
- Commerford, B. P., Dennis, S. A., Joe, J. R., & Ulla, J. W. 2022. Man Versus Machine: Complex Estimates and Auditor Reliance on Artificial Intelligence. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 60(1): 171-201.
- Cong, L. W., & He, Z. 2019. Blockchain Disruption and Smart Contracts. *Review of Financial Studies*, 32(5): 1754-1797.
- Connelly, B. L., Crook, T. R., Combs, J. G., Ketchen Jr, D. J., & Aguinis, H. 2018. Competence- and Integrity-Based Trust in Interorganizational Relationships: Which Matters More? *Journal of Management*, 44(3): 919-945.
- Constantinides, P., Henfridsson, O., & Parker, G. G. 2018. Introduction Platforms and Infrastructures in the Digital Age. *Information Systems Research*, 29(2): 381-400.
- Cousins, P. D., Lawson, B., & Squire, B. 2006. Supply Chain Management: Theory and Practice – the Emergence of an Academic Discipline? *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26(7): 697-702.
- Couture, F., Jarzabkowski, P., & Lê, J. K. 2023. Triggers, Traps, and Disconnect: How Governance Obstacles Hinder Progress on Grand Challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, doi:10.5465/amj.2020.1716.
- Crolic, C., Thomaz, F., Hadi, R., & Stephen, A. T. 2022. Blame the Bot: Anthropomorphism and Anger in Customer-Chatbot Interactions. *Journal of Marketing*, 86(1): 132-148.
- Cronin, M. A., & Weingart, L. R. 2007. Representational Gaps, Information Processing, and Conflict in Functionally Diverse Teams. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(3): 761-773.
- Cuevas-Rodríguez, G., Gomez-Mejia, L. R., & Wiseman, R. M. 2012. Has Agency Theory Run Its Course?: Making the Theory More Flexible to Inform the Management of Reward Systems. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 20(6): 526-546.

- Dahlander, L., & O'Mahony, S. 2011. Progressing to the Center: Coordinating Project Work. *Organization Science*, 22(4): 961-979.
- Dahlmann, F., Brammer, S., & Roehrich, J. K. 2023. Navigating the "Performing-Organizing" Paradox: Tensions between Supply Chain Transparency, Coordination, and Scope 3 GHG Emissions Performance. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 43(11): 1757-1780.
- Das, T. K., & Teng, B.-S. 2001. Trust, Control, and Risk in Strategic Alliances: An Integrated Framework. *Organization Studies*, 22(2): 251-283.
- Davenport, T. H., & Bean, R. 2023. Generative AI at Mastercard: Governance Takes Center Stage. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, <u>https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/generative-ai-at-mastercard-governance-takes-center-stage/</u>.
- Davidson, S., De Filippi, P., & Potts, J. 2018. Blockchains and the Economic Institutions of Capitalism. *Journal of Institutional Economics*, 14(4): 639-658.
- Davis, J. P. 2016. The Group Dynamics of Interorganizational Relationships: Collaborating with Multiple Partners in Innovation Ecosystems. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 61(4): 621-661.
- Day, A. 2023. Blockchain Won't Save the World Podcast. In A. Day (Ed.), *Is Enterprise Blockchain Bigger than We Think? w. Giovanni Franzese (Head of Blockchain, Ericsson)*, <u>https://open.spotify.com/episode/3RZ62Tfgmk9OhoZu9jI0BK</u>: Spotify.
- De Cuyper, L., Clarysse, B., & Phillips, N. 2020. Imprinting Beyond the Founding Phase: How Sedimented Imprints Develop over Time. *Organization Science*, 31(6): 1579-1600.
- De Pourcq, K., & Verleye, K. 2022. Governance Dynamics in Inter-Organizational Networks: A Meta-Ethnographic Study. *European Management Journal*, 40(2): 273-282.
- de Reuver, M., Sørensen, C., & Basole, R. C. 2018. The Digital Platform: A Research Agenda. *Journal of Information Technology*, 33(2): 124-135.

- Dekker, H. C. 2004. Control of Inter-Organizational Relationships: Evidence on Appropriation Concerns and Coordination Requirements. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 29(1): 27-49.
- Dhanaraj, C., & Parkhe, A. 2006. Orchestrating Innovation Networks. *Academy of Management Review*, 31(3): 659-669.
- Dimov, D., de Holan, P. M., & Milanov, H. 2012. Learning Patterns in Venture Capital Investing in New Industries. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 21(6): 1389-1426.
- Dixon, J., Hong, B., & Wu, L. 2021. The Robot Revolution: Managerial and Employment Consequences for Firms. *Management Science*, 67(9): 5586-5605.
- Dodgson, M., Gann, D. M., & Phillips, N. 2013. Organizational Learning and the Technology of Foolishness: The Case of Virtual Worlds at IBM. *Organization Science*, 24(5): 1358-1376.
- Dokko, G., Wilk, S. L., & Rothbard, N. P. 2009. Unpacking Prior Experience: How Career History Affects Job Performance. *Organization Science*, 20(1): 51-68.
- Dolata, M., Feuerriegel, S., & Schwabe, G. 2022. A Sociotechnical View of Algorithmic Fairness. *Information Systems Journal*, 32(4): 754-818.
- Downing, S. T., Kang, J.-S., & Markman, G. D. 2019. What You Don't See Can Hurt You: Awareness Cues to Profile Indirect Competitors. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(6): 1872-1900.
- Downs, A. 1967. Inside Bureaucracy. Boston: Little, Brown & Co.
- Doz, Y. L. 1996. The Evolution of Cooperation in Strategic Alliances: Initial Conditions or Learning Processes? *Strategic Management Journal*, 17(S1): 55-83.
- Doz, Y. L., Olk, P. M., & Ring, P. S. 2000. Formation Processes of R&D Consortia: Which Path to Take? Where Does It Lead? *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(3): 239-266.
- Drummer, D., & Neumann, D. 2020. Is Code Law? Current Legal and Technical Adoption Issues and Remedies for Blockchain-Enabled
Smart Contracts. *Journal of Information Technology*, 35(4): 337-360.

- Dutton, J. E., & Ashford, S. J. 1993. Selling Issues to Top Management. *Academy of Management Review*, 18(3): 397-428.
- Edelmann, G. 2022. Paradise at the Crypto Arcade: Inside the Web3 Revolution. Retrieved December 12 2022, <u>https://www.wired.com/story/web3-paradise-crypto-arcade/</u>.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. 1985. Control: Organizational and Economic Approaches. *Management Science*, 31(2): 134-149.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. 1989a. Agency Theory: An Assessment and Review. *Academy of Management Review*, 14(1): 57-74.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. 1989b. Building Theories from Case Study Research. *Academy of Management Review*, 14(4): 532-550.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. 2021. What Is the Eisenhardt Method, Really? *Strategic Organization*, 19(1): 147-160.
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. 2007. Theory Building from Cases: Opportunities and Challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(1): 25-32.
- Ellis, S., Aharonson, B. S., Drori, I., & Shapira, Z. 2017. Imprinting through Inheritance: A Multi-Genealogical Study of Entrepreneurial Proclivity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(2): 500-522.
- Ens, N., Hukal, P., & Blegind Jensen, T. 2023. Dynamics of Control on Digital Platforms. *Information Systems Journal*, doi:10.1111/isj.12429.
- Fabian, N. E., Weck, M., Hanelt, A., Firk, S., Oehmichen, J., & Bhattacharya, A. 2022. *Many Roads Lead to Digital Transformation: A Configurational Perspective on Digital Competence Elements*. Paper presented at the ICIS 2022 Proceedings, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Fahn, M., & Zanarone, G. 2021. Transparency in Relational Contracts. *Strategic Management Journal*, 43(5): 1046-1071.
- Fama, E. F. 1980. Agency Problems and the Theory of the Firm. *Journal of Political Economy*, 88(2): 288-307.

- Fama, E. F., & Jensen, M. C. 1983. Separation of Ownership and Control. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 26(2): 301-325.
- Feldman, M. S. 2000. Organizational Routines as a Source of Continuous Change. *Organization Science*, 11(6): 611-629.
- Firk, S., Hanelt, A., Oehmichen, J., & Wolff, M. 2021. Chief Digital Officers: An Analysis of the Presence of a Centralized Digital Transformation Role. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(7): 1800-1831.
- Fiss, P. C. 2007. A Set-Theoretic Approach to Organizational Configurations. Academy of Management Review, 32(4): 1180-1198.
- Foley, S., Karlsen, J. R., & Putniņš, T. J. 2019. Sex, Drugs, and Bitcoin: How Much Illegal Activity Is Financed through Cryptocurrencies? *The Review of Financial Studies*, 32(5): 1798-1853.
- Francisco Polidoro, J., Ahuja, G., & Mitchell, W. 2011. When the Social Structure Overshadows Competitive Incentives: The Effects of Network Embeddedness on Joint Venture Dissolution. Academy of Management Journal, 54(1): 203-223.
- Frank, K. A. 2000. Impact of a Confounding Variable on a Regression Coefficient. Sociological Methods & Research, 29(2): 147-194.
- Fu, R., Aseri, M., Singh, P. V., & Srinivasan, K. 2022. "Un"Fair Machine Learning Algorithms. *Management Science*, 68(6): 4173-4195.
- Furlotti, M. 2007. There Is More to Contracts Than Incompleteness: A Review and Assessment of Empirical Research on Inter-Firm Contract Design. *Journal of Management & Governance*, 11(1): 61-99.
- Furnari, S., Crilly, D., Misangyi, V. F., Greckhamer, T., Fiss, P. C., & Aguilera, R. V. 2021. Capturing Causal Complexity: Heuristics for Configurational Theorizing. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(4): 778-799.
- Galbraith, J. R. 1994. *Competing with Flexible Lateral Organizations*. New York, NY: Addison-Wesley.
- Gartner. 2019. Gartner Predicts 90% of Current Enterprise Blockchain Platform Implementations Will Require Replacement by 2021,

https://www.gartner.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/2019-07-03-gartner-predicts-90--of-current-enterprise-blockchain.

- Garvin, D. A. 1998. The Processes of Organization and Management. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 39(4).
- Gibbert, M., Ruigrok, W., & Wicki, B. 2008. What Passes as a Rigorous Case Study? *Strategic Management Journal*, 29(13): 1465-1474.
- Gilbert, D. 2021. Facebook Is Ignoring Moderators' Trauma: 'They Suggest Karaoke and Painting'. Retrieved December 12 2022, <u>https://www.vice.com/en/article/m7eva4/traumatized-facebook-moderators-told-to-suck-it-up-and-try-karaoke</u>.
- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. 2013. Seeking Qualitative Rigor in Inductive Research: Notes on the Gioia Methodology. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(1): 15-31.
- Giraldo, J. 2018. *X-Border Platforms: The Implications of Distributed Ledger Technology*. Paper presented at the 26th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS2018), Portsmouth, UK.
- Gittell, J. H. 2000. Paradox of Coordination and Control. *California Management Review*, 42(3): 101-117.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. 1967. *The Discovery of Grounded Theory: strategies for Qualitative Research*. Chicago: Aldine.
- Gnyawali, D. R., & Ryan Charleton, T. 2018. Nuances in the Interplay of Competition and Cooperation: Towards a Theory of Coopetition. *Journal of Management*, 44(7): 2511-2534.
- Goldberg, M., & Schär, F. 2023. Metaverse Governance: An Empirical Analysis of Voting within Decentralized Autonomous Organizations. *Journal of Business Research*, 160: 113764.
- Goldsby, C. M., & Hanisch, M. 2021. *Platforms, Blockchains, and Hybrids: Digital Governance of Interorganizational Networks*. Paper presented at the 81st Academy of Management Annual Meeting, Virtual.
- Goldsby, C. M., & Hanisch, M. 2022. The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right. *California Management Review*, 64(3): 141–168.

- Goldsby, C. M., & Hanisch, M. 2023. Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing. *Journal of Business Research*, 168.
- Goldsby, C. M., Hanisch, M., & Klapper, H. J. 2023. The Hidden Influences of Blockchain Governance: A Study of Organizational Imprinting. Paper presented at the 83rd Academy of Management Annual Meeting, Boston, MA.
- Gong, Y., Shenkar, O., Luo, Y., & Nyaw, M.-K. 2007. Do Multiple Parents Help or Hinder International Joint Venture Performance? The Mediating Roles of Contract Completeness and Partner Cooperation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 28(10): 1021-1034.
- Goold, M., & Quinn, J. J. 1990. The Paradox of Strategic Controls. *Strategic Management Journal*, 11(1): 43-57.
- Greckhamer, T., Furnari, S., Fiss, P. C., & Aguilera, R. V. 2018. Studying Configurations with Qualitative Comparative Analysis: Best Practices in Strategy and Organization Research. *Strategic Organization*, 16(4): 482-495.
- Green, S. G., & Welsh, M. A. 1988. Cybernetics and Dependence: Reframing the Control Concept. *Academy of Management Review*, 13(2): 287-301.
- Gregory, R. W., Henfridsson, O., Kaganer, E., & Kyriakou, H. 2021. The Role of Artificial Intelligence and Data Network Effects for Creating User Value. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(3): 534-551.
- Griesbach, K., Reich, A., Elliott-Negri, L., & Milkman, R. 2019. Algorithmic Control in Platform Food Delivery Work. *Socius*, 5.
- Grodal, S., Anteby, M., & Holm, A. L. 2021. Achieving Rigor in Qualitative Analysis: The Role of Active Categorization in Theory Building. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(3): 591–612.
- Grossman, S. J., & Hart, O. D. 1986. The Costs and Benefits of Ownership: A Theory of Vertical and Lateral Integration. *Journal of Political Economy*, 94(4): 691-719.
- Gu, G., & Zhu, F. 2021. Trust and Disintermediation: Evidence from an Online Freelance Marketplace. *Management Science*, 67(2): 794-807.

- Gulati, R. 1995. Does Familiarity Breed Trust? The Implications of Repeated Ties for Contractual Choice in Alliances. Academy of Management Journal, 38(1): 85-112.
- Gulati, R., & Gargiulo, M. 1999. Where Do Interorganizational Networks Come From? *American Journal of Sociology*, 104(5): 1439-1493.
- Gulati, R., & Nickerson, J. A. 2008. Interorganizational Trust, Governance Choice, and Exchange Performance. *Organization Science*, 19(5): 688-708.
- Gulati, R., Puranam, P., & Tushman, M. 2012a. Meta- Organization Design: Rethinking Design in Interorganizational and Community Contexts. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(6): 571-586.
- Gulati, R., & Singh, H. 1998. The Architecture of Cooperation: Managing Coordination Costs and Appropriation Concerns in Strategic Alliances. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 43(4): 781-814.
- Gulati, R., Wohlgezogen, F., & Zhelyazkov, P. 2012b. The Two Facets of Collaboration: Cooperation and Coordination in Strategic Alliances. *Academy of Management Annals*, 6(1): 531-583.
- Guth, W. D., & Macmillan, I. C. 1986. Strategy Implementation Versus Middle Management Self-Interest. *Strategic Management Journal*, 7(4): 313-327.
- Hacker, J., Miscione, G., Felder, T., & Schwabe, G. 2023a. Commit or Not? How Blockchain Consortia Form and Develop. *California Management Review*, doi:10.1177/00081256231175530.
- Hacker, P., Engel, A., & Mauer, M. 2023b. Regulating ChatGPT and Other Large Generative AI Models. *arXiv preprint: 2302.02337*, doi:10.48550/arXiv.2302.02337.
- Haenlein, M., Huang, M.-H., & Kaplan, A. 2022. Guest Editorial: Business Ethics in the Era of Artificial Intelligence. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 178(4): 867-869.
- Haenlein, M., & Kaplan, A. 2021. Artificial Intelligence and Robotics: Shaking up the Business World and Society at Large. *Journal of Business Research*, 124: 405-407.

- Hagedoorn, J. 1993. Understanding the Rationale of Strategic Technology Partnering: Interorganizational Modes of Cooperation and Sectoral Differences. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14(5): 371-385.
- Halaburda, H., & Mueller-Bloch, C. 2019. Will We Realize Blockchain's Promise of Decentralization? *Harvard Business Review*, <u>https://hbr.org/2019/09/will-we-realize-blockchains-promise-of-decentralization</u>.
- Hambrick, D. C., Werder, A. v., & Zajac, E. J. 2008. New Directions in Corporate Governance Research. *Organization Science*, 19(3): 381-385.
- Hanelt, A., Bohnsack, R., Marz, D., & Antunes Marante, C. 2020. A Systematic Review of the Literature on Digital Transformation: Insights and Implications for Strategy and Organizational Change. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(5): 1159-1197.
- Hanisch, M., Goldsby, C. M., Fabian, N. E., & Oehmichen, J. 2023. Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 162.
- Hanisch, M., Goldsby, C. M., & Theodosiadis, V. 2022a. Walking a Tightrope: Balancing Centralization and Decentralization in Enterprise Blockchain Networks. Paper presented at the 82nd Academy of Management Annual Meeting, Seattle, WA.
- Hanisch, M., Theodosiadis, V., & Teixeira, F. 2022b. Digital Governance: How Blockchain Technologies Revolutionize the Governance of Interorganizational Relationships. In B. S. Baalmans, T. L. J. Broekhuizen, & N. E. Fabian (Eds.), *Digital Transformation: A Guide for Managers*. Groningen: Groningen Digital Business Center (GDBC), University of Groningen.
- Hannan, M. T., & Freeman, J. 1984. Structural Inertia and Organizational Change. *American Sociological Review*: 149-164.
- Hansen, M. T. 2002. Knowledge Networks: Explaining Effective Knowledge Sharing in Multiunit Companies. *Organization Science*, 13(3): 232-248.
- Harreld, J. B., O'Reilly, C. A., & Tushman, M. L. 2007. Dynamic Capabilities at IBM: Driving Strategy into Action. *California Management Review*, 49(4): 21-43.

- Harrison, D. A., & Klein, K. J. 2007. What's the Difference? Diversity Constructs as Separation, Variety, or Disparity in Organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(4): 1199-1228.
- Hart, O., & Moore, J. 1990. Property Rights and the Nature of the Firm. *Journal of Political Economy*, 98(6): 1119-1158.
- Hastig, G. M., & Sodhi, M. S. 2020. Blockchain for Supply Chain Traceability: Business Requirements and Critical Success Factors. *Production and Operations Management*, 29(4): 935-954.
- Haveman, H. A., Jia, N., Shi, J., & Wang, Y. 2017. The Dynamics of Political Embeddedness in China. Administrative Science Quarterly, 62(1): 67-104.
- Hecker, R. 2020. How Libra Failed, and How It Could Succeed in 2020. Retrieved October 20 2020, <u>https://www.coindesk.com/how-libra-failed-and-how-it-could-succeed-in-2020</u>.
- Helfat, C. E., & Peteraf, M. A. 2015. Managerial Cognitive Capabilities and the Microfoundations of Dynamic Capabilities. *Strategic Management Journal*, 36(6): 831-850.
- Hinds, P., & Kiesler, S. 1995. Communication across Boundaries: Work, Structure, and Use of Communication Technologies in a Large Organization. *Organization Science*, 6(4): 373-393.
- Hoetker, G., & Mellewigt, T. 2009. Choice and Performance of Governance Mechanisms: Matching Alliance Governance to Asset Type. *Strategic Management Journal*, 30(10): 1025-1044.
- Hoffmann, W., Lavie, D., Reuer, J. J., & Shipilov, A. 2018. The Interplay of Competition and Cooperation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(12): 3033-3052.
- Hofstede, G., Neuijen, B., Ohayv, D. D., & Sanders, G. 1990. Measuring Organizational Cultures: A Qualitative and Quantitative Study across Twenty Cases. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35(2): 286.
- Hojckova, K., Ahlborg, H., Morrison, G. M., & Sandén, B. 2020.
 Entrepreneurial Use of Context for Technological System Creation and Expansion: The Case of Blockchain-Based Peer-to-Peer Electricity Trading. *Research Policy*, 49(8): 104046.

- Holthöwer, J., & van Doorn, J. 2023. Robots Do Not Judge: Service Robots Can Alleviate Embarrassment in Service Encounters. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 51(4): 767-784.
- Homburg, C., Vomberg, A., & Muehlhaeuser, S. 2020. Design and Governance of Multichannel Sales Systems: Financial Performance Consequences in Business-to-Business Markets. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 57(6): 1113-1134.
- Howard-Grenville, J. A. 2005. The Persistence of Flexible Organizational Routines: The Role of Agency and Organizational Context. *Organization Science*, 16(6): 618-636.
- Hsieh, Y.-Y., & Vergne, J.-P. 2023. The Future of the Web? The Coordination and Early- Stage Growth of Decentralized Platforms. *Strategic Management Journal*, 44(3): 829-857.
- Hsieh, Y.-Y., Vergne, J.-P., & Wang, S. 2017. The Internal and External Governance of Blockchain-Based Organizations: Evidence from Cryptocurrencies. In M. Campbell-Verduyn (Ed.), *Bitcoin and Beyond: Blockchains and Global Governance*, 1st Edition ed.: 48-68. London: Routledge.
- Huber, G. P. 1990. A Theory of the Effects of Advanced Information Technologies on Organizational Design, Intelligence, and Decision Making. *Academy of Management Review*, 15(1): 47-71.
- Huber, T. L., Kude, T., & Dibbern, J. 2017. Governance Practices in Platform Ecosystems: Navigating Tensions between Cocreated Value and Governance Costs. *Information Systems Research*, 28(3): 563-584.
- Hundt, A., Agnew, W., Zeng, V., Kacianka, S., & Gombolay, M. 2022.
 Robots Enact Malignant Stereotypes, *Proceedings of the 2022* ACM Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency: 743–756. Seoul: Association for Computing Machinery.
- Iansiti, M., & Lakhani, K. R. 2017. The Truth About Blockchain. *Harvard Business Review*, 95(1): 118-127.
- IBM. 2018. IBM Food Trust Expands Blockchain Network to Foster a Safer, More Transparent and Efficient Global Food System. Retrieved October 29 2020, <u>https://newsroom.ibm.com/2018-10-08-</u>

IBM-Food-Trust-Expands-Blockchain-Network-to-Foster-a-Safer-More-Transparent-and-Efficient-Global-Food-System-1.

- IBM. 2019. Vinturas Provides Automotive End-to-End Supply Chain Visibility. Retrieved July 23 2023, <u>https://newsroom.ibm.com/2019-05-14-Vinturas-Provides-</u><u>Automotive-End-to-End-Supply-Chain-Visibility</u>.
- IBM. 2020a. Advancing Global Trade with Blockchain How to Unleash Value from Trusted, Interconnected Marketplaces, <u>https://www.ibm.com/thought-leadership/institute-business-</u> <u>value/report/blockchain-global-trade#</u>.
- IBM. 2020b. The Case for Governance in Founder-Led Blockchain Networks. Retrieved 30 September 2021, <u>https://www.ibm.com/blogs/blockchain/2020/09/the-case-for-governance-in-founder-led-blockchain-networks/</u>.
- IBM. 2020c. Governance Model the Building Blocks of Trust. Retrieved November 5 2020, <u>https://five-pillars-of-ibm-food-</u> trust.mybluemix.net/governance/building-blocks-of-trust/.
- IBM. 2021. IBM Blockchain Enable Trusted Data Exchange and Workflow Beyond the Boundaries with Distributed Ledger Technology and IBM Blockchain. Retrieved 20 June 2021, <u>https://www.ibm.com/blockchain</u>.
- IBM. 2022. IBM Food Trust: A New Era in the World's Food Supply. Retrieved December 12 2022, <u>https://www.ibm.com/blockchain/solutions/food-trust</u>.
- Irerra, A. 2019. Exclusive: Banks to Invest around \$50 Million in Digital Cash Settlement Project. Retrieved June 1 2021, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-banks-blockchain-exclusive-idUSKCN1SM2U0</u>.
- Jacobides, M. G. 2008. How Capability Differences, Transaction Costs, and Learning Curves Interact to Shape Vertical Scope. *Organization Science*, 19(2): 306-326.
- Jacobides, M. G., & Croson, D. C. 2001. Information Policy: Shaping the Value of Agency Relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, 26(2): 202-223.

- Jarillo, J. C. 1988. On Strategic Networks. *Strategic Management Journal*, 9(1): 31-41.
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. 1976. Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behavior, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4): 305-360.
- Jensen, T., Hedman, J., & Henningsson, S. 2019. How TradeLens Delivers Business Value with Blockchain Technology. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 18(4): 221-243.
- Johnson, V. 2007. What Is Organizational Imprinting? Cultural Entrepreneurship in the Founding of the Paris Opera. *American Journal of Sociology*, 113(1): 97-127.
- Jones, C., Hesterly, W. S., & Borgatti, S. P. 1997. A General Theory of Network Governance: Exchange Conditions and Social Mechanisms. Academy of Management Review, 22(4): 911-945.
- Jones, G. R. 1983. Transaction Costs, Property Rights, and Organizational Culture: An Exchange Perspective. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 28(3): 454-467.
- Jones, G. R. 1984. Task Visibility, Free Riding, and Shirking: Explaining the Effect of Structure and Technology on Employee Behavior. *Academy of Management Review*, 9(4): 684-695.
- Jovanovic, M., Kostić, N., Sebastian, I. M., & Sedej, T. 2022. Managing a Blockchain-Based Platform Ecosystem for Industry-Wide Adoption: The Case of TradeLens. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 184: 121981.
- Junge, S., Luger, J., & Mammen, J. 2023. The Role of Organizational Structure in Senior Managers' Selective Information Processing. *Journal of Management Studies*, doi:10.1111/joms.12918.
- Kaal, W. A. 2021. Blockchain-Based Corporate Governance. *Stanford Journal of Blockchain Law & Policy*, 4(1): 19-10.
- Kaplan, A., & Haenlein, M. 2020. Rulers of the World, Unite! The Challenges and Opportunities of Artificial Intelligence. *Business Horizons*, 63(1): 37-50.
- Karim, S., Lee, C.-H., & Hoehn-Weiss, M. N. 2023. Task Bottlenecks and Resource Bottlenecks: A Holistic Examination of Task Systems

through an Organization Design Lens. *Strategic Management Journal*, 44(8): 1839-1878.

- Karr-Wisniewski, P., & Lu, Y. 2010. When More Is Too Much: Operationalizing Technology Overload and Exploring Its Impact on Knowledge Worker Productivity. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(5): 1061-1072.
- Keats, B. W., & Hitt, M. A. 1988. A Causal Model of Linkages among Environmental Dimensions, Macro Organizational Characteristics, and Performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 31(3): 570-598.
- Keller, A., Lumineau, F., Mellewigt, T., & Ariño, A. 2021. Alliance Governance Mechanisms in the Face of Disruption. *Organization Science*, 32(6): 1542-1570.
- Kellogg, K. C., Valentine, M. A., & Christin, A. 2020. Algorithms at Work: The New Contested Terrain of Control. *Academy of Management Annals*, 14(1): 366-410.
- Kim, T.-Y., Oh, H., & Swaminathan, A. 2006. Framing Interorganizational Network Change: A Network Inertia Perspective. Academy of Management Review, 31(3): 704-720.
- Knight, K. 1976. Matrix Organization: A Review. *Journal of Management Studies*, 13(2): 111-130.
- Knight, W. 2019. The World Economic Forum Wants to Develop Global Rules for AI. Retrieved December 11 2022, <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2019/05/28/135198/the-world-economic-forum-wants-to-develop-global-rules-for-ai/</u>.
- Kogut, B. 2000. The Network as Knowledge: Generative Rules and the Emergence of Structure. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(3): 405-425.
- Kogut, B., & Singh, H. 1988. The Effect of National Culture on the Choice of Entry Mode. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 19(3): 411-432.
- Kohli, R., & Liang, T.-P. 2021. Strategic Integration of Blockchain Technology into Organizations. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 38(2): 282-287.

- Kordzadeh, N., & Ghasemaghaei, M. 2022. Algorithmic Bias: Review, Synthesis, and Future Research Directions. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 31(3): 388-409.
- Kuhn, D. 2021. Consensus 2021: 6 Questions for Gartner's Avivah Litan. Retrieved May 26 2021, <u>https://www.coindesk.com/consensus-</u>2021-six-questions-for-gartners-avivah-litan.
- Lacity, M., & Van Hoek, R. 2021. What We've Learned So Far About Blockchain for Business. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 62(3): 48-54.
- Lacity, M. C. 2018. Addressing Key Challenges to Making Enterprise Blockchain Applications a Reality. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 17(3): 201-222.
- Langley, A. 1999. Strategies for Theorizing from Process Data. *Academy* of Management Review, 24(4): 691-710.
- Lawrence, M., & Poliquin, C. 2023. The Growth of Hierarchy in Organizations: Managing Knowledge Scope. *Strategic Management Journal*, doi:10.1002/smj.3539.
- Lebovitz, S., Lifshitz-Assaf, H., & Levina, N. 2022. To Engage or Not to Engage with AI for Critical Judgments: How Professionals Deal with Opacity When Using AI for Medical Diagnosis. *Organization Science*, 33(1): 126-148.
- Ledger Insights. 2018. Trade Finance Blockchain Race Is About to Start. Retrieved August 7 2023, <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/wetrade-trade-finance-blockchain-race/</u>.
- Ledger Insights. 2019a. Bud, Vodafone, Cisco, Glaxo Join IBM Supplier Management Blockchain. Retrieved May 28 2021, <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/ibm-supplier-management-blockchain-bud-vodafone-cisco-glaxo/</u>.
- Ledger Insights. 2019b. Coca-Cola Bottlers Adopt SAP Blockchain for Supply Chain. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/coca-cola-sap-blockchain-bottling-supply-chain/</u>.
- Ledger Insights. 2019c. DHL, BMW Run Blockchain Trial for Asia Pacific Supply Chain. Retrieved March 26 2023,

https://www.ledgerinsights.com/dhl-bmw-run-blockchain-trial-for-asia-pacific-supply-chain/.

- Ledger Insights. 2020. Coca-Cola Bottlers to Trial Public Ethereum for Supply Chain Transparency. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/coca-cola-bottlers-coke-blockchain-ethereum-baseline/</u>.
- Ledger Insights. 2021. Allianz Launches Blockchain Claims Solution in 23 Countries. Retrieved March 15 2023, <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/allianz-launches-blockchain-</u> <u>claims-solution-in-23-countries/</u>.
- Lee, E., Ilseven, E., & Puranam, P. 2023. Scaling Nonhierarchically: A Theory of Conflict-Free Organizational Growth with Limited Hierarchical Growth. *Strategic Management Journal*, doi:10.1002/smj.3541.
- Lee, G. K., & Cole, R. E. 2003. From a Firm-Based to a Community-Based Model of Knowledge Creation: The Case of the Linux Kernel Development. *Organization Science*, 14(6): 633-649.
- Lee, M. K. 2018. Understanding Perception of Algorithmic Decisions: Fairness, Trust, and Emotion in Response to Algorithmic Management. *Big Data & Society*, 5(1): 2053951718756684.
- Leiblein, M. J. 2003. The Choice of Organizational Governance Form and Performance: Predictions from Transaction Cost, Resource-Based, and Real Options Theories. *Journal of Management*, 29(6): 937-961.
- Leifer, R., & Mills, P. K. 1996. An Information Processing Approach for Deciding Upon Control Strategies and Reducing Control Loss in Emerging Organizations. *Journal of Management*, 22(1): 113-137.
- Lemieux, V. L., Rowell, C., Seidel, M.-D. L., & Woo, C. C. 2020. Caught in the Middle? Strategic Information Governance Disruptions in the Era of Blockchain and Distributed Trust. *Records Management Journal*, 30(3): 301-324.
- Lessard, D. R., & Zaheer, S. 1996. Breaking the Silos: Distributed Knowledge and Strategic Responses to Volatile Exchange Rates. *Strategic Management Journal*, 17(7): 513-533.

- Levinthal, D. A., & March, J. G. 1993. The Myopia of Learning. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14(S2): 95-112.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. 1985. *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Litwak, E., & Hylton, L. F. 1962. Interorganizational Analysis: A Hypothesis on Co-Ordinating Agencies. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 6(4): 395-420.
- Liu, X., Wu, H., Wu, W., Fu, Y., & Huang, G. Q. 2021. Blockchain-Enabled ESG Reporting Framework for Sustainable Supply Chain. Paper presented at the Sustainable Design and Manufacturing 2020: Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Sustainable Design and Manufacturing (KES-SDM 2020), Singapore.
- Loebbecke, C., & Picot, A. 2015. Reflections on Societal and Business Model Transformation Arising from Digitization and Big Data Analytics: A Research Agenda. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 24(3): 149-157.
- Longest, K. C., & Vaisey, S. 2008. Fuzzy: A Program for Performing Qualitative Comparative Analyses (QCA) in Stata. *The Stata Journal*, 8(1): 79-104.
- Lopes, L. 2019. Construction: A Blockchain Use Case. Retrieved March 19 2023, <u>https://theblockchainland.com/2019/08/14/construction-blockchain-use-case/</u>.
- Lu, S. F., & Wedig, G. J. 2013. Clustering, Agency Costs and Operating Efficiency: Evidence from Nursing Home Chains. *Management Science*, 59(3): 677-694.
- Lumineau, F., & Henderson, J. E. 2012. The Influence of Relational Experience and Contractual Governance on the Negotiation Strategy in Buyer–Supplier Disputes. *Journal of Operations Management*, 30(5): 382-395.
- Lumineau, F., Schilke, O., & Wang, W. 2023. Organizational Trust in the Age of the Fourth Industrial Revolution: Shifts in the Form, Production, and Targets of Trust. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 32(1): 21-34.

- Lumineau, F., Wang, W., & Schilke, O. 2021. Blockchain Governance: A New Way of Organizing Collaborations? *Organization Science*, 32(2): 500-521.
- MacCormack, A., Verganti, R., & Iansiti, M. 2001. Developing Products on "Internet Time": The Anatomy of a Flexible Development Process. *Management Science*, 47(1): 133-150.
- Madnick, S. 2019. Blockchain Isn't as Unbreakable as You Think. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, doi:10.2139/ssrn.3542542.
- Magelssen, C., Rich, B., & Mayer, K. 2022. The Contractual Governance of Transactions within Firms. *Organization Science*, 33(6): 2226-2249.
- Mahapatra, S. K., Narasimhan, R., & Barbieri, P. 2010. Strategic Interdependence, Governance Effectiveness and Supplier Performance: A Dyadic Case Study Investigation and Theory Development. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28(6): 537-552.
- Makadok, R., & Coff, R. 2009. Both Market and Hierarchy: An Incentive-System Theory of Hybrid Governance Forms. *Academy of Management Review*, 34(2): 297-319.
- Malgonde, O., Zhang, H., Padmanabhan, B., & Limayem, M. 2020. Taming Complexity in Search Matching: Two-Sided Recommender Systems on Digital Platforms. *MIS Quarterly*, 44(1): 49-84.
- Marcel, J. J., Cowen, A. P., & Ballinger, G. A. 2017. Are Disruptive Ceo Successions Viewed as a Governance Lapse? Evidence from Board Turnover. *Journal of Management*, 43(5): 1313-1334.
- March, J. G. 1991. Exploration and Exploitation in Organizational Learning. *Organization Science*, 2(1): 71-87.
- March, J. G., & Simon, H. A. 1958. *Organizations*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Marquis, C. 2003. The Pressure of the Past: Network Imprinting in Intercorporate Communities. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 48(4): 655-689.

- Marquis, C., & Huang, Z. 2010. Acquisitions as Exaptation: The Legacy of Founding Institutions in the Us Commercial Banking Industry. *Academy of Management Journal*, 53(6): 1441-1473.
- Marquis, C., & Qiao, K. 2020. Waking from Mao's Dream: Communist Ideological Imprinting and the Internationalization of Entrepreneurial Ventures in China. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 65(3): 795-830.
- Marquis, C., & Tilcsik, A. 2013. Imprinting: Toward a Multilevel Theory. *Academy of Management Annals*, 7(1): 195-245.
- Martin, K. 2019. Designing Ethical Algorithms. *MIS Quarterly Executive June*, 18(2): 129-142.
- Massey, D. S. 2002. A Brief History of Human Society: The Origin and Role of Emotion in Social Life. *American Sociological Review*, 67(1): 1-29.
- Mayer, K. J., & Argyres, N. S. 2004. Learning to Contract: Evidence from the Personal Computer Industry. *Organization Science*, 15(4): 394-410.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. 1995. An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust. *Academy of Management Review*, 20(3): 709-734.
- McEvily, B., Jaffee, J., & Tortoriello, M. 2012. Not All Bridging Ties Are Equal: Network Imprinting and Firm Growth in the Nashville Legal Industry, 1933–1978. *Organization Science*, 23(2): 547-563.
- Microsoft. 2021. Bringing Agility to SAP on Azure: How Coke One North America Transformed their Business. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/events/ignite-mar-</u>2021/azure/featured-sessions/fs405/.
- Milanov, H., & Shepherd, D. A. 2013. The Importance of the First Relationship: The Ongoing Influence of Initial Network on Future Status. *Strategic Management Journal*, 34(6): 727-750.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. 2014. *Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, Califorinia: SAGE Publications.

- Mingxiao, D., Xiaofeng, M., Zhe, Z., Xiangwei, W., & Qijun, C. 2017. A *Review on Consensus Algorithm of Blockchain*. Paper presented at the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC).
- Mithas, S., Tafti, A., & Mitchell, W. 2013. How a Firm's Competitive Environment and Digital Strategic Posture Influence Digital Business Strategy. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(2): 511-536.
- Mitnick, B. M. 2021. The Theory of Agency Redux. Academy of Management Discoveries, 7(2): 171-179.
- Möhlmann, M., Zalmanson, L., Henfridsson, O., & Gregory, R. W. 2021.
 Algorithmic Management of Work on Online Labor Platforms:
 When Matching Meets Control. *MIS Quarterly*, 45(4): 1999-2022.
- Möhlmannn, M., Alves de Lima Salge, C., & Marabelli, M. 2023. Algorithm Sensemaking: How Platform Workers Make Sense of Algorithmic Management. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 24(1): 35-64.
- Monteiro, P., & Adler, P. S. 2022. Bureaucracy for the 21st Century: Clarifying And expanding Our View of Bureaucratic Organization. *Academy of Management Annals*, 16(2): 427-475.
- Moon, H., Hollenbeck, J. R., Humphrey, S. E., Ilgen, D. R., West, B., Ellis, A. P. J., & Porter, C. O. L. H. 2004. Asymmetric Adaptability: Dynamic Team Structures as One-Way Streets. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(5): 681-695.
- Morton, N. A., & Hu, Q. 2008. Implications of the Fit between Organizational Structure and Erp: A Structural Contingency Theory Perspective. *International Journal of Information Management*, 28(5): 391-402.
- Murray, A., Kuban, S., Josefy, M., & Anderson, J. 2021. Contracting in the Smart Era: The Implications of Blockchain and Decentralized Autonomous Organizations for Contracting and Corporate Governance. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 35(4): 622-641.
- Naef, S., Wagner, S. M., & Saur, C. 2022. Blockchain and Network Governance: Learning from Applications in the Supply Chain

Sector. *Production Planning & Control*, doi:10.1080/09537287.2022.2044072.

Nakamoto, S. 2008. Bitcoin: A Peer-to-Peer Electronic Cash System.

- Nalebuff, B. J., & Brandenburger, A. M. 1997. Co- Opetition: Competitive and Cooperative Business Strategies for the Digital Economy. *Strategy & Leadership*, 25(6): 28-33.
- Nambisan, S., Wright, M., & Feldman, M. 2019. The Digital Transformation of Innovation and Entrepreneurship: Progress, Challenges and Key Themes. *Research Policy*, 48(8): 103773.
- Narayanan, V. K., Colwell, K., & Douglas, F. L. 2009. Building Organizational and Scientific Platforms in the Pharmaceutical Industry: A Process Perspective on the Development of Dynamic Capabilities. *British Journal of Management*, 20: S25-S40.
- Newlands, G. 2021. Algorithmic Surveillance in the Gig Economy: The Organization of Work through Lefebvrian Conceived Space. *Organization Studies*, 42(5): 719-737.
- Nguyen, N. T. 2007. Advanced Methods for Inconsistent Knowledge Management: Springer Science & Business Media.
- NorthChain. 2021. About NorthChain. Retrieved December 19 2021, <u>https://www.northchain.tech/en/about-northchain/</u>.
- Novoselova, O. A. 2021. What Matters for Interorganizational Connectedness? Locating the Drivers of Multiplex Corporate Networks. *Strategic Management Journal*, 43(4): 872-899.
- O'Mahony, S., & Karp, R. 2020. From Proprietary to Collective Governance: How Do Platform Participation Strategies Evolve? *Strategic Management Journal*, 43(3): 530-562.
- Oehmichen, J., Jacobey, L., & Wolff, M. 2020. Have We Made Ourselves (Too) Clear?—Performance Effects of the Incentive Explicitness in Ceo Compensation. *Long Range Planning*, 53(3): 101893.
- Oehmichen, J., Schrapp, S., & Wolff, M. 2017. Who Needs Experts Most? Board Industry Expertise and Strategic Change—a Contingency Perspective. *Strategic Management Journal*, 38(3): 645-656.

- Oehmichen, J., Schult, A., & Qi Dong, J. 2023. Successfully Organizing AI Innovation through Collaboration with Startups. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 22(1): 4.
- Oehmichen, J., Schult, A., & Wolff, M. 2017. Keeping Their Cards Close to Their Chests: How Non-Delegating Ceos Avoid Forced Career Ends. *Human Resource Management*, 56(2): 225-242.
- Oliver, C. 1990. Determinants of Interorganizational Relationships: Integration and Future Directions. *Academy of Management Review*, 15(2): 241-265.
- Omidvar, O., Safavi, M., & Glaser, V. L. 2022. Algorithmic Routines and Dynamic Inertia: How Organizations Avoid Adapting to Changes in the Environment. *Journal of Management Studies*, 60(2): 313-345.
- Ospina, S. M., & Saz-Carranza, A. 2010. Paradox and Collaboration in Network Management. *Administration & Society*, 42(4): 404-440.
- Ouchi, W. G., & Maguire, M. A. 1975. Organizational Control: Two Functions. Administrative Science Quarterly, 20(4): 559-569.
- Papadakis, V. M., Lioukas, S., & Chambers, D. 1998. Strategic Decision-Making Processes: The Role of Management and Context. *Strategic Management Journal*, 19(2): 115-147.
- Park, S. H. 1996. Managing an Interorganizational Network: A Framework of the Institutional Mechanism for Network Control. *Organization Studies*, 17(5): 795-824.
- Parker, G. G., & Van Alstyne, M. W. 2005. Two-Sided Network Effects: A Theory of Information Product Design. *Management Science*, 51(10): 1494-1504.
- Parks, J. M., & Conlon, E. J. 1995. Compensation Contracts: Do Agency Theory Assumptions Predict Negotiated Agreements? Academy of Management Journal, 38(3): 821-838.
- Patton, M. Q. 1990. *Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods*, 2nd Ed. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Pelt, R. V., Jansen, S., Baars, D., & Overbeek, S. 2020. Defining Blockchain Governance: A Framework for Analysis and Comparison. *Information Systems Management*: 1-21.

- Pentland, B. T., Hærem, T., & Hillison, D. 2011. The (N)Ever-Changing World: Stability and Change in Organizational Routines. *Organization Science*, 22(6): 1369-1383.
- Pesch, R., Endres, H., & Bouncken, R. B. 2021. Digital Product Innovation Management: Balancing Stability and Fluidity through Formalization. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 38(6): 726-744.
- Pinsonneault, A., & Kraemer, K. L. 1997. Middle Management Downsizing: An Empirical Investigation of the Impact of Information Technology. *Management Science*, 43(5): 659-679.
- Powell, W. W., Koput, K. W., & Smith-Doerr, L. 1996. Interorganizational Collaboration and the Locus of Innovation: Networks of Learning in Biotechnology. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(1): 116-145.
- Powell, W. W., Staw, B., & Cummings, L. L. 1990. Neither Market nor Hierarchy. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 12: 295-336.
- Provan, K. G. 1983. The Federation as an Interorganizational Linkage Network. *Academy of Management Review*, 8(1): 79-89.
- Provan, K. G. 1984. Interorganizational Cooperation and Decision Making Autonomy in a Consortium Multihospital System. Academy of Management Review, 9(3): 494-504.
- Provan, K. G., Fish, A., & Sydow, J. 2007. Interorganizational Networks at the Network Level: A Review of the Empirical Literature on Whole Networks. *Journal of Management*, 33(3): 479-516.
- Provan, K. G., & Kenis, P. 2008. Modes of Network Governance: Structure, Management, and Effectiveness. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 18(2): 229-252.
- Pun, H., Swaminathan, J. M., & Hou, P. 2021. Blockchain Adoption for Combating Deceptive Counterfeits. *Production and Operations Management*, 30(4): 864-882.
- Puranam, P., Alexy, O., & Reitzig, M. 2014. What's "New" About New Forms of Organizing? Academy of Management Review, 39(2): 162-180.

- Puranam, P., & Vanneste, B. S. 2009. Trust and Governance: Untangling a Tangled Web. *Academy of Management Review*, 34(1): 11-31.
- Putnam, L. L., Fairhurst, G. T., & Banghart, S. 2016. Contradictions, Dialectics, and Paradoxes in Organizations: A Constitutive Approach. *Academy of Management Annals*, 10(1): 65-171.
- Ragin, C. C. 2000. Fuzzy-Set Social Science: University of Chicago Press.
- Ragin, C. C. 2006. Set Relations in Social Research: Evaluating their Consistency and Coverage. *Political Analysis*, 14(3): 291-310.
- Raisch, S., & Krakowski, S. 2021. Artificial Intelligence and Management: The Automation-Augmentation Paradox. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(1): 192-210.
- Ranganathan, R., Ghosh, A., & Rosenkopf, L. 2018. Competition-Cooperation Interplay During Multifirm Technology Coordination: The Effect of Firm Heterogeneity on Conflict and Consensus in a Technology Standards Organization. *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(12): 3193-3221.
- Rauchs, M., Blandin, A., Bear, K., & McKeon, S. B. 2019. 2nd Global Enterprise Blockchain Benchmarking Study, SSRN Electronic Journal, doi:10.2139/ssrn.3461765.
- Reitzig, M., & Maciejovsky, B. 2015. Corporate Hierarchy and Vertical Information Flow inside the Firm – a Behavioral View. *Strategic Management Journal*, 36(13): 1979-1999.
- Renwick, R., & Gleasure, R. 2021. Those Who Control the Code Control the Rules: How Different Perspectives of Privacy Are Being Written into the Code of Blockchain Systems. *Journal of Information Technology*, 36(1): 16-38.
- Reuer, J. J., & Devarakonda, S. V. 2016. Mechanisms of Hybrid Governance: Administrative Committees in Non-Equity Alliances. *Academy of Management Journal*, 59(2): 510-533.
- Reutskaja, E., Iyengar, S., Fasolo, B., & Misuraca, R. 2020. Cognitive and Affective Consequences of Information and Choice Overload. In R. Viale (Ed.), *Routledge Handbook of Bounded Rationality*: 12. London: Routledge.

- Ricart, J. E., Snihur, Y., Carrasco-Farré, C., & Berrone, P. 2020. Grassroots Resistance to Digital Platforms and Relational Business Model Design to Overcome It: A Conceptual Framework. *Strategy Science*, 5(3): 271-291.
- Rieger, A., Lockl, J., Urbach, N., Guggenmos, F., & Fridgen, G. 2019. Building a Blockchain Application That Complies with the Eu General Data Protection Regulation. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 18(4): 263-279.
- Riemer, K., & Peter, S. 2021. Algorithmic Audiencing: Why We Need to Rethink Free Speech on Social Media. *Journal of Information Technology*, 36(4): 409-426.
- Rimba, P., Tran, A. B., Weber, I., Staples, M., Ponomarev, A., & Xu, X. 2020. Quantifying the Cost of Distrust: Comparing Blockchain and Cloud Services for Business Process Execution. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 22(2): 489-507.
- Ring, P. S., & Van de Ven, A. H. 1994. Developmental Processes of Cooperative Interorganizational Relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, 19(1): 90-118.
- Ritzer-Angerer, P. 2018. Digital Transformation and Trust (Dis)Intermediation: Coleman's Models Thirty Years On, *SSRN Electronic Journal*, doi:10.2139/ssrn.3271566.
- Roehrich, J. K., Kalra, J., Squire, B., & Davies, A. 2023. Network Orchestration in a Large Inter-Organizational Project. *Journal of Operations Management*, doi:10.1002/joom.1237.
- Rogerson, M., & Parry, G. C. 2020. Blockchain: Case Studies in Food Supply Chain Visibility. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 25(5): 601-614.
- Rolfe, A. 2017. Why Did JPMorgan Leave Blockchain Consortium R3? Retrieved May 27 2021, <u>https://www.paymentscardsandmobile.com/jpmorgan-leaves-blockchain-consortium-r3/</u>.
- Romme, A. G. L. 1999. Domination, Self-Determination and Circular Organizing. *Organization Studies*, 20(5): 801-832.

- Romme, A. G. L. 2004. Unanimity Rule and Organizational Decision Making: A Simulation Model. *Organization Science*, 15(6): 704-718.
- Rossi, M., Mueller-Bloch, C., Thatcher, J. B., & Beck, R. 2019. Blockchain Research in Information Systems: Current Trends and an Inclusive Future Research Agenda. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 20(9): 14.
- Rouleau, L. 2005. Micro-Practices of Strategic Sensemaking and Sensegiving: How Middle Managers Interpret and Sell Change Every Day. *Journal of Management Studies*, 42(7): 1413-1441.
- Rowley, T. J., Baum, J. A. C., Shipilov, A. V., Greve, H. R., & Rao, H. 2004. Competing in Groups. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 25(6-7): 453-471.
- Rutherford, M. A., Buchholtz, A. K., & Brown, J. A. 2007. Examining the Relationships between Monitoring and Incentives in Corporate Governance. *Journal of Management Studies*, 44(3): 414-430.
- Sample, I. 2023. Science Journals Ban Listing of ChatGPT as Co-Author on Papers. Retrieved February 2 2023, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/science/2023/jan/26/science-journalsban-listing-of-chatgpt-as-co-author-on-papers</u>.
- Santana, C., & Albareda, L. 2022. Blockchain and the Emergence of Decentralized Autonomous Organizations (Daos): An Integrative Model and Research Agenda. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 182: 121806.
- Schepker, D. J., Oh, W.-Y., Martynov, A., & Poppo, L. 2014. The Many Futures of Contracts: Moving Beyond Structure and Safeguarding to Coordination and Adaptation. *Journal of Management*, 40(1): 193-225.
- Schilke, D. O., & Lumineau, P. F. 2023. How Organizational Is Interorganizational Trust? Academy of Management Review, doi:10.5465/amr.2022.0040.
- Schilt, W. K. 1987. An Examination of the Influence of Middle-Level Managers in Formulating and Implementing Strategic Decisions. *Journal of Management Studies*, 24(3): 271-293.

- Schmeiss, J., Hoelzle, K., & Tech, R. P. G. 2019. Designing Governance Mechanisms in Platform Ecosystems: Addressing the Paradox of Openness through Blockchain Technology. *California Management Review*, 62(1): 121-143.
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. 2012. Set-Theoretic Methods for the Social Sciences: A Guide to Qualitative Comparative Analysis: Cambridge University Press.
- Scott, W. 2008. Institutions and Organizations: Ideas and Interests (3rd Ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Sedlmeir, J., Buhl, H. U., Fridgen, G., & Keller, R. 2020. The Energy Consumption of Blockchain Technology: Beyond Myth. *Business* & *Information Systems Engineering*, 62(6): 599-608.
- Seidel, M.-D. L. 2018. Questioning Centralized Organizations in a Time of Distributed Trust. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 27(1): 40-44.
- Shah, S. K. 2006. Motivation, Governance, and the Viability of Hybrid Forms in Open Source Software Development. *Management Science*, 52(7): 1000-1014.
- Shapiro, C., & Varian, H. R. 2008. Information Rules: A Strategic Guide to the Network Economy. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Sharif, M. M., & Ghodoosi, F. 2022. The Ethics of Blockchain in Organizations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 178(4): 1009-1025.
- Sharma, A. 1997. Professional as Agent: Knowledge Asymmetry in Agency Exchange. Academy of Management Review, 22(3): 758-798.
- Shaw, J. D., Gupta, N., & Delery, J. E. 2000. Empirical Organizational-Level Examinations of Agency and Collaborative Predictions of Performance-Contingent Compensation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(5): 611-623.
- Shen, B., Dong, C., & Minner, S. 2022. Combating Copycats in the Supply Chain with Permissioned Blockchain Technology. *Production and Operations Management*, 31(1): 138-154.
- Shew, A. M., Snell, H. A., Nayga Jr, R. M., & Lacity, M. C. 2022. Consumer Valuation of Blockchain Traceability for Beef in the

United States. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 44(1): 299-323.

- Shi, W., Markoczy, L., & Dess, G. G. 2009. The Role of Middle Management in the Strategy Process: Group Affiliation, Structural Holes, and Tertius Iungens. *Journal of Management*, 35(6): 1453-1480.
- Shipilov, A., & Gawer, A. 2020. Integrating Research on Interorganizational Networks and Ecosystems. *Academy of Management Annals*, 14(1): 92-121.
- Siggelkow, N., & Levinthal, D. A. 2003. Temporarily Divide to Conquer: Centralized, Decentralized, and Reintegrated Organizational Approaches to Exploration and Adaptation. *Organization Science*, 14(6): 650-669.
- Simon, H. A. 1971. Designing Organizations for an Information-Rich World. In M. Greenberger (Ed.), *Computers, Communications, and the Public Interest*. Balitmore, MD: The Johns Hopkins Press.
- Simsek, Z., Fox, B. C., & Heavey, C. 2015. "What's Past Is Prologue" a Framework, Review, and Future Directions for Organizational Research on Imprinting. *Journal of Management*, 41(1): 288-317.
- Smith, W. K. 2014. Dynamic Decision Making: A Model of Senior Leaders Managing Strategic Paradoxes. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6): 1592-1623.
- Smith, W. K., & Lewis, M. W. 2011. Toward a Theory of Paradox: A Dynamic Equilibrium Model of Organizing. Academy of Management Review, 36(2): 381-403.
- Snihur, Y., & Zott, C. 2020. The Genesis and Metamorphosis of Novelty Imprints: How Business Model Innovation Emerges in Young Ventures. *Academy of Management Journal*, 63(2): 554-583.
- Soda, G., & Zaheer, A. 2012. A Network Perspective on Organizational Architecture: Performance Effects of the Interplay of Formal and Informal Organization. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(6): 751-771.
- Sparling, C., & Gebhardt, M. 2022. Record-Breaking DDoS Attack in Europe. Retrieved February 22 2023,

https://www.akamai.com/blog/security/record-breaking-ddosattack-in-europe.

- Sternberg, H. S., Hofmann, E., & Roeck, D. 2021. The Struggle Is Real: Insights from a Supply Chain Blockchain Case. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 42(1): 71-87.
- Stevenson, W. B., & Gilly, M. C. 1991. Information Processing and Problem Solving: The Migration of Problems through Formal Positions and Networks of Ties. *Academy of Management Journal*, 34(4): 918-928.
- Stinchcombe, A. L. 1965. Social Structure and Organizations. In J. G. March (Ed.), *Handbook of Organizations*: 142-193. Chicago: Rand McNaily.
- Strauss, A. L., & Corbin, J. M. 2014. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Strich, F., Mayer, A.-S., & Fiedler, M. 2021. What Do I Do in a World of Artificial Intelligence? Investigating the Impact of Substitutive Decision-Making AI Systems on Employees' Professional Role Identity. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 22(2): 304-324.
- Sun Yin, H. H., Langenheldt, K., Harlev, M., Mukkamala, R. R., & Vatrapu, R. 2019. Regulating Cryptocurrencies: A Supervised Machine Learning Approach to De-Anonymizing the Bitcoin Blockchain. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 36(1): 37-73.
- Sundaramurthy, C., & Lewis, M. 2003. Control and Collaboration: Paradoxes of Governance. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(3): 397-415.
- Susarla, A. 2012. Contractual Flexibility, Rent Seeking, and Renegotiation Design: An Empirical Analysis of Information Technology Outsourcing Contracts. *Management Science*, 58(7): 1388-1407.
- Sydow, J., Schreyögg, G., & Koch, J. 2009. Organizational Path Dependence: Opening the Black Box. Academy of Management Review, 34(4): 689-709.

- Tajedin, H., Madhok, A., & Keyhani, M. 2019. A Theory of Digital Firm-Designed Markets: Defying Knowledge Constraints with Crowds and Marketplaces. *Strategy Science*, 4(4): 323-342.
- Tan, T. M., & Salo, J. 2023. Ethical Marketing in the Blockchain-Based Sharing Economy: Theoretical Integration and Guiding Insights. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 183(4): 1113-1140.
- Tan, T. M., & Saraniemi, S. 2022. Trust in Blockchain-Enabled Exchanges: Future Directions in Blockchain Marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, doi:10.1007/s11747-022-00889-0.
- Tapscott, D., & Vargas, R. V. 2019. How Blockchain Will Change Construction. Retrieved March 19 2023, https://hbr.org/2019/07/how-blockchain-will-change-construction.
- Tarafdar, M., Page, X., & Marabelli, M. 2023. Algorithms as Co-Workers: Human Algorithm Role Interactions in Algorithmic Work. *Information Systems Journal*, 33(2): 232-267.
- Tatarynowicz, A., Sytch, M., & Gulati, R. 2016. Environmental Demands and the Emergence of Social Structure. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 61(1): 52-86.
- Taulli, T. 2022. *How to Create a Web3 Startup: A Guide for Tomorrow's Breakout Companies*. Berkeley, CA: Apress.
- Teicher, J. 2021. Kroger's Food Safety Chief Wants to Untangle the Food Supply Chain. Retrieved January 2 2021, <u>https://www.ibm.com/blogs/industries/krogers-food-safety-chief-wants-to-untangle-the-food-supply-chain/</u>.
- The Coca-Cola Company. 2021. Coke Completes Decade-Long Effort to Return Ownership of Bottling Operations to Local Partners. Retrieved May 14 2021, <u>https://www.cocacolacompany.com/news/bottling-operations-return-to-localpartners</u>.
- Thiel, C. E., Bonner, J., Bush, J. T., Welsh, D. T., & Garud, N. 2021. Stripped of Agency: The Paradoxical Effect of Employee Monitoring on Deviance. *Journal of Management*, 49(2): 709–740.
- Thompson, P. 2020. JPMorgan Offloads Unprofitable Quorum Network. Retrieved June 4 2021, <u>https://coingeek.com/jpmorgan-offloads-unprofitable-quorom-network/</u>.

- Thorelli, H. B. 1986. Networks: Between Markets and Hierarchies. *Strategic Management Journal*, 7(1): 37-51.
- Tichy, N. M., Tushman, M. L., & Fombrun, C. 1979. Social Network Analysis for Organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 4(4): 507-519.
- Tilcsik, A. 2014. Imprint–Environment Fit and Performance:How Organizational Munificence at the Time of Hire Affects Subsequent Job Performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 59(4): 639-668.
- Tirole, J. 1999. Incomplete Contracts: Where Do We Stand? *Econometrica*, 67(4): 741-781.
- Tiwana, A. 2015. Platform Desertion by App Developers. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 32(4): 40-77.
- Tourish, D. 2005. Critical Upward Communication: Ten Commandments for Improving Strategy and Decision Making. *Long Range Planning*, 38(5): 485-503.
- Tourish, D., & Robson, P. 2006. Sensemaking and the Distortion of Critical Upward Communication in Organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 43(4): 711-730.
- Trabucchi, D., Moretto, A., Buganza, T., & MacCormack, A. 2020. Disrupting the Disruptors or Enhancing Them? How Blockchain Reshapes Two-Sided Platforms. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 37(6): 552-574.
- TraceHarvest. 2020. Transforming the Future of the Agricultural Industry. Retrieved May 28 2020, <u>https://blockapps.net/traceharvest/</u>.
- TradeLens. 2022. TradeLens: Supply Chain Data and Docs. Retrieved December 7 2022, <u>https://www.tradelens.com/</u>.
- TradeLens. 2023. TradeLens Home. Retrieved July 29 2023, <u>https://www.tradelens.com/</u>.
- Treiblmaier, H. 2018. The Impact of the Blockchain on the Supply Chain: A Theory-Based Research Framework and a Call for Action. *Supply Chain Management*, 23(6): 545-559.
- Triche, J. H., & Walden, E. 2018. The Use of Impression Management Strategies to Manage Stock Market Reactions to IT Failures.

Journal of the Association for Information Systems, 19(4): 333-357.

- Tsai, W. 2002. Social Structure of "Coopetition" within a Multiunit Organization: Coordination, Competition, and Intraorganizational Knowledge Sharing. *Organization Science*, 13(2): 179-190.
- Tsoukalas, G., & Falk, B. H. 2020. Token-Weighted Crowdsourcing. *Management Science*, 66(9): 3843-3859.
- Uzzi, B. 1997. Social Structure and Competition in Interfirm Networks: The Paradox of Embeddedness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 42(1): 35-67.
- Vaia, G., Arkhipova, D., & DeLone, W. 2022. Digital Governance Mechanisms and Principles That Enable Agile Responses in Dynamic Competitive Environments. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 31(6): 662-680.
- Van Doorn, S., Georgakakis, D., Oehmichen, J., & Reimer, M. 2022. Opportunity or Threat? Exploring Middle Manager Roles in the Face of Digital Transformation. *Journal of Management Studies*, 60(7): 1684-1719.
- Varian, H. R. 1990. Monitoring Agents with Other Agents. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics (JITE) / Zeitschrift für die gesamte Staatswissenschaft, 146(1): 153-174.
- Vedel, J. B., & Geraldi, J. 2022. How Managers Respond to Paradoxical Control-Trust Dynamics in Interorganizational Relationships over Time: A Constitutive Approach. *Journal of Management Studies*, doi:10.1111/joms.12846.
- Vels, E. 2021. Vinturas' Digital Blockchain Platform Eliminates the Need for Spreadsheets to Transport and Track Vehicles. Retrieved September 2 2021, <u>https://innovationorigins.com/en/vinturasdigital-blockchain-platform-eliminates-the-need-for-spreadsheetsto-transport-and-track-vehicles/</u>.
- Vergne, J.-P. 2020. Decentralized Vs. Distributed Organization: Blockchain, Machine Learning and the Future of the Digital Platform. *Organization Theory*, 1(4): 1-26.
- Verhoef, P. C., Broekhuizen, T., Bart, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Dong, J. Q., Fabian, N., & Haenlein, M. 2021. Digital Transformation: A

Multidisciplinary Reflection and Research Agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 122: 889-901.

- Verma, S., & Sheel, A. 2022. Blockchain for Government Organizations: Past, Present and Future. *Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing*, 15(3): 406-430.
- Vial, G. 2019. Understanding Digital Transformation: A Review and a Research Agenda. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 28(2): 118-144.
- Vincent, J. 2022. AI-Generated Answers Temporarily Banned on Coding Q&A Site Stack Overflow. Retrieved December 10 2022, <u>https://www.theverge.com/2022/12/5/23493932/chatgpt-ai-generated-answers-temporarily-banned-stack-overflow-llms-dangers</u>.
- Walsh, J. P., & Dewar, R. D. 1987. Formalization and the Organizational Life Cycle. *Journal of Management Studies*, 24(3): 215-231.
- Wang, D., Du, F., & Marquis, C. 2019. Defending Mao's Dream: How Politicians' Ideological Imprinting Affects Firms' Political Appointment in China. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(4): 1111-1136.
- Wang, P. 2010. Chasing the Hottest IT: Effects of Information Technology Fashion on Organizations. *MIS Quarterly*, 34(1): 63-85.
- Wang, W., Lumineau, F., & Schilke, O. 2022. Blockchains: Strategic Implications for Contracting, Trust, and Organizational Design. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Warren, R. L. 1967. The Interorganizational Field as a Focus for Investigation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 12(3): 396-419.
- Wells Fargo. 2019. Wells Fargo to Pilot Internal Settlement Service Using Distributed Ledger Technology. Retrieved November 8 2020, <u>https://newsroom.wf.com/English/news-releases/news-releasedetails/2019/Wells-Fargo-to-Pilot-Internal-Settlement-Service-Using-Distributed-Ledger-Technology/default.aspx.</u>
- Werbach, K. 2016. Trustless Trust, *SSRN Electronic Journal*, doi:10.2139/ssrn.2844409.

- Werbach, K. 2018. *The Blockchain and the New Architecture of Trust*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Werner, F., Basalla, M., Schneider, J., Hays, D., & Vom Brocke, J. 2021. Blockchain Adoption from an Interorganizational Systems Perspective–a Mixed-Methods Approach. *Information Systems Management*, 38(2): 135-150.
- Wessel, L., Baiyere, A., Ologeanu-Taddei, R., Cha, J., & Blegind-Jensen, T. 2021. Unpacking the Difference between Digital Transformation and IT-Enabled Organizational Transformation. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 22(1): 102-129.
- Westphal, J. D. 1999. Collaboration in the Boardroom: Behavioral and Performance Consequences of Ceo-Board Social Ties. *Academy of Management Journal*, 42(1): 7-24.
- Wilhelm, M., & Sydow, J. 2018. Managing Coopetition in Supplier Networks – a Paradox Perspective. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 54(3): 22-41.
- Williamson, O. E. 1991. Comparative Economic Organization: The Analysis of Discrete Structural Alternatives. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 36(2): 269-296.
- Williamson, O. E. 2005. The Economics of Governance. *American Economic Review*, 95(2): 1-18.
- Wilson, K. B., Karg, A., & Ghaderi, H. 2022. Prospecting Non-Fungible Tokens in the Digital Economy: Stakeholders and Ecosystem, Risk and Opportunity. *Business Horizons*, 65(5): 657-670.
- Wiseman, R. M., & Gomez-Mejia, L. R. 1998. A Behavioral Agency Model of Managerial Risk Taking. Academy of Management Review, 23(1): 133-153.
- Wolfson, R. 2020. Global Shipping Leaders Join IBM and Maersk Blockchain Platform. Retrieved October 16 2020, <u>https://cointelegraph.com/news/global-shipping-leaders-join-ibm-and-maersk-blockchain-platform</u>.
- Xing, Z., Mayer, K. J., Xie, X., Reuer, J. J., & Klijn, E. 2021. The Effects of Contract Detail and Prior Ties on Contract Change: A Learning Perspective. *Organization Science*, 32(2): 480-499.

- Xu, B., Li, H., Zhang, X., & Alejandro, T. B. 2023. Equilibrium Blockchain Adoption Strategies for Duopolistic Competitive Platforms with Network Effects. *Journal of Business Research*, 164: 113953.
- Yang, S., Li, T., & van Heck, E. 2015. Information Transparency in Prediction Markets. *Decision Support Systems*, 78: 67-79.
- Yermack, D. 2017. Corporate Governance and Blockchains. *Review of Finance*, 21(1): 7-31.
- Yu, T., Lin, Z., & Tang, Q. 2018. Blockchain: The Introduction and Its Application in Financial Accounting. *Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance*, 29(4): 37-47.
- Yuan, Y., & Wang, F.-Y. 2016. Towards Blockchain-Based Intelligent Transportation Systems. Paper presented at the IEEE 19th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems, Rio de Janeiro.
- Zammuto, R. F., Griffith, T. L., Majchrzak, A., Dougherty, D. J., & Faraj, S. 2007. Information Technology and the Changing Fabric of Organization. *Organization Science*, 18(5): 749-762.
- Zapadka, P., Hanelt, A., Firk, S., & Oehmichen, J. 2020. Leveraging "AIas-a-Service"–Antecedents and Consequences of Using Artificial Intelligence Boundary Resources. Paper presented at the ICIS 2020 Proceedings, India.
- Zavolokina, L., Ziolkowski, R., Bauer, I., & Schwabe, G. 2020. Management, Governance and Value Creation in a Blockchain Consortium. *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 19(1): 1-17.
- Zetzsche, D. A., Buckley, R. P., & Arner, D. W. 2020. Regulating Libra. *Oxford Journal of Legal Studies*, 41(1): 80-113.
- Zhang, L., & Guler, I. 2020. How to Join the Club: Patterns of Embeddedness and the Addition of New Members to Interorganizational Collaborations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 65(1): 112-150.
- Zhang, N. A., Wang, C. A., Karahanna, E., & Xu, Y. 2022. Peer Privacy Concern: Conceptualization and Measurement. *MIS Quarterly*, 46(1): 491-530.

- Zhao, X., Ai, P., Lai, F., Luo, X., & Benitez, J. 2022. Task Management in Decentralized Autonomous Organization. *Journal of Operations Management*, 68(6-7): 649-674.
- Zheng, Z., Xie, S., Dai, H., Chen, X., & Wang, H. 2017. An Overview of Blockchain Technology: Architecture, Consensus, and Future Trends. Paper presented at the IEEE 6th International Congress on Big Data, New York, NY.
- Zhu, K., Kraemer, K. L., Gurbaxani, V., & Xu, S. X. 2006. Migration to Open-Standard Interorganizational Systems: Network Effects, Switching Costs, and Path Dependency. *MIS Quarterly*, 30: 515-539.
- Ziolkowski, R., Miscione, G., & Schwabe, G. 2020. Decision Problems in Blockchain Governance: Old Wine in New Bottles or Walking in Someone Else's Shoes? *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 37(2): 316-348.

SUMMARY (ENGLISH)

Amidst the pressures and opportunities of digital transformation, organizations are embracing innovative governance forms that complement or automate existing ones. In response, the chapters that constitute this dissertation demark the critical role of *digital governance* in facilitating digitally enabled exchange relationships inside and across organizations. To provide a comprehensive framework for demystifying digital governance, I first present a typology of analog, augmented, and automated governance modes, each characterized by specific control, coordination, incentive, and trust mechanisms (Chapter 2).

Building on this conceptual groundwork, I then explore blockchain technology as a central opportunity for organizations to implement digital governance. By leveraging the transparent, immutable, and distributed nature of blockchain technology, organizations can arrange trustless exchanges, reduce transaction costs, and enforce rules and agreements in a more efficient and secure manner. My multifaceted investigation explores both intra- and interorganizational aspects of blockchain governance, revealing intriguing trade-offs in each setting.

From an *intraorganizational* standpoint, I argue that blockchains establish direct and sequenced information channels among principals and agents, leading to organizational reconfiguration through vertical disintermediation and lateral reintermediation. While vertical disintermediation brings a flatter organizational structure with increased efficiency, it also leads to higher cognitive load due to higher information volume. On the other hand, lateral reintermediation introduces new ways of monitoring and incentives for information sharing, but at the expense of rigidity and strict lateral sequencing of information (Chapter 3).

From an *interorganizational* perspective, examining 128 blockchains, I uncover a critical trade-off faced by founders concerning the choice of hybrid governance solutions atop the algorithmic governance layer, offering a balance between centralized and decentralized control. Specifically, founders tend to favor consortia as hybrid forms of administrative control in response to high costs of coordination and opportunism (Chapter 4). In another study, I highlight the "lead organization paradox" observed when founders dominate a blockchain network for rapid adoption, leading to alienated competition unwilling to participate. Based on 66 interviews, an in-depth analysis of a prominent enterprise blockchain showcases the role of this paradox and the founders' failure to anticipate and address its effects, ultimately leading to a collapse (Chapter 5). Additionally, based on 57 interviews across three cases that discontinued, continued, and stagnated, I explore the impact of initial imprints from focal founders within blockchain networks, affecting consequential governance choices and sparking conflicts during adaptation processes (Chapter 6).

For managerial practice, interviews with 153 blockchain executives echo the importance of "getting the governance right" in intra- and interorganizational blockchain contexts. Based on these findings, I propose four generic governance modes—chief, clan, custodian, and consortium—to address coordination and control needs in blockchain networks, along with four strategic moves—connecting, isolating, loosening, and tightening—to navigate blockchain governance challenges (Chapter 7).

In sum, my studies advance the governance literature by defining digital governance as a distinct form and outlining key governance mechanisms and choices in the digital era. Moreover, my work constitutes a significant contribution to the field of intra- and interorganizational governance and the emerging blockchain literature, with valuable insights for both academics and practitioners navigating the complexities of governance in the digital age.

SUMMARY (DUTCH)

Te midden van de druk en mogelijkheden van digitale transformatie innovatieve bestuursvormen die organisaties bestaande omarmen bestuursvormen aanvullen of automatiseren. In antwoord hierop wordt in de hoofdstukken van dit proefschrift de cruciale rol van digitale governance bij het faciliteren van digitaal mogelijk gemaakte uitwisselingsrelaties binnen en tussen organisaties beschreven. Om een uitgebreid kader te bieden voor het demystificeren van digitaal bestuur, presenteer ik eerst een typologie van analoge, verrijkte en geautomatiseerde bestuursvormen, elk gekenmerkt door specifieke controle-. coördinatie-, stimuleringsen vertrouwensmechanismen (hoofdstuk 2).

Voortbouwend op deze conceptuele basis, onderzoek ik vervolgens blockchaintechnologie als een centrale mogelijkheid voor organisaties om digitaal bestuur te implementeren. Door gebruik te maken van de transparante, onveranderlijke en gedistribueerde aard van blockchaintechnologie kunnen organisaties vertrouwensloze uitwisselingen regelen, transactiekosten verlagen en regels en afspraken op een efficiëntere en veiligere manier afdwingen. Mijn veelzijdige onderzoek verkent zowel intra- als interorganisatorische aspecten van blockchain governance en onthult intrigerende afwegingen in elke setting.

Vanuit een *intraorganisatorisch* standpunt stel ik dat blockchains directe en opeenvolgende informatiekanalen tot stand brengen tussen principalen en agenten, wat leidt tot organisatorische herconfiguratie door
verticale disintermediatie en laterale herintermediatie. Hoewel verticale disintermediatie zorgt voor een plattere organisatiestructuur met verhoogde efficiëntie, leidt het ook tot een hogere cognitieve belasting vanwege het grotere informatievolume. Aan de andere kant introduceert laterale herintermediatie nieuwe manieren van monitoren en prikkels voor het delen van informatie, maar dit gaat ten koste van rigiditeit en een strikte laterale opeenvolging van informatie (hoofdstuk 3).

Vanuit een *interorganisatorisch* perspectief, waarbij ik 128 blockchains analyseer, onthul ik een kritieke trade-off voor oprichters betreffende de keuze tussen hybride bestuursvormen boven op de algoritmische bestuurslaag, resulterend in een balans tussen gecentraliseerde en gedecentraliseerde controle. Specifiek, geven oprichters de voorkeur aan consortia als hybride vormen van administratieve controle als response op hoge coördinatiekosten en opportunisme (hoofdstuk 4).

In een ander onderzoek benadruk ik de "lead organisation paradox" die wordt waargenomen wanneer oprichters een blockchainnetwerk domineren voor snelle adoptie, wat leidt tot vervreemde concurrentie die niet wil deelnemen. Op basis van 66 interviews toont een diepgaande analyse van een prominente blockchain-case van ondernemingen de rol van deze paradox en het falen van de oprichters om te anticiperen op de effecten ervan en deze aan te pakken, wat uiteindelijk leidde tot een ineenstorting (hoofdstuk 5). Daarnaast onderzoek ik, op basis van 57 interviews over drie cases die stopten, doorgingen of stagneerden, de impact van initiële imprints van focale oprichters binnen blockchainnetwerken, die consequent bestuurlijke keuzes beïnvloeden en conflicten aanwakkeren tijdens aanpassingsprocessen (hoofdstuk 6). Voor de managementpraktijk geven interviews met 153 blockchain executives het belang aan van "het juiste bestuur" in intra- en interorganisatorische blockchaincontexten. Op basis van deze bevindingen stel ik vier generieke governancemodi voor: 'chief', 'clan', 'custodian' en 'consortium' om te voorzien in de behoefte aan coördinatie en controle in blockchainnetwerken, samen met vier strategische stappen: 'connecting', 'isolating', 'loosening', and 'tightening' om uitdagingen op het gebied van blockchaingovernance te navigeren (hoofdstuk 7).

Kortom, dit proefschrift levert een bijdrage aan de governance literatuur door digitale governance te definiëren als een aparte vorm van besturen en de belangrijkste governancemechanismen en -keuzes in het digitale tijdperk te schetsen. Bovendien vormt mijn werk een belangrijke bijdrage aan het veld van intra- en interorganisationeel bestuur en de opkomende blockchainliteratuur, met waardevolle inzichten voor zowel academici als practici die navigeren door de complexiteit van bestuur in het digitale tijdperk.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Curtis Meloy Goldsby (1992), born in New York City, obtained his MSc degree with distinction from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 2017. He started his journey toward Doctor of Philosophy in the Technology and Operations Management department of Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University, in September 2019, working together with his promoter, Prof. dr. Jan van den Ende, and his daily supervisors, dr. Helge Klapper and dr. Marvin Hanisch. Curtis studies how complex intra- and interorganizational networks are governed by forms of digital governance, including blockchains and platforms.

In his PhD pursuit, Curtis has presented his research at esteemed international conferences, such as the *Academy of Management Annual Meeting* (in 2021, 2022, and 2023), *Strategic Management Society* (in 2021 and 2022), *European Academy of Management* (in 2022), and *Strategy Science* (in 2023). His work has earned him best paper awards from the first two conferences mentioned. Curtis has published in outlets such as the *California Management Review* and the *Journal of Business Research*. His other articles are currently under review in top management journals.

During his PhD, Curtis held several consulting positions at the technology company IBM, where he combined his research interest for digital governance with cross-sector engagements for DAX 30 clients. At the time of completing his PhD, Curtis led the automotive consulting team for IBM Enterprise Strategy in Germany.

PORTFOLIO

Education

2019-2024	PhD in Management Rotterdam School of Management, Erasmus University, The Netherlands Dissertation title: Demystifying Digital Governance: Exploring the Mechanisms and Trade-offs of Blockchains for Organizations
May 2023	Visiting PhD Student Columbia University, United States of America
2016-2017	MSc (Distinction) in Management London School of Economics and Political Science, United Kingdom
2012-2015	BA in International Business Cologne Business School, Germany

Research & Teaching Interests

blockchains, blockchain governance, corporate governance, digital governance, digital platforms, interorganizational governance, intraorganizational governance, metaverse, platform governance

Publications

Hanisch, M., Goldsby, C.M., Theodosiadis, V. (2023). With peer-to-peer transactions, will the metaverse render the platform business model obsolete? *LSE Business Review*.

Goldsby, C.M., Hanisch, M. (2023). Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of Blockchain-Based Organizing. *Journal of Business Research*, *168*, doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.114195.

Hanisch, M., Goldsby, C.M., Fabian, N.E., Oehmichen, J. (2023). Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, *162*, doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.113777.

Goldsby, C.M., Hanisch, M. (2022). The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right. *California Management Review*, 64(3):141-168.

Awards & Recognition

2023	Nominations for Best Paper Prize and Best PhD Paper for "The Hidden Hand of Imprinting: Unraveling Governance Challenges in Interorganizational Blockchain Networks" <i>Strategic Management Society</i>
2023	Distinguished Paper Award from the AOM Strategic Management Division (STR) for "The Hidden Influences of Blockchain Governance: A Study of Organizational Imprinting" <i>Academy of Management</i>
2021	Best Paper Award for "Platforms, Blockchains, and Hybrids: Digital Governance of Interorganizational Networks" <i>Strategic Management Society</i>

Conference Presentations & Working Papers

The Hidden Influences of Blockchain Governance: A Study of **Organizational Imprinting**

Presented at:

- 83rd Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management (AOM), 2023, • Boston, Massachusetts, USA, doi:10.5465/AMPROC.2023.211bp
- 43rd Annual Conference of the Strategic Management Society, 2023, • (SMS), Toronto, Canada
- Strategy Science Conference, 2023, Munich, Germany •

Digital Governance: A Conceptual Framework and Research Agenda

Presented at:

- Digital Knowledge Engineering for Strategy Development, 2022, • Groningen, The Netherlands
- Published in Journal of Business Research

Agency in the Algorithmic Age: The Mechanisms and Structures of **Blockchain-Based Organizing**

Presented at:

- European Academy of Management (EURAM), 2022, Winterthur, • Switzerland
- Published in Journal of Business Research

Walking a Tightrope: Balancing Centralization and Decentralization in Enterprise Blockchain Networks

Presented at:

- 82nd Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management (AOM), 2022, Seattle, Washington, USA, doi:10.5465/AMBPP.2022.13285abstract
- 42nd Annual Conference of the *Strategic Management Society* (SMS), 2022, London, UK
- Strategic Management Society (SMS) Special Conference, 2022, Milan, Italy

Conference Presentations & Working Papers – continued

Platforms, Blockchains, and Hybrids: Digital Governance of Interorganizational Networks

Presented at:

- 81st Annual Meeting of the *Academy of Management* (AOM), 2021, Virtual, doi:10.5465/AMBPP.2021.10541abstract
- 41st Annual Conference of the *Strategic Management Society* (SMS), 2021, Virtual

Professional Service

- Reviewer for the California Management Review
- Reviewer for the Journal of Operations Management
- Conference reviewer for the *Academy of Management* and *Strategic Management Society*

Professional Experience

04/2024-present	Team Lead & Senior Managing Consultant <i>IBM</i> , Düsseldorf, Germany
08/2023-03/2024	Team Lead & Managing Consultant <i>IBM</i> , Düsseldorf, Germany
04/2022-07/2023	Managing Consultant <i>IBM</i> , Düsseldorf, Germany
04/2019-03/2022	Senior Consultant <i>IBM</i> , Munich, Germany
09/2017-03/2019	Consultant <i>IBM</i> , Munich, Germany

ERIM PT PhD Series

The ERIM PT PhD Series contains PhD dissertations in the field of Research in Management defended at Erasmus University Rotterdam and supervised by senior researchers affiliated to the Erasmus Research Institute of Management (ERIM). Dissertations in the ERIM PT PhD Series are available in full text through: <u>https://pure.eur.nl</u>

ERIM is the joint research institute of the Rotterdam School of Management (RSM) and the Erasmus School of Economics (ESE) at the Erasmus University Rotterdam (EUR).

Dissertations

- Duijm, P., On the Cyclical Nature of Finance: The role and impact of financial institutions, Supervisors: Prof. D. Schoenmaker & Prof. W.B. Wagner
- Maas, S.A., In the Moment of Giving: Essays on contemporary forms of private and corporate philanthropy, Supervisors: Prof. L.C.P.M. Meijs & Prof. J.P. Cornelissen
- Langenbusch, C., A lot to lose. Organizational identity and emotions in institutional contexts, Supervisors: Prof. J.P. Cornelissen & Prof. G. Jacobs
- 4. Zanten, J.A.P. van, *Business in the Age of Sustainable Development*, Supervisor: Prof. R.J.M. van Tulder, Co-supervisor: Dr. F.H. Wijen
- 5. Dekker, I., Academic Thriving: Optimising Student Development with Evidence-Based Higher Education, Supervisor: Prof. M.C. Schippers, Co-supervisors: Dr. E. Klatter & Dr. E.J. Van Schooten
- Heeren, J.W.J., Management Innovation in the Military, Practice Adaptation Processes and Innovation Performance Consequences: Solving the Paradox between Institutional Pressure, Rational Motivation and Implementation Misfit, Promotors: Prof. H.W. Volberda & Prof. V.J.A van de Vrande, Co-supervisor: Dr. E.J. de Waard

- 7. Caballero Santin, J.A., *Stunted Innovation: How large incumbent Companies Fail in the Era of Supply Chain Digitization*, Supervisor: Prof. ir. J.C.M. van den Ende, Co-supervisor: Dr. M. Stevens
- Renault, M., All For One and One For All: How Teams Adapt to Crises, Supervisor: Prof. J.C.M. van den Ende, Co-supervisor: Dr. M. Tarakci
- 9. Reinders, H.J., *Financial Stability in a Changing Environment*, Supervisors: Prof. D. Schoenmaker & Prof. M.A. van Dijk
- 10. Carpentier, P.D.J., A New Frontier for the Study of the Commons: Open-Source Hardware, Supervisor: Prof. L.C.P.M. Meijs, Cosupervisor: Prof. ir.V. van de Vrande
- 11. Jakobs, K., *ICT Standardisation Management: A multidimensional* perspective on company participation in standardization committees, Supervisors: Prof.dr.ir. H.J. de Vries & Prof. K. Blind

Amid digital transformation, organizations are adopting innovative governance forms to complement or automate existing structures. This dissertation highlights the role of digital governance in facilitating digital exchange relationships within and among organizations. First, a typology of *digital governance* is introduced, comprising *analog, augmented*, and *automated* governance forms, each with distinct control, coordination, incentive, and trust mechanisms. Second, the dissertation explores blockchain technology as a key opportunity to implement digital governance within and among organizations, allowing trustless exchanges between actors, independence from costly intermediaries, and rule-based automation to reach consensus.

Within organizations, blockchains create direct information channels between principals and agents, impacting organizational structures in two ways. Vertical disintermediation streamlines structures, resulting in increased cognitive load due to growing information. By contrast, lateral reintermediation introduces new monitoring and incentive mechanisms but sacrifices flexibility for strict lateral sequencing.

Among organizations, founders face three pertinent blockchain governance trade-offs: (1) selecting the ideal combination of analog and automated governance mechanisms; (2) maintaining the delicate balance between exerting tight control versus driving network adoption, and; (3) weighing the inherent trade-off between rigidity and dynamism that can arise from deeply engrained founder imprints.

Overall, this research contributes to governance literature by defining digital governance as a distinct form, elucidating key mechanisms and trade-offs related to blockchains, and adding valuable insights for both academics and practitioners grappling with digital governance complexities. More broadly, this dissertation contributes to the discussion about digital transformation by shifting the focus from organizational processes and business models to digital governance.

ERIM

The Erasmus Research Institute of Management (ERIM) of Erasmus University Rotterdam (EUR) is one of the top management research centres in Europe. ERIM was founded in 1999 by the Rotterdam School of Management (RSM) and Erasmus School of Economics (ESE) to jointly nurture internationally recognised management research.

Research excellence is at the heart of ERIM: It runs EUR's PhD programmes in Business and Management, provides research support for faculty and PhD students, and maintains a solid research infrastructure. Over 450 senior researchers and PhD candidates participate in ERIM's research environment. Coming from myriad areas of expertise, the ERIM Community is constantly striving for excellence at the forefront of the academic world.

This PhD thesis is a result of ERIM's Part-Time PhD Programme in Business and Management. Over the course of 5 years, part-time PhD candidates conduct research against the highest academic standards on topics with real-world application value, undergo training under the supervision of distinguished academic experts, and participate in international conferences – thereby creating a significant contribution to EUR's mission to make a positive societal impact.

ERIM

Research in Business and Management ERIM Part-Time PhD Rotterdam School of Management

Erasmus Research Institute of Management Erasmus University Rotterdam Burgemeester Oudlaan 50 Mandeville (T) Building

3062 PA Rotterdam, The Netherlands

P.O. Box 1738 3000 DR Rotterdam, The Netherlands T: +31 10 408 1182 E: info@erim.eur.nl W: www.erim.eur.nl